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Dear Fellow Shareholders,

Thank you for your support and trust. We appreciate
the continuous feedback from our shareholder base.

At the core of ELS’s strategy is a commitment to quality.
We have built our organization focused on high-quality
team members, properties, cash flow and capital
allocation. The result of this shared focus is sustained
value for our residents, customers and shareholders alike.

Our team continues to strengthen and adjust to the
changing environment. We have more than 4,000 team
members dedicated to understanding and meeting the
needs of our residents and customers. We have
prioritized the safety of our team members and focused
on increasing team member satisfaction through
fostering engagement. Our teams have adapted and
evolved as protocols and the operating environment
have changed over the past two years.

Our properties are well located in areas where the
demographic trends create tailwinds for ELS. Over time,
we have focused our acquisition strategy on increasing our
concentration of assets in high-demand markets for the
baby boomer population. That strategy continues to bear
fruit as we see outsized demand and population growth
in our key operating states.

Our high-quality cash flows are reflected in our reported
results and historical trends. We have long focused on the
quality of cash flow in the form of annual rental streams.
Our long-term relationships with our customers in our
manufactured home communities, RV resorts, and
marinas are one of the hallmarks of our success. The
average tenure of our manufactured home residents is
approximately 10 years, while our RV annuals, seasonals
and members return to our RV resorts and campgrounds
for years, and in some cases, for generations. Our
properties are havens for second homeowners seeking a
reprieve from the harsh winters. In 2021, our Core income
from property operations increased by 9%. The occupancy
in our manufactured housing portfolio increased for the

12th consecutive year, and our Core RV income increased
13%. From a balance sheet perspective, our weighted
average maturity of over 10 years is almost double the
REIT average. Our dividend increased 6% in 2021 and
has increased an average of 11% over the last five years.

Our capital allocation execution is at the forefront of
our strategic plan. We consider the long-term view of each
asset as we evaluate potential acquisitions. Over the last
three decades, we built our portfolio with a focus on
long-term value creation. We deployed over $800 million
of capital this year, adding 5,600 RV sites and 4,000 marina
slips to the portfolio. We purchased development land
adjacent to certain of our existing properties and
continued to execute our long-term expansion plans.

Our newly acquired properties are high-quality assets
that complement our existing properties.

At ELS, sustainability is at the core of Our Nature through
Uniting People, Places & Purpose. Our communities,
campgrounds and marinas are places where customers
enjoy their time outdoors. We consider it a great
responsibility to own and operate lifestyle-oriented
properties among diverse landscapes and natural habitats
and to ensure our properties remain desirable destinations
for future generations. We have always focused on
improving the environment within our footprint and
will continue to focus on preserving the natural amenities
and biodiversity at our properties.

As demand continues to grow for our product offerings
our teams continue to deliver a high quality experience
and our customers and residents continue to enjoy the
Life in a Day at our properties.

Lofp Tyt i

Sam Zell
Chairman of the Board

Marguerite Nader
President and CEO
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PART 1
Item 1. Business

Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.
General

Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc. (“ELS”), a Maryland corporation, together with MHC Operating Limited Partnership
(the “Operating Partnership”) and its other consolidated subsidiaries (the “Subsidiaries”), are referred to herein as “we,” “us,”
and “our”. We are a fully integrated owner of lifestyle-oriented properties (“Properties”) consisting of property operations and
home sales and rental operations primarily within manufactured home (“MH”) and recreational vehicle (“RV”) communities
and marinas. We were formed in December 1992 to continue the property operations, business objectives and acquisition
strategies of an entity that had owned and operated Properties since 1969. Commencing with our taxable year ended
December 31, 1993, we have elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

We have a unique business model where we own the land which we lease to customers who own manufactured homes
and cottages, RVs and/or boats either on a long-term or short-term basis. Our customers may lease individual developed areas
(“Sites”) or enter into right-to-use contracts, also known as membership subscriptions, which provide them access to specific
Properties for limited stays. Compared to other types of real estate companies, our business model is characterized by low
maintenance costs and low customer turnover costs. Our portfolio is geographically diversified across highly desirable locations
near retirement and vacation destinations and urban areas across the United States. We have more than 110 Properties with lake,
river or ocean frontage and more than 120 Properties within 10 miles of the coastal United States. Our Properties generally
attract retirees, vacationing families, second homeowners and first-time homebuyers by providing a community experience and
a lower-cost home ownership alternative.

We are one of the nation's largest real estate networks with a portfolio of 444 Properties (including joint venture
Properties) consisting of 169,296 Sites located throughout 35 states in the U.S. and British Columbia in Canada as of December
31, 2021.




Our Properties are generally designed and improved for housing options of various sizes and layouts that are produced
off-site by third-party manufacturers, installed and set on designated Sites within the Properties. Manufactured homes and
cottages can range from approximately 400 to over 2,000 square feet. Properties may also have Sites that can accommodate
RVs of varying sizes. We also have marinas that offer boat slip and dry storage rentals. In addition to centralized entrances,
internal road systems and designated Sites, our Properties generally provide a clubhouse for social activities and recreation and
other amenities, which can include swimming pools, shuffleboard courts, tennis courts, pickleball courts, golf courses, lawn
bowling, restaurants, laundry facilities, cable television and internet service. Some Properties provide utilities, including water
and sewer service, through municipal or regulated utilities, while others provide these services to customers from on-site
facilities.

Human Capital Management

We recognize that our success is driven by our employees. We invest in our employees and are committed to developing
our employees’ skills and leadership abilities. As a result, we believe our employees are dedicated to building strong,
innovative and long-term relationships with each other and with our residents and guests.

We have an annual average of approximately 4,100 full-time, part-time and seasonal employees dedicated to carrying out
our operating philosophy while focusing on delivering an exceptional customer experience for our residents and guests. Our
property operations are managed internally by affiliates of the Operating Partnership and are coordinated by an on-site team of
employees that typically includes a manager, clerical staff and maintenance workers.

The on-site team at each Property is primarily responsible for providing maintenance and care to the property itself as
well as customer service and at times, coordinating lifestyle-oriented activities for our residents and guests. Direct supervision
of on-site management is the responsibility of our regional vice presidents and regional and district managers, who have
substantial experience addressing customer needs and creating innovative approaches to provide an exceptional experience for
residents and guests, which we believe also creates value for our stockholders, through focused and effective property
management. Complementing the field management staff are approximately 500 full-time employees in our home and regional
offices who assist in all functions related to the management of our Properties.

We are committed to attracting and retaining a diverse workforce and to providing a safe and inclusive environment
where our team members are encouraged to demonstrate their unique skill sets and bring a personal touch to their work. We are
committed to maintaining workplaces free from discrimination or harassment on the basis of color, race, sex, national origin,
ethnicity, religion, age, disability, sexual orientation, gender identification or expression or any other status protected by
applicable law. We value the many contributions of a diverse workforce and understand that diverse backgrounds bring diverse
perspectives, resulting in unique insights.

We provide equal employment opportunities to all persons, in accordance with the principles and requirements of the
Equal Employment Opportunities Commission and the principles and requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act. As
of December 31, 2021, more than 50% of our workforce self-identified as female and more than 50% of our management
positions are held by individuals self-identifying as female. To attract diverse applicants, we have partnered with third parties
and post openings to a wide variety of job boards. We also have an annual internship program designed to, among other things,
create a pipeline of qualified candidates for positions within the Company and to attract diverse candidates. We recognize the
importance of experienced leadership and as of December 31, 2021, the average tenure for the executive team was 16 years.
The average age of our team members is 49, with ages spanning multiple generations, similar to our residents and guests.

ELS is a place where talent is recognized and internal growth is promoted. Our employees are fairly compensated,
without regard to gender, race and ethnicity and routinely recognized for outstanding performance. Our compensation program
is designed to attract and retain talent. We continually assess and strive to enhance employee satisfaction and engagement. All
employees are supported with a strong training and development program and a well-rounded benefits plan to help them
maintain their health and financial well-being. Employees are offered flexibility to meet personal and family needs.

Whether we are working with customers or vendors, our actions are guided by a clear set of established principles. We
hold ourselves accountable for ethical business practices. All employees, management and our Board of Directors are expected
to act with honesty, integrity, fairness and respect. To support this culture, all team members receive annual compliance training
focused on compliant and ethical interactions with peers, residents, guests, vendors and others in our communities and offices.

Providing a safe and healthy work environment for our team members is a top priority and we empower them to take
ownership in this effort. Each employee is assigned a safety-related training curriculum tailored to their job responsibilities. All
employees are encouraged to report any conditions in their workplace that raise health or safety concerns without fear of
retaliation.



In addition to foundational safety and compliance training, team members participate in virtual and in-person learning
experiences including formal new employee and manager development programs, a “Knowledge Power Day” program
providing office-based employees an opportunity to be fully immersed in the day-to-day operations at our communities,
customer experience training focused on varying elements that support our values for property team members and diversity,
equity and inclusion programs to support the sense of belonging, awareness and connection at ELS. We encourage our
employees to take time away from work to focus on their physical and mental well-being and offer a comprehensive benefit
package that includes five mental health and well-being days, paid parental and paid family leave programs that exceed
minimum regulatory requirements and paid volunteer time off. In addition, we offer a competitive 401(k) plan that provides for
an employer match of up to 4% with 100% vesting of all contributions immediately upon eligibility and an Employee Stock
Purchase Plan providing a 15% discount for all eligible employees.

Our Formation

Our Properties are primarily owned by our Operating Partnership and managed internally by affiliates of our Operating
Partnership. We are the general partner of the Operating Partnership. We contributed the proceeds from our various equity
offerings, including our initial public offering, to the Operating Partnership. In exchange for these contributions, we received
units of common interests in the partnership (“OP Units”) equal to the number of shares of common stock that have been issued
in such equity offerings.

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Since certain activities, if performed by us,
may not be qualifying REIT activities under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), we have formed
taxable REIT subsidiaries (each, a “TRS”). Our primary TRS is Realty Systems, Inc. (“RSI”’) which, along with owning several
Properties, is engaged in the business of purchasing, selling and leasing factory-built homes located in Properties owned and
managed by us. RSI also offers home sale brokerage services to our residents who may choose to sell their homes rather than
relocate them when moving from a Property. Subsidiaries of RSI also operate ancillary activities at certain Properties, such as
golf courses, pro shops, stores and restaurants.

The financial results of the Operating Partnership and Subsidiaries are included in our consolidated financial statements,
which can be found beginning on page F-1 of this Form 10-K.

Operating Strategies

Our operating strategy is to own and operate the highest quality Properties in sought-after locations near retirement and
vacation destinations and urban areas across the United States. Through management of desirable Properties that provide an
exceptional customer experience, we create communities valued by residents and guests while delivering value for
stockholders.

We focus on Properties that have strong cash flows and plan to hold such Properties for long-term investment and capital
appreciation. In determining cash flow potential, we evaluate our ability to attract high quality customers to our Properties and
to retain customers who take pride in the Property and in their homes. Our operating, investment and financing initiatives
include:

»  Consistently providing high levels of services and amenities in attractive surroundings to foster a strong sense of
community and pride of home ownership;

* Efficiently managing the Properties to add value, grow occupancy, maintain competitive market rents and control
expenses;

e Incorporating environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) considerations into our business and ensuring
sustainability is embedded in our business operations;

*  Achieving growth and increasing property values through strategic expansion and, where appropriate, renovation of
the Properties;

« Utilizing technology to evaluate potential acquisitions, identify and track competing properties and monitor existing
and prospective customer satisfaction;

«  Selectively acquiring properties that offer opportunities for us to add value and enhance or create property
concentrations in and around retirement or vacation destinations and urban areas to capitalize on operating synergies;

+  Selectively acquiring parcels of land adjacent to our Properties that offer opportunities for us to expand our existing
communities with additional Sites;

+  Selecting joint venture partners that share business objectives, growth initiatives and risk profiles similar to ours;

*  Managing our capital structure in order to maintain financial flexibility, minimize exposure to interest rate fluctuations
and maintain an appropriate degree of leverage to maximize return on capital; and



+  Developing and maintaining relationships with various capital providers.

These initiatives and their implementation were determined by our management team and ratified by our Board of
Directors and may be subject to change or amendment at any time.

Acquisitions and Dispositions

We invest in properties in sought-after locations near retirement and vacation destinations and urban areas across the
United States with a focus on delivering value for residents and guests as well as stockholders. Over the last decade, we have
continued to increase the number of Properties in our portfolio (including joint venture Properties), from approximately 382
Properties with over 141,000 Sites to 444 Properties with over 169,200 Sites as of December 31, 2021. During the year ended
December 31, 2021, we acquired 17 Properties (five RV communities, eleven marinas, and a parcel of land occupied by a
portion of an RV community) with 6,774 Sites. We also acquired three land parcels adjacent to certain Properties consisting of
approximately 700 developable acres. We continually review the Properties in our portfolio to ensure we are delivering on our
business and customer service objectives. Over the last five years, we redeployed capital to Properties in markets we believe
have greater long-term potential and sold five all-age MH communities located in Indiana and Michigan that were not aligned
with our long-term goals.

We believe there continues to be opportunities for property acquisitions. Based on industry reports, we estimate there are
approximately 50,000 MH properties and approximately 8,000 RV properties (excluding government owned properties) in
North America and approximately 4,500 marinas in the U.S. Many of these properties are not operated by large owners/
operators and approximately 3,700 of the MH properties, 1,100 of the RV properties and 500 of the marinas contain 200 sites or
more. We believe this relatively high degree of fragmentation provides us the opportunity to purchase additional properties. We
also believe we have a competitive advantage in the acquisition of additional properties due to our experienced management,
significant presence in major real estate markets and access to capital resources. We utilize market information systems to
identify and evaluate acquisition opportunities, including the use of a market database to review the primary economic
indicators of the various locations in which we expect to expand our operations. We are actively seeking to acquire and are
engaged at any time in various stages of negotiations relating to the possible acquisition of additional properties, which may
include outstanding contracts to acquire properties that are subject to the satisfactory completion of our due diligence review.

Acquisitions will be financed from the most efficient available sources of capital, which may include undistributed Funds
from Operations (“FFO”), issuance of additional equity securities, including under our at-the-market (“ATM”) equity offering
program, sales of investments, collateralized and uncollateralized borrowings, including our existing line of credit and issuance
of debt securities. In addition, we have acquired and expect to acquire properties in transactions that include the issuance of OP
Units as consideration for the acquired properties. We believe that an acquisition structure that includes our Operating
Partnership has permitted and will permit us to acquire additional properties in transactions that may defer all or a portion of the
sellers' tax consequences.

When evaluating potential acquisitions, we consider, among others, the following factors:

e Current and projected cash flows of the property;

*  Geographic area and the type of property;

*  Replacement cost of the property, including land values, entitlements and zoning;

* Location, construction quality, condition and design of the property, including vacant land and its location relative to
one or more of our existing properties;

+ Potential for capital appreciation of the property;

*  Terms of tenant leases or usage rights;

e Climate risk;

*  REIT tax compliance;

*  Sellers' reputation;

*  Opportunity to enhance the customer experience and add value through management expertise;

*  Potential for economies of scale through property concentrations;

* Potential for economic growth and the tax and regulatory environment of the community in which the property is
located;

*  Potential for expansion, including increasing the number of Sites;

*  Occupancy and demand by customers for properties of a similar type in the vicinity;

*  Prospects for liquidity through sale, financing or refinancing of the property;

*  Competition from existing properties and the potential for the construction of new properties in the area; and

*  Working capital demands.



When evaluating potential dispositions, we consider, among others, the following factors:

e Whether the Property meets our current investment criteria;
*  Our desire to exit certain non-core markets and reallocate the capital into core markets; and
*  Our ability to sell the Property at a price that we believe will provide an appropriate return for our stockholders.

When investing capital, we consider all potential uses of the capital, including returning capital to our stockholders. Our
Board of Directors periodically reviews the conditions under which we may repurchase our stock. These conditions include, but
are not limited to, market price, balance sheet flexibility, other opportunities and capital requirements.

Property Expansions

Development - Current Portfolio. An integral part of our growth and investment strategy is to evaluate each Property for
expansion opportunities. Investment evaluation consists of reviewing the following: local market conditions, demographic
trends, zoning and entitlements, infrastructure requirements, financial feasibility, projected performance and property
operations. When justified, development of land available for expansion (“Expansion Sites”) allows us to leverage existing
facilities and amenities. We believe our ability to increase density translates to greater value creation and cash flows through
operational efficiencies. Overall, approximately 123 of our Properties and four land parcels have potential Expansion Sites,
offering approximately 6,500 available acres. Refer to Item 2. Properties, which includes detail regarding the developable acres
available at each property.

Acquisition - Expanding Portfolio. In selecting acquisition targets, we focus on properties with existing operations in
place and contiguous Expansion Sites. Underwriting a project with these features allows us to access the previously untapped
potential of such properties. For example, over the past three years, we have acquired 41 Properties, four non-operating ground
up development assets and 11 land parcels that contain approximately 1,500 acres for future expansion.

Sustainability Strategy

ELS’ commitment to sustainability embraces a holistic approach which aims to support our business model, minimize
our environmental impact, maintain a safe and healthy workplace and uphold a high standard of business ethics and conduct.
We understand the value of continuing to focus on sustainable practices and the highest standard of business ethics and
practices, as they are critical to our overall success and building long-term stakeholder value. With a dedicated Sustainability
team, we are committed to incorporating ESG principles into our business operations in collaboration with heads of
departments.

In 2019, we formed an Environmental, Social and Governance Taskforce (“ESG Taskforce”) to support our on-going
commitment to environmental, social, governance and other public policy matters relevant to us (collectively “ESG Matters”™).
Led by the sustainability team and overseen by our Chief Operating Officer, the ESG Taskforce is comprised of a cross-
functional team of employees from asset management, investor relations, compliance, communications, operations, marketing,
risk management, financial reporting, legal and human resources.

The ESG Taskforce reports on ESG Matters to the Compensation, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of
the Board of Directors and senior management. The Compensation, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is
responsible for the review of our ESG strategy, initiatives and policies. Additionally, the Audit Committee is responsible for the
discussion and review of policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management, including, but not limited to, human
rights and ESG risks.

At ELS, sustainability is at the core of Our Nature through Uniting People, Places & Purpose.

Our People. With a culture of recognition and reputation for excellence, our employees are empowered to take
ownership in their jobs and make a difference. ELS is a place where talent is recognized and internal growth is promoted,
making it an ideal organization in which to develop a long and successful career. We encourage our employees to take time
away from work to focus on their physical and mental well-being and offer a comprehensive benefit package including five
mental health and well-being days for employees, paid parental and paid family leave programs that exceed minimum
regulatory requirements and paid volunteer time off. All benefits eligible employees can take time off to volunteer at a
charitable organization of their choice. Employees are encouraged to use this time to make a difference in their communities.

Making a positive impact in the greater communities in which we operate not only helps us make a difference in the lives
of others, but also enhances our knowledge of and connection to the people and places we serve. Throughout our Properties
across North America, we work to create a comfortable and welcoming environment for everyone — residents, guests and
employees. Funded through the generosity of our employees and friends of ELS, ConsiderOthers is a 501(c)(3) non-profit



charity that provides financial and other assistance to our residents and employees. Our Making a Difference in Our
Communities initiative supports the generosity given in response to COVID-19. From creating care packages, to delivering hot
meals, to making face masks and more, we have seen so many examples of neighbors reaching out to help neighbors, working
together to help first responders and providing benefit to their greater communities. These acts of kindness enhance the bonds
our customers have with each other and to our communities. We are proud to help foster these efforts in our communities.

Our Places. Our Properties are located where our customers aspire to be — where they want to live, work and grow,
where they want to retire or raise their family and where they want to vacation and spend their valued leisure time. We consider
it a great responsibility to own and operate lifestyle-oriented properties among diverse landscapes and natural habitats and to
ensure our properties remain desirable destinations for future generations. We are committed to maintaining biodiversity across
our portfolio and operating assets that are connected to their local and natural environments. As a result, the consideration of
environmental factors has always been part of our culture in the daily operation of our business.

Through sustainable practices, we are taking action to use resources efficiently and reduce our impact on the
environment. We are committed to seeking opportunities to expand the use of renewable energy throughout our portfolio. Some
of our Properties have on-site solar systems that reduce our greenhouse gas emissions, reduce electricity expense and are a
valued amenity we can offer our guests through RV covered storage areas. We are investing in efficient, innovative and smart
technology and infrastructure to enhance resident relations, simplify operations and ensure regulatory compliance. We continue
to invest in our water and electric meter program to replace submeters with a real time automatic meter reading system to
monitor usage and proactively identify water leaks and wasted energy. We are consistently improving the quality of our
housing stock through the purchase of ENERGY STAR® certified homes, where available.

Our Purpose. It is of the utmost importance to us that we maintain the highest level of ethical standards in our processes,
customs and policies. Whether we are working with customers or vendors, our actions are guided by a clear set of established
principles. We hold ourselves accountable for ethical business practices. All facets of ELS, employees, management and our
Board of Directors, are expected to act with honesty, integrity, fairness and respect. We have an ESG policy to incorporate ESG
considerations into our business and a Human Rights and Labor Rights Statement that confirms our policies on the topics of
Fair Labor Practices, Child Labor, Forced Labor and Human Trafficking, Health and Safety, Diversity and Inclusion and
Ethical Conduct. To help employees report potential misconduct, we have a confidential multi-lingual Alertline for reporting
Ethics and Compliance concerns and a confidential hotline for all employees to report workplace health and safety concerns.

We have a stakeholder engagement approach that enables us to understand our stakeholders’ perceptions and concerns,
encourages regular dialogue and leverages industry frameworks to communicate our ESG impacts. Further information on our
sustainability strategy and ESG efforts can be found on our website at https://www.equitylifestyleproperties.com/sustainability.
The information on our internet site is not part of, nor incorporated into, this annual report on Form 10-K.

Leases or Usage Rights

At our Properties, a typical lease for the rental of a Site between us and the owner or renter of a home is month-to-month
or for a one-year term, renewable upon the consent of both parties or, in some instances, as provided by statute. These leases are
cancellable, depending on applicable law, for non-payment of rent, violation of Property rules and regulations or other specified
defaults. Long-term leases are in effect at approximately 15,010 Sites in 11 of our Properties. Some of these leases are subject
to rental rate increases based on the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”), in some instances allowing for pass-throughs of certain
items such as real estate taxes, utility expenses and capital expenditures. Generally, adjustments to our rental rates, if
appropriate, are made on an annual basis.

In Florida, which represents 38.3% of total sites and 44.0% of total property operating revenues, in connection with
offering a Site in a MH community for rent, the MH community owner must deliver to the prospective resident a prospectus
required by Florida Statutes Chapter 723.011, which must first be approved by the state's regulatory agency. The prospectus
contains certain required disclosures regarding the community, the rights and obligations of the MH community owner and
residents and a copy of the lease agreement. A prospectus may describe what factors the MH community owner can use to
justify a rental rate increase and may contain limitations on the rights of the MH community to increase rental rates. However,
in the absence of such limitations, the MH community owner may increase rental rates to market, subject to certain advance
notice requirements and a statutory requirement that the rental increase and rental rates be reasonable. See further discussion
below related to rent control legislation.

At Properties zoned for RV use, we have long-term relationships with many of our seasonal and transient residents and
guests, who typically enter into short-term rental agreements. Generally, these residents and guests cannot live full time on
these Properties for reasons including their seasonal nature. Many of them also leave deposits to reserve a Site for the following
year.



Properties operated under the Thousand Trails brand are primarily utilized to serve subscription members. Available
Sites within these Properties may also be utilized by non-members. A membership subscription grants the member access to
these Properties on a continuous basis of up to 14 days in exchange for an annual payment. In addition, members are eligible to
upgrade their subscriptions, which increase usage rights during the membership term. Each membership upgrade requires a
non-refundable upfront payment, for which we offer financing options to eligible members. Most of the subscription contracts
provide for an annual dues increase, usually based on increases in the CPI.

Regulations and Insurance

General. Our Properties are subject to a variety of laws, ordinances and regulations, including regulations relating to
recreational facilities such as swimming pools, clubhouses and other common areas, regulations relating to providing utility
services, such as electricity, and regulations relating to operating water and wastewater treatment facilities at certain Properties.
We believe that each Property has all material permits and approvals necessary to operate. We renew these permits and
approvals in the ordinary course of business.

Insurance. Our Properties are insured against risks that may cause property damage and business interruption, including
events such as fire, flood, earthquake, or windstorm. The relevant insurance policies contain deductible requirements, coverage
limits and particular exclusions. Our current property and casualty insurance policies with respect to our MH and RV
Properties, which we plan to renew, expire on April 1, 2022. We have a $125.0 million loss limit per occurrence with respect to
our MH and RV all-risk property insurance program including named windstorms. This loss limit is subject to additional sub-
limits as set forth in the policy form, including, among others, a $25.0 million aggregate loss limit for earthquakes in California.
The deductibles for this policy primarily range from a $500,000 minimum to 5.0% per unit of insurance for most catastrophic
events. For most catastrophic events, there is an additional one-time aggregate deductible of $2 million, which is capped at $1
million per occurrence. We have separate insurance policies with respect to our marina Properties. Those casualty policies,
which we recently renewed, expire on November 1, 2022 and the property insurance program, which we plan to renew, expires
on April 1, 2022 and has a minimum deductible of $100,000. A deductible indicates our maximum exposure, subject to policy
limits and sub-limits, in the event of a loss.

Rent Control Legislation. At certain Properties, state and local rent control laws dictate the structure of rent increases and
in some cases, outline the ability to recover the costs of capital improvements. Enactment of such laws has been considered at
various times in other jurisdictions. We presently expect to continue to maintain Properties and may purchase additional
properties in markets that are either subject to rent control or in which rent related legislation exists or may be enacted. For
example, Florida law requires that rental increases be reasonable and Delaware law requires rental increases greater than the
changes in the CPI to be justified. Also, certain jurisdictions in California in which we own Properties limit rent increases to
changes in the CPI or some percentage of the CPI. As part of our effort to realize the value of Properties subject to restrictive
regulations, we have initiated lawsuits at times against various municipalities imposing such regulations in an attempt to
balance the interests of our stockholders with the interests of our residents and guests.

Membership Properties. Many states also have consumer protection laws regulating right-to-use or campground
membership sales and the financing of such sales. Some states have laws requiring us to register with a state agency and obtain
a permit to market (see Item 1A. Risk Factors). At certain Properties primarily used as membership campgrounds, state statutes
limit our ability to close a Property unless a reasonable substitute Property is made available for members to use.

Industry

We believe that demand for manufactured housing, RV communities and marinas will continue to outpace supply in the
near future. We expect much of this demand will continue to come from baby boomers, who may seek an active RV lifestyle or
a permanent retirement or vacation establishment. In addition, we expect the exposure to Generation X, Millennials and Gen Z
will contribute to the demand, as these groups focus on affordability, prefer housing quality over size and pursue unique
experiences. We believe that our Properties and our business model provide an attractive destination for customers as they seek
value in their housing and recreational options. Positive trends in categories such as customer demographics, the quality of
manufactured housing construction and limited property supply, among others, fuel our belief that our Properties are well
positioned for the future:

*  Barriers to Entry: We believe that the supply of new properties in locations we target will be constrained by barriers to
entry. While we have seen a modest increase in ground-up development, primarily of RV properties, the most
significant barrier continues to be the difficulty of securing zoning permits from local authorities. This has been the
result of (i) the public perception of manufactured housing and (ii) the fact that MH and RV communities generate less
tax revenue than conventional housing properties because the homes are treated as personal property (a benefit to the



homeowner) rather than real property. Further, the length of time between investment in a property's development and
the attainment of stabilized occupancy and the generation of profit is significant. The initial development of the
infrastructure may take up to three years and once a property is ready for occupancy, it may be difficult to attract
customers to an empty property.

Customer Base: We believe that properties tend to achieve and maintain a stable rate of occupancy due to the
following factors: (i) customers typically own their own homes, (ii) properties tend to foster a sense of community as a
result of amenities, such as clubhouses and recreational and social activities, (iii) customers often sell their homes in-
place (similar to site-built residential housing), resulting in no interruption of rental payments to us and (iv) moving a
factory-built home from one property to another involves substantial cost and effort.

Lifestyle Choice: There are currently over 1 million RV camp sites in privately owned RV parks and campgrounds in
the United States per the National Association of RV Parks and Campgrounds (“ARVC”). According to the
Recreational Vehicle Industry Association (the “RVIA”) in 2021, RV ownership has reached record levels. More than
11.2 million households now own an RV, a 26% increase since 2011 and a 62% increase since 2001. RV ownership is
split almost equally between those over and under the age of 55, with significant growth among 18 to 34 year-olds,
who now make up 22% of the market. The 73 million people born in the United States from 1946 to 1964, or “baby
boomers,” make up one of the largest and fastest growing segments in this market. According to the RVIA, data
suggested that RV sales are expected to benefit from an increase in demand from those born in the United States from
1980 to 2003, or millennials and Gen Z, over the coming years. The study showed that both age groups are becoming
RVers for life with 84% of 18-to-34-year-olds planning to buy another RV in the next 5 years. The consumers most
likely to purchase RVs, according to a study conducted with Nielsen in 2016 by Go RVing, a coalition of RV industry
trade groups, are families searching for adventures, individuals looking for locations with natural beauty and
opportunities for outdoor sports and recreation and kid-free adult adventurers enjoying the freedom, convenience and
low-cost options of RVs. Ownership is spread widely not only across age levels but also across genders, as well as
household income and education. According to “The 2021 North American Camping Report”, the use of RVs as a
primary camping accommodation by campers increased 14.7% from 2019 to 2020.

According to the U.S. Census Bureau in 2019, every day 10,000 Americans turn 65 years old and all baby boomers
will be at least age 65 by 2030. We believe that this population segment, seeking an active lifestyle, will provide
opportunities for our future growth. As RV owners age and move beyond the more active RV lifestyle, they will often
seek permanent retirement or vacation establishments. Manufactured homes and cottages have become an increasingly
popular housing alternative. According to 2018 U.S. Census Bureau National Population Projections figures, the
population of people ages 55 and older is expected to grow 17% within the next 15 years.

We believe that the housing choices in our Properties are especially attractive to such individuals throughout this
lifestyle cycle. Our Properties offer an appealing amenity package, close proximity to local services, social activities,
low maintenance and a secure environment. In fact, many of our Properties allow for this cycle to occur within a single
Property.

The National Marine Manufacturers Association (“NMMA”) released its 2020 U.S. Recreational Boating Statistical
Abstract in June 2021. In a record year for the boating industry, 2020’s total recreational marine expenditures reached
a high of $49.4 billion, a 14.2% increase over 2019. NMMA’s data show 415,000 first-time boat buyers entered the
market in 2020.

The U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis (“BEA”) published figures confirming that the level of demand for
recreational marine purchases has continued in 2021, with boat spending almost 50% higher than before the pandemic.
According to the BEA, boating and fishing represent the largest outdoor recreation activities in the U.S., with $23.6
billion in current-dollar value added to the economy.

Construction Quality: The Department of Housing and Urban Development's (“HUD”) standards for manufactured
housing construction quality are the only federal standards governing housing quality of any type in the United States.
Manufactured homes produced since 1976 have received a “red and silver” government seal certifying that they were
built in compliance with the federal code. The code regulates manufactured home design and construction, strength
and durability, fire resistance and energy efficiency and the installation and performance of heating, plumbing, air
conditioning, thermal and electrical systems. In newer homes, top grade lumber and dry wall materials are common.
Also, manufacturers are required to follow the same fire codes as builders of site-built structures. In 1994, following
the devastation left by Hurricane Andrew, HUD introduced regulations that established different wind zones across the
country. As a result, any homes set in place since 1994 must be able to withstand wind speeds of 70 miles per hour in
Zone 1, 100 miles per hour in Zone 2 and 110 miles per hour in Zone 3. While most of the United States is designated
wind Zone 1, areas most likely to be impacted by hurricanes are either Zone 2 or Zone 3.



Although construction of cottages, which are generally smaller homes, do not come under the same HUD regulations,
they are built and certified in accordance with National Fire Protection Association (“NFPA”) 1192-15 and American
National Standards Institute (“ANSI”) A119.5 consensus standards for park model recreational vehicles and have
many of the same quality features. The RVIA operates a safety standards and inspection program that requires member
manufacturers of all recreation vehicles, including park model RVs, to certify that each unit built complies with the
requirements of the applicable standards.

*  Comparability to Site-Built Homes: Since inception, the manufactured housing industry has experienced a trend
toward multi-section homes. The average current manufactured homes are approximately 1,471 square feet. Many
such homes have nine-foot or vaulted ceilings, fireplaces and as many as four bedrooms and closely resemble single-
family ranch-style site-built homes at a fraction of the price. At our Properties, there is an active resale or rental market
for these larger homes. According to the 2020 U.S. Census American Community Survey, manufactured homes
represent 7.5% of single-family housing units.

*  Second Home and Vacation Home Demographics: The National Association of Realtors (“NAR”) recently released
their 2021 Vacation Home Counties Report, which indicated that vacation home sales have been surging throughout
the pandemic. In 2020, vacation home sales rose by 16.4%, outpacing the 5.6% growth in total existing-home sales.
Vacation home sales have continued to pick up during January-April 2021, rising by 57.2% year-over-year, more than
twice the 20% growth in total existing-home sales during the same period. The median existing home sales price on
average rose by 14.2% in vacation home counties, compared to 10.1% in non-vacation home counties. The share of
vacation home sales to total existing-home sales increased to 6.7% in the first four months of 2021, up from a 5%
share in 2019. According to the NAR, the surge in the demand for vacation homes has occurred during the pandemic
when people have been able to work from home, students are schooled virtually, people are taking safety precautions
and staying away from crowded areas and with urban-based recreation limited by social distancing regulations.

In 2020, the number of recent home buyers who own more than one home was 17%, up from 16% in 2019, according
to NAR. NAR reports that owning more than one property was most common for buyers aged 65 years and older at
22%. Additionally, NAR reports that of second homebuyers from October 2015 through September 2020, 39%
purchased in resort areas, 16% purchased in small towns and 15% purchased in rural areas. Looking ahead, we expect
continued strong demand from baby boomers and Generation X. We believe these individuals will continue to drive
the market for second-home sales as vacation properties, investment opportunities, or retirement retreats. We believe it
is likely that over the next decade we will continue to see high levels of second-home sales and that manufactured
homes and cottages in our Properties will continue to provide a viable second-home alternative to site-built homes.

Notwithstanding our belief that the industry information highlighted above provides us with significant long-term growth
opportunities, our short-term growth opportunities could be disrupted by the following:

*  Shipments: According to statistics compiled by the U.S. Census Bureau, manufactured home shipments to dealers in
2021 appeared to be the highest MH shipment year since 2006. According to the RVIA, wholesale shipments of RVs
increased significantly by 39.5% in 2021 to approximately 600,240 units as compared to 2020, providing the highest
annual shipment total on record. The 2021 shipment total surpassed the previous record set in 2017 of 504,600
shipments by 19%. The shipment numbers for 2021 reflect increasing consumer interest in RVing and the growth in
consumer demand to purchase RVs.
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e Sales: Retail sales of RVs totaled approximately 512,673 in 2021, a 7.6% increase from 2020 RV sales of 476,401 and
a 23.4% increase from 2019 RV sales of 415,325. We believe consumers viewed RVs as a safe way to enjoy an active
outdoor lifestyle, travel and see the country. The enduring appeal of the RV lifestyle has translated into continued
strength in RV sales, as 2021 is the highest sales year for the industry. RV sales could continue to benefit from the
increased demand from the baby boomers and Millennials. Financing options are also available as RV dealers typically
have relationships with third-party lenders, who provide financing for the purchase of a RV.

*  Availability of financing: Although RV financing is readily available, the economic and legislative environment has
generally made it difficult for buyers of both manufactured homes and RVs to obtain financing. Legislation enacted in
2008 and effective in 2010, known as the SAFE Act (Secure and Fair Enforcement for Mortgage Licensing Act)
requires community owners interested in providing financing to buyers of manufactured homes to register as mortgage
loan originators in states where they engage in such financing. In comparison to financing available to buyers of site-
built homes, the few third-party financing sources available to buyers of manufactured homes offer financing with
higher down payments, higher rates and shorter maturities and loan approval is subject to more stringent underwriting
criteria. In 2013, we entered into a joint venture, ECHO Financing, LLC, to buy and sell homes and purchase loans
made by an unaffiliated lender to residents at our Properties. See Item 1A. Risk Factors and consolidated financial
statements and related notes beginning on page F-1 of this Form 10-K for more detailed information.

Under the existing administration, the Federal Housing Finance Agency (the “FHFA”), overseer of Fannie Mae,
Freddie Mac (the “GSEs”) and the Federal Home Loan Banks, has focused on equitable access to affordable and
sustainable housing. In 2017, the FHFA published the Underserved Markets Plans for 2018-2020 (the “GSE Plans™)
under the Duty-To-Serve (“DTS”) provisions mandated by the Federal Housing Enterprises Financial Safety and
Soundness Act of 1992, as amended by the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008. The GSEs subsequently
added a 2021 Plan as a one-year extension and have since submitted their current 2022-2024 Plans to FHFA and have
received comment.

The FHFA mandate requires the GSE Plans to address leadership in developing loan products and flexible
underwriting guidelines in underserved markets to facilitate a secondary market for mortgages on manufactured homes
titled as real property or personal property, blanket loans for certain categories of manufactured housing communities,
preserving the affordability of housing for renters and homebuyers, and housing in rural markets.
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While the FHFA and the current GSE 2022-24 DTS Plans may have a positive impact on the ability of our customers
to obtain chattel financing, the actual impact on us, as well as the industry, cannot be determined at this time.

Available Information

We file reports electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The SEC maintains a website that
contains reports, proxy information and statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC
at http://www.sec.gov. We also maintain a website with information about us as well as our press releases, investor
presentations and filings with the SEC at http://www.equitylifestyleproperties.com, which can be accessed free of charge. We
intend to post material on our website from time to time that contains material non-public information. The posting of such
information is intended to comply with our disclosure requirements under Regulation Fair Disclosure. Accordingly, in addition
to following our SEC filings and public conference calls, we encourage investors, the media and others interested in us to
review the business and financial information we post on our website. The information contained on our website, or available
by hyperlink from our website, is not incorporated into this Form 10-K or other documents we file with, or furnish to, the SEC.
Requests for copies of our filings with the SEC and other investor inquiries should be directed to:

Investor Relations Department

Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.

Two North Riverside Plaza

Chicago, Illinois 60606

Phone: 1-800-247-5279

e-mail: investor relations@equitylifestyle.com
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

The following risk factors could cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in forward-
looking statements made in this Form 10-K and presented elsewhere by our management from time to time. These risk factors
may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows. Additional risks and
uncertainties not presently known to us or that are currently not believed to be material may also affect our actual results.

Risks Relating to Our Operations and Real Estate Investments
The Economic Performance and Value of Our Properties Are Subject to Risks Associated with the Real Estate Industry.

The economic performance and value of our Properties could be adversely affected by various factors, many of which
are outside of our control. These factors include but are not limited to the following:

* changes in the national, regional and/or local economies;

» the attractiveness of our Properties to customers, competition from other MH and RV communities and lifestyle-
oriented properties and marinas and alternative forms of housing (such as apartment buildings and site-built single-
family homes);

« the ability of MH, RV and boat manufacturers to adapt to changes in the economy and the availability of units from
these manufacturers;

« the ability of our potential customers to sell or lease their existing residences in order to purchase homes or cottages at
our Properties and heightened price sensitivity for seasonal and second homebuyers;

« the ability of our potential customers to obtain financing on the purchase of manufactured homes and cottages, RVs
and/or boats;

«  our ability to attract new customers and retain them for our membership subscriptions and upgrade sales business;

e our ability to collect payments from customers and pay or control operating costs, including real estate taxes and
insurance;

« the ability of our assets to generate income sufficient to pay our expenses, service our debt and maintain our
Properties;

*  our ability to diversify, reconfigure our portfolio promptly in response to changing economic or other conditions and
sell our Properties timely due to the illiquid nature of real estate investments;

* unfavorable weather conditions, especially on holiday weekends in the spring and summer months, which are peak
business periods for our transient customers;

* changes in climate and the occurrence of natural disasters or catastrophic events, including acts of war and terrorist
attacks;

* fluctuations in the exchange rate of the U.S. dollar to other currencies, primarily the Canadian dollar due to Canadian
customers, who frequently visit our southern Properties;

« changes in U.S. social, economic and political conditions, laws and governmental regulations, including policies
governing rent control, fair and equitable access to housing, property zoning, taxation, minimum wages, chattel
financing, health care, foreign trade, regulatory compliance, manufacturing, development and investment;

* an inflationary environment in which the costs to operate and maintain our communities increase at a rate greater than
our ability to increase rents;

» fiscal policies, instability or inaction at the U.S. federal government level, which may lead to federal government
shutdowns or negative impacts on the U.S. economy; and

e COVID-19, or other highly infectious or contagious diseases, which has had and could continue to have an adverse
effect on our business.

Changes in or the occurrence of any of these factors could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations,
market price of our common stock and our ability to make expected distributions to our stockholders or result in claims,
including, but not limited to, foreclosure by a lender in the event of our inability to service our debt.

Economic Downturn in Markets with a Large Concentration of Our Properties May Adversely Affect Our Financial Condition,
Results of Operations, Cash Flows and Ability to Make Distributions.

Our success is dependent upon economic conditions in the U.S. generally and in the geographic areas where a substantial
number of our Properties are located. As we have a large concentration of properties in certain markets, most notably Florida,
California and Arizona, which comprise 44.0%, 12.7% and 9.4%, respectively, of our total property operating revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2021, adverse market and economic conditions in these areas could significantly affect factors, such
as occupancy and rental rates and could have a significant impact on our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows
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and ability to make distributions. Furthermore, stay-at-home orders and travel restrictions could adversely impact the ability of
our customers to visit our Properties. In a recession or under other adverse economic conditions, non-earning assets and write-
downs are likely to increase as debtors fail to meet their payment obligations. Although we maintain reserves for credit losses in
amounts that we believe are sufficient to provide adequate protection against potential write-downs in our portfolio, these
amounts could prove to be insufficient.

Certain of Our Properties, Primarily Our RV Communities and Marinas, are Subject to Seasonality and Cyclicality.

Some of our RV communities and marinas are used primarily by vacationers and campers. These Properties experience
seasonal demand, which generally increases in the spring and summer months and decreases in the fall and winter months. As
such, results for a certain quarter may not be indicative of the results of future quarters. In addition, since our RV communities
and marinas are primarily used by vacationers and campers, economic cyclicality resulting in a downturn that affects
discretionary spending and disposable income for leisure-time activities could adversely affect our cash flows.

Our Properties May Not Be Readily Adaptable to Other Uses.

Properties in our portfolio, including marinas and certain RV communities, are specific-use properties and may contain
features or assets that have limited alternative uses. These Properties may also have distinct operational functions that involve
specific procedures and training. If the operations of any of our Properties become unprofitable due to industry competition,
operational execution or otherwise, then it may not be feasible to operate the Property for another use and the value of certain
features or assets used at the Property, or the Property itself, may be impaired. Should any of these events occur, our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows could be adversely impacted.

Competition for Acquisitions May Result in Increased Prices for Properties and Associated Costs and Increased Costs of
Financing.

Other real estate investors with significant capital may compete with us for attractive investment opportunities. Such
competition could increase prices for Properties and result in increased fixed costs, including real estate taxes. To the extent we
are unable to effectively compete or acquire properties on favorable terms, our ability to expand our business could be
adversely affected.

New Acquisitions May Fail to Perform as Expected and the Intended Benefits May Not Be Realized, Which Could Have a
Negative Impact on Our Operations and the Market Price of Our Common Stock.

We may continue to acquire Properties. However, newly acquired Properties may fail to perform as expected and could
pose risks for our ongoing operations including the following:

* integration may prove costly or time-consuming and may divert our attention from the management of daily
operations;

e we may be unable to access capital or we may encounter difficulties, such as increases in financing costs;

+ we may incur costs and expenses associated with any undisclosed or potential liabilities;

* we may experience a real estate tax re-assessment imposed by local governmental authorities that may result in higher
real estate taxes than anticipated,

» unforeseen difficulties may arise in integrating an acquisition into our portfolio;

*  expected synergies may not materialize; and

* we may acquire properties in new markets where we face risks associated with lack of market knowledge such as
understanding of the local economy, the local governmental and/or local permit procedures.

As a result of the foregoing, we may not accurately estimate or identify all costs necessary to bring an acquired Property
up to standards established for our intended market position. As such, we cannot provide assurance that any acquisition we
make will be accretive to us in the near term or at all. Furthermore, if we fail to realize the intended benefits of an acquisition,
the market price of our common stock could decline to the extent that the market price reflects those benefits.

Development and Expansion Properties May Fail to Perform as Expected and the Intended Benefits May Not Be Realized,
Which Could Have a Negative Impact on Our Operations and the Market Price of Our Common Stock.

We may periodically consider development and expansion activities, which are subject to risks such as construction costs
exceeding original estimates and construction and lease-up delays resulting in increased construction costs and lower than
expected revenues. The construction and building industry, similar to many other industries, is experiencing worldwide supply
chain disruptions due to a multitude of factors that are beyond our control. As a result, we may be unable to complete our
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development or redevelopment projects timely and/or within our budget, which may affect our ability to lease to potential
customers and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. To the extent we engage third-party
contractors to complete development or expansion activities, there is no guarantee that they can complete these activities on
time and in accordance with our plans and specifications. We may also be unable to obtain necessary entitlements and required
governmental permits that could result in increased costs or the delay or abandonment of these activities. Additionally, there
can be no assurance that these properties will operate better as a result of development or expansion activities due to various
factors, including lower than anticipated occupancy and rental rates causing a property to be unprofitable or less profitable than
originally estimated.

We Regularly Expend Capital to Maintain, Repair and Renovate Our Properties, Which Could Negatively Impact Our
Financial Condition, Results of Operations and Cash Flows.

We may, or we may be required to, from time to time make significant capital expenditures to maintain or enhance the
competitiveness of our Properties, including infrastructure improvements. In addition, as most of our residents own their homes
located in our Properties, the replacement, repairs and refurbishment of these homes may not be within our control. If our
Properties are not as attractive to current and prospective customers as compared to the properties owned by our competitors,
we could lose customers or suffer lower rental rates. However, there is no assurance that any capital expenditure would result in
higher occupancy or higher rental rates. In addition, the price of commodities and skilled labor for our construction projects
may increase unpredictably due to external factors, including supply chain disruptions. It is uncertain whether we would be able
to source the essential commodities, supplies, materials, and skilled labor timely or at all without incurring significant costs or
delays, particularly during times of economic uncertainty resulting from events outside of our control, including, but not limited
to, the effects of COVID-19. To the extent that the expenditures exceed our available cash, we may need to secure new
financing.

Our Ability to Renew Ground Leases Could Adversely Affect Our Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

We own the buildings and leasehold improvements at certain Properties that are subject to long-term ground leases. For
various reasons, landowners may not want to renew the ground lease agreements with similar terms and conditions, if at all,
which could adversely impact our ability to operate these Properties and generate revenues. We have 14 Properties in our
portfolio subject to ground lease agreements for land, which we do not own. Four of the 14 Properties, which generated
approximately $6.0 million of income from operations for the year ended December 31, 2021, are subject to ground lease
agreements with a final expiration date before 2023. See Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Note 16.
Commitment and Contingencies.

Our Ability to Sell or Rent Manufactured Homes Could Be Impaired, Resulting in Reduced Cash Flows.

Selling and renting homes is a primary part of our business. Our ability to sell or rent manufactured homes could be
adversely affected by any of the following factors:

+ disruptions in the single-family housing market;

* local conditions, such as an oversupply of lifestyle-oriented properties or a reduction in demand for lifestyle-oriented
properties;

* increased costs to acquire homes;

e our ability to obtain an adequate supply of homes at reasonable costs from MH suppliers;

+ our ability to acquire or develop existing land suitable for home building;

» the ability of customers to obtain affordable financing; and

* demographics, such as the retirement of “baby boomers” and their demand for access to our lifestyle-oriented
Properties.

Regulation of Chattel Financing May Affect Our Ability to Sell Homes.

Since 2010, the regulatory environment has made it difficult for purchasers of manufactured homes and RVs to obtain
financing. The Secure and Fair Enforcement for Mortgage Licensing Act requires community owners interested in providing
financing for customer purchases of manufactured homes to register as mortgage loan originators in states where they engage in
such financing. In addition, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act amended the Truth in Lending
Act and other consumer protection laws by adding requirements for residential mortgage loans, including limitations on
mortgage origination activities, restrictions on high-cost mortgages and new standards for appraisals. The law also requires
lenders to make a reasonable investigation into a borrower's ability to repay a loan. These requirements make it more difficult
for homeowners to obtain affordable financing to obtain loans to purchase manufactured housing or RVs. Homeowners' ability
to obtain affordable financing could affect our ability to sell homes.
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Our Investments in Joint Ventures Could Be Adversely Affected by Our Lack of Sole Decision-Making Authority Regarding
Major Decisions, Our Reliance on Our Joint Venture Partners' Financial Condition, Any Disputes That May Arise Between Us
and Our Joint Venture Partners and Our Exposure to Potential Losses From the Actions of Our Joint Venture Partners.

We have joint ventures with other investors. We currently and may continue to acquire properties or make investments in
joint ventures with other persons or entities when we believe circumstances warrant the use of such structures. Joint venture
investments involve risks not present with respect to our wholly owned Properties, including the following:

«  Our joint venture partners may experience financial distress, become bankrupt or fail to fund their share of required
capital contributions due to adverse economic conditions, which could delay construction or development of a
property, increase our financial commitment to the joint venture or adversely impact the ongoing operations of the
joint venture;

*  Our joint venture partners may have business interests or goals with respect to a property that conflict with our
business interests and goals, which could increase the likelihood of disputes regarding the ownership, management or
disposition of the property and

*  We may be unable to take actions that are opposed by our joint venture partners under arrangements that require us to
share decision-making authority over major decisions affecting the ownership or operation of the joint venture and any
property owned by the joint venture, such as the sale or financing of the property or the making of additional capital
contributions for the benefit of the venture.

At times we have entered into agreements providing for joint and several liability with our partners. Frequently, we and
our partners may each have the right to trigger a buy-sell arrangement, which could cause us to sell our interest, or acquire our
partners' interest, at a time when we otherwise would not have initiated such a transaction. Any of these risks could materially
and adversely affect our ability to generate and recognize attractive returns on our joint venture investments, which could have
a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and distributions to our stockholders.

There is a Risk of Accidents, Injuries or Outbreaks Occurring at Our Properties Which May Negatively Impact Our Operations.

While we maintain and promote safety at our Properties, there are inherent risks associated with certain features, assets
and activities at our communities. An accident, injury or outbreak at any of our communities, particularly an accident, injury or
outbreak involving the safety of residents, guests and employees, may be associated with claims against us involving higher
assertions of damages and/or higher public visibility. The occurrence of an accident, injury or outbreak at any of our
communities could also cause damage to our brand or reputation, lead to loss of consumer confidence in us, reduce occupancy
at our communities and negatively impact our results of operations.

Our Success Depends, in Part, on Our Ability to Attract and Retain Talented Employees.

Our ability to attract, retain and motivate talented employees could significantly impact our future performance.
Competition for these individuals is intense and there is no assurance that we will retain our key officers and employees or that
we will be able to attract and retain other highly qualified individuals in the future.

Our Business Operations are Dependent on the Effective Operation of Technology.

We rely on software and computer systems to process and store information required for our business operations.
Additionally, with the outbreak of COVID-19, certain of our corporate and regional staff have been regularly working remotely,
further increasing our dependence on technology to complete our business processes. Any disruption to these systems or to
third-party vendors that maintain these systems could adversely affect our business operations. While we maintain and require
our vendors to maintain appropriate back-up copies of our information, transitioning to a new system or vendor can be time-
consuming and disruptive. Additionally, it is important for us to explore and evolve with new developments in technology to
stay competitive. For example, our consumers rely on our technology platforms to make reservations; and therefore, these user
interfaces must be understandable and easy to use. It may require investment of both time and expense to implement a new
system or upgrade our existing technology. Interruptions to any of the above could lead to lost revenues, interruptions in our
business operations and damage to our business reputation.

The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely impacted us and COVID-19, or the future outbreak of other highly infectious or
contagious diseases, could materially and adversely impact or disrupt our business, including our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.

COVID-19 has had and another pandemic could have, significant repercussions across regional, national and global
economies and financial markets and has and could continue to trigger periods of regional, national and global economic
slowdown or recessions. Many U.S. cities and states, including cities and states where our offices and properties are located,
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have implemented measures to combat COVID-19, including quarantines, shelter-in-place and stay-at-home orders, social
distancing requirements and restrictions on travel and the types of business that may continue to operate. Although vaccines for
COVID-19 have been developed and administered, we can provide no assurance as to their widespread adoption and continued
efficacy against any new variants at levels sufficient to address the COVID-19 pandemic, or that there will not be lasting
changes in consumer behavior as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic that may impact our business. See “Item 7. Management
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - COVID-19 Pandemic Update.”

The effects of COVID-19 have had and could continue to have, or another pandemic could have, an adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, which impact could be material, due to, among other factors:

*  Weaknesses in national, regional or local economies may prevent our residents and customers from paying rent in full
or on a timely basis. Federal, state, local and industry-initiated efforts, including eviction moratoriums, have affected
and may continue to affect our ability to collect rent or enforce remedies for the failure to pay rent. These efforts could
lead to an increase in our recognition of credit losses related to our rent receivables. In addition, a reduction in the
ability or willingness of prospective customers to visit our properties could impact our ability to lease Sites and sell
manufactured homes and may result in lower rental income and ancillary operating revenues produced by our
Properties.

*  The seasonal and transient customers that vacation and camp at our Properties, including our RV communities and
marinas, may be less likely to visit if they have less disposable income for leisure-time activities, or are unable to visit
due to health concerns or travel restrictions, including cross-border restrictions from Canada, which have caused and
could continue to cause cancellation of existing reservations and reduced transient rental income.

e A general decline in business activity and discretionary spending could result in fewer customers purchasing
membership subscriptions, or existing customers purchasing fewer membership upgrades or failing to pay annual
subscription fees or installments on financed upgrade sales.

*  This could lead to an impairment of our real estate investments. In addition, we may be unable to complete planned
development of land for expansion or other capital improvement projects on a timely basis or at all due an inability by
our third-party contractors to continue to work on construction projects.

«  The financial impact of COVID-19 or other future pandemics, could negatively impact our ability to comply with
financial covenants in our credit arrangements and result in a default and potentially an acceleration of indebtedness,
which non-compliance could negatively impact our ability to make additional borrowings under our credit facilities.

* A severe disruption and instability in the global financial markets or a deterioration in credit and financing conditions
may affect our ability to access capital necessary to fund business operations, including the acquisition or expansion of
properties, or replace or renew maturing liabilities on a timely basis, on attractive terms, or at all and may adversely
affect the valuation of financial assets and liabilities.

*  Supply chain disruptions could adversely affect our ability to obtain materials and skilled labor timely without
incurring significant costs or delays for any development and expansion activities.

e COVID-19 or another future pandemic, could negatively affect the health, availability and productivity of our current
personnel. An outbreak of COVID-19 or other future pandemic, that directly affects, or threatens to directly affect, any
of our properties could also deter or prevent our on-site personnel from reporting to work. The effects of shelter-in-
place and stay-at-home orders, including remote work arrangements for an extended period of time, could strain our
business continuity plans, introduce operational risk, including but not limited to cybersecurity risks, and impair our
ability to manage our business. Further, we have and may continue to implement mitigation and other measures to
support and protect our employees, which could result in increased labor costs.

*  There has been a dramatic increase in workers leaving their positions generally and in the real estate industry that is
being referred to as the “great resignation,” and the market to build, retain and replace talent has become even more
highly competitive. In this period of the “great resignation,” we have and may continue to face higher employee
turnover rates. This may strain our ability to keep our properties fully staffed and negatively impact employee and
customer satisfaction.

The rapid development and fluidity of the circumstances resulting from COVID-19 precludes any prediction as to the
ultimate adverse impact of COVID-19. Nevertheless, COVID-19 or other future pandemics and the current financial, economic
and capital markets environment and future developments in these and other areas present material uncertainty and risk with
respect to our performance, financial condition, volume of business, results of operations and cash flows, which could adversely
affect our ability to make distributions.
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Risks Relating to Governmental Regulation and Potential Litigation

Changes to Federal and State Laws and Regulations Could Adversely Affect Our Operations and the Market Price of Our
Common Stock.

Our business operations are subject to certain federal and state laws and regulations including but not limited to the
following:

*  Rent Control Legislation

Certain of our Properties are subject to state and local rent control regulations that dictate rent increases and our ability to
recover increases in operating expenses and the costs of capital improvements. In addition, in certain jurisdictions, such
regulations allow residents to sell their homes for a price that includes a premium above the intrinsic value of the homes. The
premium represents the value of the future discounted rent-controlled rents, which is fully capitalized into the prices of the
homes sold. In our view, such regulations result in a transfer to the residents of the value of our land, which would otherwise be
reflected in market rents. As part of our effort to realize the value of Properties subject to restrictive regulation, we have
initiated lawsuits at various times against various municipalities imposing such regulations in an attempt to balance the interests
of our stockholders with the interests of our customers. In addition, we operate certain of our Properties and may acquire
additional properties, in high cost markets where the demand for affordable housing may result in the adoption of new rent
control legislation that may impact rent increases.

We also own Properties in certain areas of the country where rental rates at our Properties have not increased as fast as
real estate values either because of locally imposed rent control or long term leases. In such areas, certain local government
entities have at times investigated the possibility of seeking to take our Properties by eminent domain at values below the value
of the underlying land. While no such eminent domain proceeding has been commenced and we anticipate exercising all of our
rights in connection with any such proceeding, successful condemnation proceedings by municipalities could adversely affect
our financial condition.

Resident groups have previously filed lawsuits against us seeking to limit rent increases and/or seeking large damage
awards for our alleged failure to properly maintain certain Properties or other resident related matters. An adverse finding
against us in any such proceeding could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and
distributions to our stockholders.

e Occupational, Safety and Health Act

Our Properties are subject to regulation under the federal Occupational, Safety and Health Act (“OSHA”), which
requires employers to provide employees with an environment free from hazards, such as exposure to toxic chemicals,
excessive noise levels, mechanical dangers, heat or cold stress and unsanitary conditions. Although we believe that our
Properties are in compliance in all material respects with applicable requirements, complying with OSHA and similar laws can
be costly and any failure to comply with these regulations could result in penalties or potential litigation.

. Americans with Disabilities Act

Under the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), all public accommodations and commercial facilities must meet
certain federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons. Although we believe that our Properties are in
compliance in all material respects with applicable requirements, noncompliance with the ADA or related laws or regulations
could result in the U.S. government imposing fines or private litigants being awarded damages against us. Such costs may
adversely affect our ability to make distributions or payments to our investors. Compliance with the ADA requirements could
involve removal of structural barriers to access or use by disabled persons. Other federal, state and local laws may require
modifications to or restrict further renovations of our Properties with respect to such access or use.

Additionally, Title III of the ADA has been interpreted by the U.S. courts to include websites as “places of public
accommodations”. For our websites to be ADA compliant, they must be accessible. While no laws have been passed related to
website accessibility, the recognized de facto standard in the U.S. is the Web Content Accessibility Guideline. We may incur
costs to make our websites ADA compliant or face litigation if they are not compliant.

Laws and Regulations Relating to Campground Membership Sales and Properties Could Adversely Affect the Value of Certain
Properties and Our Cash Flows.

Many of the states in which we operate have laws regulating campground membership sales and properties. These laws
generally require comprehensive disclosure to prospective purchasers and usually give purchasers the right to rescind their
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purchase between three to five days after the date of sale. Some states have laws requiring us to register with a state agency and
obtain a permit to market. We are subject to changes, from time to time, in the application or interpretation of such laws that
can affect our business or the rights of our members.

In some states, including California, Oregon and Washington, laws place limitations on the ability of the owner of a
campground property to close the property unless the customers at the property receive access to a comparable property. The
impact of the rights of customers under these laws is uncertain and could adversely affect the availability or timing of sale
opportunities or our ability to realize recoveries from Property sales.

Certain consumer rights and defenses that vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction may affect our portfolio of contracts
receivable. Examples of such laws include state and federal consumer credit and truth-in-lending laws requiring the disclosure
of finance charges and usury and retail installment sales laws regulating permissible finance charges.

Environmental Risks

Natural Disasters Could Adversely Affect the Value of Our Properties, Our Financial Condition, Results of Operations and
Cash Flows.

We are subject to risks associated with natural disasters, including but not limited to hurricanes, storms, fires and
earthquakes. As of December 31, 2021, we owned or had an ownership interest in 444 Properties, including 135 Properties and
19 marinas located in Florida and 51 Properties located in California. The occurrence of a natural disaster or other catastrophic
event in any of these areas may cause a sudden decrease in the value of our Properties and result in an adverse effect to our
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Climate Change May Adversely Affect Our Business.

Climate change could increase the frequency and severity of natural disasters and change weather patterns. To the extent
climate change causes changes in weather patterns, our markets could experience increases in storm intensity, frequency and
magnitude of wildfires, rising sea levels, drought and changes to precipitation and temperatures. The physical effects of climate
change could have a material adverse effect on our properties, operations and business. If there are prolonged disruptions at our
properties due to extreme weather or natural disasters, our results of operations and financial condition could be materially
adversely affected. Our properties are dependent on state and local utility infrastructure for delivery of energy, water supply
and/or other utilities. We do not control investment in that infrastructure and the condition of the infrastructure and supply of
the utilities may not be sufficient to handle impact resulting from climate change. Over time, these conditions could result in
increased incidents of physical damage to our Properties, declining demand for our Properties and increased difficulties
operating them. Climate change may also have indirect effects on our business by increasing the cost of (or making unavailable)
property insurance on terms we find acceptable, increasing the cost of (or making unavailable) energy, water supply and other
utilities at our Properties and requiring us to expend funds as we seek to repair and protect our Properties against such risks.

In addition, climate change could lead to transition risks such as changes in federal, state and local legislation and
regulation, which may require increased capital expenditures at our Properties. Additionally, these capital expenditures may or
may not result in lower on-going expenses or make an impact on the desirability of our Properties and our ability to attract high
quality residents and guests. Any such losses, increases in costs or business interruptions could adversely affect our financial
condition and operating results.

Environmental and Utility-Related Problems are Possible and Can Be Costly.

Federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment may require a current or
previous owner or operator of real property to investigate and clean up hazardous or toxic substances or lead or petroleum
product releases at such property. The owner or operator may have to pay a governmental entity or third parties for property
damage and for investigation and clean-up costs incurred by such parties in connection with the contamination. Properties
containing lead may require removal of the material. This can be costly and, if the lead infiltrates the groundwater or other
water supply, further remediation may be necessary. Such laws typically impose clean-up responsibility and liability without
regard to whether the owner or operator knew of or caused the presence of the contaminants. Even if more than one person may
have been responsible for the contamination, each person covered by the environmental laws may be held responsible for all of
the clean-up costs incurred. In addition, third parties could sue the owner or operator of a site for damages and costs resulting
from environmental contamination emanating from that site.
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Environmental laws also govern the presence, maintenance and removal of environmental contamination, including
asbestos, wastewater discharge and oil spills. Such laws require that owners or operators of properties containing hazardous or
toxic substances to properly manage them. Owners or operators of properties containing asbestos must notify and train those
who may come into contact with asbestos and undertake special precautions, including removal or other abatement, if asbestos
would be disturbed during renovation or demolition of a building. Such laws may impose fines and penalties on real property
owners or operators who fail to comply with these requirements and may allow third parties to seek recovery from owners or
operators for personal injury associated with exposure to asbestos fibers. Moreover, certain of our marinas are located on
waterways that are subject to federal laws, including the Clean Water Act and the Oil Pollution Act, as well as analogous state
laws regulating navigable waters, oil pollution (including prevention and cleanup of the same), adverse impacts to fish and
wildlife, and other matters. For example, under the Oil Pollution Act, owners and operators of vessels and onshore facilities
may be subject to liability for removal costs and damages arising from an oil spill in waters of the United States.

Utility-related laws and regulations also govern the provision of utility services. Such laws regulate, for example, how
and to what extent owners or operators of property can charge renters for provision of utilities. Such laws also regulate the
operations and performance of utility systems and may impose fines and penalties on real property owners or operators who fail
to comply with these requirements. The regulations may also require capital investment to maintain compliance.

Stakeholder Evaluations of ESG Matters May Impact Our Ability to Attract Investors and Could Have a Negative Impact on
Our Reputation.

Evaluations of ESG Matters are important to investors and other stakeholders. Some investors may use ESG Matters to
guide their investment strategies. ESG assessments by certain organizations that provide corporate governance and other
corporate risk advisory services to investors provide scores and ratings to evaluate companies based upon publicly available
information. In addition, investors, particularly institutional investors, may use ESG or sustainability scores to benchmark
companies against their peers. The methodologies by which ESG Matters are assessed may vary among evaluators. Some
investors focus on disclosures of ESG-related business practices and scores when choosing to allocate their capital and may
consider a company's score in making an investment decision. Although we have undertaken and continue to pursue ESG
initiatives and disclosures, there can be no assurance that we will score highly on ESG Matters across evaluators in the future.
In addition, the criteria by which companies are rated may change, which could cause the Company to score differently or
worse than it has in the past and may result in investors deciding to refrain from investing in us and/or result in a negative
perception of the Company.

Risks Relating to Debt and the Financial Markets
Our Substantial Indebtedness Could Adversely Affect Our Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Our business is subject to risks normally associated with debt financing. The total principal amount of our outstanding
indebtedness was approximately $3,303.1 million as of December 31, 2021, of which $349.0 million, or 10.57%, is related to
our line of credit and $73.8 million of secured debt, or 2.23%, matures in 2022. Our substantial indebtedness and the cash flows
associated with serving our indebtedness could have important consequences, including the risks that:

» our cash flows could be insufficient to pay distributions at expected levels and meet required payments of principal
and interest;

* we might be required to use a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to pay our indebtedness, thereby
reducing the availability of our cash flows to fund the implementation of our business strategy, acquisitions, capital
expenditures and other general corporate purposes;

*  our debt service obligations could limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the
industry in which we operate;

* terms of refinancing may not be as favorable as the terms of existing indebtedness, resulting in higher interest rates
that could adversely affect net income, cash flows and our ability to service debt and make distributions to
stockholders;

« if principal payments due at maturity cannot be refinanced, extended or paid with proceeds of other capital
transactions, such as new equity capital, our cash flows may not be sufficient in all years to repay all maturing debt;
and

* to the extent that any Property is cross-collateralized with any other Properties, any default under the mortgage note
relating to one Property could result in a default under the financing arrangements relating to other Properties that also
provide security for that mortgage note or are cross-collateralized with such mortgage note.
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Our Ability to Obtain Mortgage Financing or Refinance Maturing Mortgages May Adversely Affect Our Financial Condition.

Lenders' demands on borrowers as to the quality of the collateral and related cash flows may make it challenging to
secure financing on attractive terms or at all. Future market factors including increases in the U.S. federal reserve funds rate
may result in an increase in market interest rates, which could increase the costs of refinancing existing indebtedness or
obtaining new debt.

Additionally, future disruptions in capital and credit markets, including potential reforms to Fannie Mae and Freddie
Mac, could impact both the capacity and liquidity of lenders, resulting in financing terms that are less attractive to us and/or the
unavailability of certain types of debt financing. This could have an adverse effect on our ability to refinance maturing debt and/
or react to changing economic and business conditions.

Financial Covenants Could Adversely Affect Our Financial Condition.

If a Property is mortgaged to secure payment of indebtedness and we are unable to meet mortgage payments, the
mortgagee could foreclose on the Property, resulting in loss of income and asset value. The mortgages on our Properties contain
customary negative covenants, which among other things limit our ability, without the prior consent of the lender, to further
mortgage the Property and to discontinue insurance coverage. In addition, our unsecured credit facilities contain certain
customary restrictions, requirements and other limitations on our ability to incur indebtedness, including total debt-to-assets
ratios, debt service coverage ratios and minimum ratios of unencumbered assets to unsecured debt. Foreclosure on mortgaged
Properties or an inability to refinance existing indebtedness would likely have a negative impact on our financial condition and
results of operations.

Our Degree of Leverage Could Limit Our Ability to Obtain Additional Financing.

Our debt-to-market-capitalization ratio (total debt as a percentage of total debt plus the market value of the outstanding
common stock and OP Units held by parties other than us) was approximately 16.2% as of December 31, 2021. The degree of
leverage could have important consequences to stockholders, including an adverse effect on our ability to obtain additional
financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, development or other general corporate purposes
and could make us more vulnerable to a downturn in business or the economy generally.

We May Be Able to Incur Substantially More Debt, Which Would Increase the Risks Associated With Our Substantial Leverage.

Despite our current indebtedness levels, we may still be able to incur substantially more debt in the future. If new debt is
added to our current debt levels, an even greater portion of our cash flow will be needed to satisfy our debt service obligations.
As a result, the related risks that we now face could intensify and increase the risk of a default on our indebtedness.

We May Be Adversely Affected By Changes in LIBOR Reporting Practices or the Method in Which LIBOR Is Determined.

In July 2017, the Financial Conduct Authority, announced it intends to stop compelling banks to submit rates for the
calculation of LIBOR after 2021. Beginning in March 2021, ICE Benchmark Administration, the administrator of LIBOR, has
announced the end of certain LIBOR panels by December 31, 2021.

On July 29, 2021, the Alternative Reference Rates Committee (“ARRC”) formally recommended that the Secured
Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) is the rate that represents best practice as the alternative to USD-LIBOR for use in
financial contracts that are currently indexed to USD-LIBOR. ARRC has proposed a market transition plan to SOFR from
USD-LIBOR and organizations are currently working on industry wide and company specific transition plans as it relates to
derivatives and cash markets exposed to USD-LIBOR. Our floating rate borrowings are indexed to USD-LIBOR and we are
monitoring this activity and evaluating the related risks. Although the full impact of such reforms and actions, together with any
transition away from LIBOR, including the potential or actual discontinuance of LIBOR publication, remains unclear, these
changes could have a material adverse impact on the availability of financing, including LIBOR-based loans and as a result on
our financing costs.

Risks Related to Our Company Ownership
Provisions of Our Charter and Bylaws Could Inhibit Changes of Control.

Certain provisions of our charter and bylaws may delay or prevent a change of control or other transactions that could
provide our stockholders with a premium over the then-prevailing market price of their common stock or future series of
preferred stock, if any, which might otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders. These include the Ownership Limit
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described below. Also, any future series of preferred stock may have certain voting provisions that could delay or prevent a
change of control or other transaction that might involve a premium price or otherwise be beneficial to our stockholders.

Maryland Law Imposes Certain Limitations on Changes of Control.

Certain provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law (“MGCL”) prohibit “business combinations” (including
certain issuances of equity securities) with any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of our
outstanding common stock, or with an affiliate of ours, who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question,
was the owner of 10% or more of the voting power of our outstanding voting stock (an “Interested Stockholder”), or with an
affiliate of an Interested Stockholder. These prohibitions last for five years after the most recent date on which the Interested
Stockholder became an Interested Stockholder. After the five-year period, a business combination with an Interested
Stockholder must be approved by two super-majority stockholder votes unless, among other conditions, our common
stockholders receive a minimum price for their shares and the consideration is received in cash or in the same form as
previously paid by the Interested Stockholder for shares of our common stock. The Board of Directors has exempted from these
provisions under Maryland law any business combination with Samuel Zell, who is Chairman of our Board of Directors, certain
holders of OP Units who received them at the time of our initial public offering and our officers who acquired common stock at
the time we were formed and each and every affiliate of theirs.

Additionally, Subtitle 8 of Title 3 of the MGCL permits our Board of Directors, without stockholder approval and
regardless of what is currently provided in our charter or bylaws, to elect to be subject to certain provisions relating to corporate
governance that may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change of control of our company
that might involve a premium to the market price of our common stock or otherwise be in our stockholders’ best interests.
These provisions include a classified board; two-thirds vote to remove a director; that the number of directors may only be fixed
by the Board of Directors; that vacancies on the board as a result of an increase in the size of the board or due to death,
resignation or removal can only be filled by the board and the director appointed to fill the vacancy serves for the remainder of
the full term of the class of director in which the vacancy occurred and a majority requirement for the calling by stockholders of
special meetings. Through provisions in our charter and bylaws unrelated to Subtitle 8, we already (a) require a two-thirds vote
for the removal of any director from the board and (b) vest in the board the exclusive power to fix the number of directorships
provided that, if there is stock outstanding and so long as there are three or more stockholders, the number is not less than three.
In the future, our Board of Directors may elect, without stockholder approval, to make us subject to the provisions of Subtitle 8
to which we are not currently subject.

Our Board of Directors has power to adopt, alter or repeal any provision of our bylaws or make new bylaws, provided,
however, that our stockholders may, with certain exceptions, alter or repeal any provision of our bylaws and adopt new bylaws
if any such alteration, repeal or adoption is approved by the affirmative vote of a majority of all votes entitled to be cast on the
matter.

Changes in Our Investment and Financing Policies May Be Made Without Stockholder Approval.

Our investment and financing policies and our policies with respect to certain other activities, including our growth, debt,
capitalization, distributions, REIT status and operating policies, are determined by our Board of Directors. Although our Board
of Directors has no present intention to do so, these policies may be amended or revised from time to time at the discretion of
our Board of Directors without notice to or a vote of our stockholders. Accordingly, stockholders may not have control over
changes in our policies and changes in our policies may not fully serve the interests of all stockholders.

Conflicts of Interest Could Influence Our Decisions.

Certain stockholders could exercise influence in a manner inconsistent with stockholders' best interests. Mr. Zell and
certain related entities, directly or indirectly, beneficially own shares of our common stock and OP Units as disclosed in our
Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A for the 2022 Annual Meeting incorporated by reference herein. Mr. Zell is the chairman of
our Board of Directors. Accordingly, Mr. Zell has significant influence on our management and operation. Such influence could
be exercised in a manner that is inconsistent with the interests of other stockholders. In addition, Mr. Zell and related entities
continue to be involved in other investment activities. Mr. Zell and related entities have a broad and varied range of investment
interests, including interests in other real estate investment companies that own other forms of housing, including multifamily
housing. Mr. Zell and related entities may acquire interests in other companies. Mr. Zell may not be able to control whether any
such company competes with us.
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Risks Relating to Our Common Stock
We Depend on Our Subsidiaries' Dividends and Distributions.

Substantially all of our assets are owned indirectly by the Operating Partnership. As a result, we have no source of cash
flows other than distributions from our Operating Partnership. For us to pay dividends to holders of our common stock, the
Operating Partnership must first distribute cash to us. Before it can distribute the cash, our Operating Partnership must first
satisfy its obligations to its creditors.

Market Interest Rates May Have an Effect on the Value of Our Common Stock.

One of the factors that investors consider important in deciding whether to buy or sell shares of a REIT is the distribution
rates with respect to such shares (as a percentage of the price of such shares) relative to market interest rates. If market interest
rates go up, prospective purchasers of REIT shares may expect a higher distribution rate. Higher interest rates would not,
however, result in more of our funds to distribute and, in fact, would likely increase our borrowing costs and potentially
decrease funds available for distribution. Thus, higher market interest rates could cause the market price of our publicly traded
securities to go down.

Issuances or Sales of Our Common Stock May Be Dilutive.

The issuance or sale of substantial amounts of our common stock could have a dilutive effect on our actual and expected
earnings per share, FFO per share and Normalized Funds from Operations (“Normalized FFO”) per share. We may sell shares
of our common stock under our ATM equity offering program from time-to-time. During the year ended December 31, 2021,
we sold 1.7 million of our shares of our common stock through our ATM equity offering program. As of December 31, 2021,
there are $59.7 million remaining shares available for issuance under our ATM equity program. The actual amount of dilution
cannot be determined at this time and would be dependent upon numerous factors which are not currently known to us.

s

Our Share Price Could Be Volatile and Could Decline, Resulting in A Substantial or Complete Loss on Our Stockholders
Investment.

We list our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) and our common stock could experience
significant price and volume fluctuations. Investors in our common stock may experience a decrease in the value of their shares,
including decreases unrelated to our operating performance or prospects. The price of our common stock could be subject to
wide fluctuations in response to a number of factors, including:

* issuances of other equity securities in the future, including new series or classes of preferred stock;

*  our operating performance and the performance of other similar companies;

e our ability to maintain compliance with covenants contained in our debt facilities;

« actual or anticipated variations in our operating results, funds from operations, cash flows or liquidity;

+ changes in expectations of future financial performance or changes in our earnings estimates or those of analysts;

*  changes in our distribution policy;

*  publication of research reports about us or the real estate industry generally;

e increases in market interest rates that lead purchasers of our common stock to demand a higher dividend yield;

»  changes in market valuations of similar companies;

« adverse market reaction to the amount of our debt outstanding at any time, the amount of our debt maturing in the
near-term and medium-term and our ability to refinance our debt, or our plans to incur additional debt in the future;

« additions or departures of key management personnel;

*  speculation in the press or investment community;

e equity issuances by us, or share resales by our stockholders or the perception that such issuances or resales may occur;

* addition to, or removal from, market indexes used by investors to make investment decisions;

* actions by institutional stockholders; and

»  general market and economic conditions.

Many of the factors listed above are beyond our control. Those factors may cause the market price of our common stock
to decline significantly, regardless of our financial condition, results of operations and prospects. It is impossible to provide any
assurance that the market price of our common stock will not fall in the future and it may be difficult for holders to resell shares
of our common stock at prices they find attractive, or at all. In the past, securities class action litigation has often been instituted
against companies following periods of volatility in their stock price. This type of litigation could result in substantial costs and
divert our management’s attention and resources.
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Risks Relating to REITs and Income Taxes
We are Dependent on External Sources of Capital.

To qualify as a REIT, we must distribute to our stockholders each year at least 90% of our REIT taxable income
(determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding any net capital gain). In addition, we intend to
distribute all or substantially all of our net income so that we will generally not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our
earnings. Because of these distribution requirements, it is not likely that we will be able to fund all future capital needs,
including acquisitions, from income from operations. We therefore will have to rely on third-party sources of debt and equity
capital financing, which may or may not be available on favorable terms or at all. Our access to third-party sources of capital
depends on a number of things, including conditions in the capital markets generally and the market's perception of our growth
potential and our current and potential future earnings. It may be difficult for us to meet one or more of the requirements for
qualification as a REIT, including but not limited to our distribution requirement. Moreover, additional equity offerings may
result in substantial dilution of stockholders' interests and additional debt financing may substantially increase our leverage.

We Have a Stock Ownership Limit for REIT Tax Purposes.

To remain qualified as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, not more than 50% in value of our outstanding
shares of capital stock may be owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals (as defined in the federal income tax
laws applicable to REITs) at any time during the last half of any taxable year. To facilitate maintenance of our REIT
qualification, our charter, subject to certain exceptions, prohibits Beneficial Ownership (as defined in our charter) by any single
stockholder of more than 5% (in value or number of shares, whichever is more restrictive) of our outstanding capital stock. We
refer to this as the “Ownership Limit”. Within certain limits, our charter permits the Board of Directors to increase the
Ownership Limit with respect to any class or series of stock. The Board of Directors, upon receipt of a ruling from the IRS,
opinion of counsel, or other evidence satisfactory to the Board of Directors and upon 15 days prior written notice of a proposed
transfer which, if consummated, would result in the transferee owning shares in excess of the Ownership Limit, and upon such
other conditions as the Board of Directors may direct, may exempt a stockholder from the Ownership Limit. Absent any such
exemption, capital stock acquired or held in violation of the Ownership Limit will be transferred by operation of law to us as
trustee for the benefit of the person to whom such capital stock is ultimately transferred and the stockholder's rights to
distributions and to vote would terminate. Such stockholder would be entitled to receive, from the proceeds of any subsequent
sale of the capital stock we transferred as trustee, the lesser of (i) the price paid for the capital stock or, if the owner did not pay
for the capital stock (for example, in the case of a gift, devise or other such transaction), the market price of the capital stock on
the date of the event causing the capital stock to be transferred to us as trustee or (ii) the amount realized from such sale. A
transfer of capital stock may be void if it causes a person to violate the Ownership Limit. The Ownership Limit could delay or
prevent a change in control of us and therefore, could adversely affect our stockholders' ability to realize a premium over the
then-prevailing market price for their common stock or adversely affect the best interest of our stockholders.

Our Qualification as a REIT Is Dependent on Compliance with U.S. Federal Income Tax Requirements.

We believe we have been organized and operated in a manner so as to qualify for taxation as a REIT and we intend to
continue to operate so as to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Our current and continuing qualification as
a REIT depends on our ability to meet the various requirements imposed by the Code, which relate to organizational structure,
distribution levels, diversity of stock ownership and certain restrictions with regard to owned assets and categories of income. If
we qualify for taxation as a REIT, we are generally not subject to U.S. federal income tax on our taxable income that is
distributed to our stockholders. However, qualification as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes is governed by highly
technical and complex provisions of the Code for which there are only limited judicial or administrative interpretations. In
connection with certain transactions, we have received, and relied upon, advice of counsel as to the impact of such transactions
on our qualification as a REIT. Our qualification as a REIT requires analysis of various facts and circumstances that may not be
entirely within our control and we cannot provide any assurance that the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) will agree with
our analysis or the analysis of our tax counsel. In particular, the proper U.S. federal income tax treatment of right-to-use
membership contracts and rental income from certain short-term stays at RV communities is uncertain and there is no assurance
that the IRS will agree with our treatment of such contracts or rental income. If the IRS were to disagree with our analysis or
our tax counsel's analysis of various facts and circumstances, our ability to qualify as a REIT could be adversely affected.

In addition, legislation, new regulations, administrative interpretations or court decisions might significantly change the
tax laws with respect to the requirements for qualification as a REIT or the U.S. federal income tax consequences of
qualification as a REIT.

If, with respect to any taxable year, we failed to maintain our qualification as a REIT (and if specified relief provisions
under the Code were not applicable to such disqualification), we would be disqualified from treatment as a REIT for the four
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taxable years following the year during which qualification was lost. If we lost our REIT status, we could not deduct
distributions to stockholders in computing our net taxable income at regular corporate rates and we would be subject to U.S.
federal income tax on our net taxable incomes. If we had to pay U.S. federal income tax, the amount of money available to
distribute to stockholders and pay indebtedness would be reduced for the year or years involved and we would no longer be
required to distribute money to stockholders. Although we currently intend to operate in a manner designed to allow us to
qualify as a REIT, future economic, market, legal, tax or other considerations may cause us to revoke the REIT election.

Furthermore, we own a direct interest in a subsidiary REIT and in the past we have owned interests in other subsidiary
REITs, each of which elected to be taxed as REITs under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code. Provided that each subsidiary
REIT that we own qualifies as a REIT, our interest in such subsidiary REIT will be treated as a qualifying real estate asset for
purposes of the REIT asset tests and any dividend income or gains derived by us from such subsidiary REIT will generally be
treated as income that qualifies for purposes of the REIT gross income tests. To qualify as a REIT, the subsidiary REIT must
independently satisfy all of the REIT qualification requirements. If such subsidiary REIT were to fail to qualify as a REIT and
certain relief provisions did not apply, it would be treated as a regular taxable corporation and its income would be subject to
U.S. federal income tax. In addition, a failure of the subsidiary REIT to qualify as a REIT could have an adverse effect on our
ability to comply with the REIT income and asset tests and thus our ability to qualify as a REIT.

We May Pay Some Taxes, Reducing Cash Available for Stockholders.

Even if we qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we may be subject to some U.S. federal, foreign,
state and local taxes on our income and property. Since January 1, 2001, certain of our corporate subsidiaries have elected to be
treated as “taxable REIT subsidiaries” for U.S. federal income tax purposes and are taxable as regular corporations and subject
to certain limitations on intercompany transactions. If tax authorities determine that amounts paid by our taxable REIT
subsidiaries to us are greater than what would be paid under similar arrangements among unrelated parties, we could be subject
to a 100% penalty tax on the excess payments and ongoing intercompany arrangements could have to change, resulting in
higher ongoing tax payments. To the extent we are required to pay U.S. federal, foreign, state or local taxes or U.S. federal
penalty taxes due to existing laws or changes to them, we will have less cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

Dividends Payable by REITs Generally Do Not Qualify For the Reduced Tax Rates Available For Some Dividends, Which May
Negatively Affect the Value of Our Shares.

Income from “qualified dividends” payable to U.S. stockholders that are individuals, trusts and estates are generally
subject to tax at preferential rates, currently at a maximum federal rate of 20%. Dividends payable by REITs, however,
generally are not eligible for the preferential tax rates applicable to qualified dividend income. Under the Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act, or the TCJA, however, U.S. stockholders that are individuals, trusts and estates generally may deduct up to 20% of the
ordinary dividends (e.g., dividends not designated as capital gain dividends or qualified dividend income) received from a REIT
for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 and before January 1, 2026. Although this deduction reduces the effective
tax rate applicable to certain dividends paid by REITs (generally to 29.6% assuming the shareholder is subject to the 37%
maximum rate), such tax rate is still higher than the tax rate applicable to corporate dividends that constitute qualified dividend
income. Accordingly, investors who are individuals, trusts and estates may perceive investments in REITs to be relatively less
attractive than investments in the stocks of non-REIT corporations that pay dividends, which could materially and adversely
affect the value of the shares of REITs, including the per share trading price of our common stock.

Partnership Tax Audit Rules Could Have a Material Adverse Effect on Us.

The Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015 changed the rules applicable to U.S. federal income tax audits of partnerships. Under
the rules, effective for taxable years beginning in 2018, among other changes and subject to certain exceptions, any audit
adjustment to items of income, gain, loss, deduction, or credit of a partnership (and a partner's allocable share thereof) is
determined and taxes, interest and penalties attributable thereto are assessed and collected, at the partnership level. Unless the
partnership makes an election permitted under the new law or takes certain steps to require the partners to pay their tax on their
allocable shares of the adjustment, it is possible that partnerships in which we directly or indirectly invest, including the
Operating Partnership, would be required to pay additional taxes, interest and penalties as a result of an audit adjustment. We,
as a direct or indirect partner of the Operating Partnership and other partnerships, could be required to bear the economic
burden of those taxes, interest and penalties even though' the Company, as a REIT, may not otherwise have been required to
pay additional corporate-level tax. The changes created by these rules are significant for collecting tax in partnership audits and
accordingly, there can be no assurance that these rules will not have a material adverse effect on us.
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We May be Subject to Adverse Legislative or Regulatory Tax Changes That Could Reduce the Market Price of Our Outstanding
Common or Preferred Shares.

The IRS, the United States Treasury Department and Congress frequently review U.S. federal income tax legislation,
regulations and other guidance. We cannot predict whether, when or to what extent new U.S. federal tax laws, regulations,
interpretations or rulings will be adopted. Any legislative action may prospectively or retroactively modify our tax treatment
and therefore, may adversely affect our taxation or our Company's shareholders. We urge you to consult with your tax advisor
with respect to the status of legislative, regulatory or administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect on an
investment in our stock. Although REITs generally receive certain tax advantages compared to entities taxed as “C”
corporations, it is possible that future legislation would result in a REIT having fewer tax advantages and it could become more
advantageous for a company that invests in real estate to elect to be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a “C”
corporation.

Other Risk Factors Affecting Our Business
Some Potential Losses Are Not Covered by Insurance.

We carry comprehensive insurance coverage for losses resulting from property damage and environmental liability and
business interruption claims on all of our Properties. In addition, we carry liability coverage for other activities not specifically
related to property operations. These coverages include, but are not limited to, Directors & Officers liability, Employer
Practices liability, Fiduciary liability and Cyber liability. We believe that the policy specifications and coverage limits of these
policies should be adequate and appropriate. There are, however, certain types of losses, such as punitive damages, lease and
other contract claims that generally are not insured. Should an uninsured loss or a loss in excess of coverage limits occur, we
could lose all or a portion of the capital we have invested in a Property or the anticipated future revenue from a Property. In
such an event, we might nevertheless remain obligated for any mortgage debt or other financial obligations related to the
Property.

Our current property and casualty insurance policies with respect to our MH and RV Properties, which we plan to renew,
expire on April 1, 2022. We increased our loss limit from $100 million to $125 million per occurrence with respect to our MH
and RV all-risk property insurance program including named windstorms, which include, for example, hurricanes. This loss
limit is subject to additional sub-limits as set forth in the policy form, including, among others, a $25 million aggregate loss
limit for earthquake(s) in California. The deductibles for this policy primarily range from $500,000 minimum to 5% per unit of
insurance for most catastrophic events. For most catastrophic events, there is an additional one-time aggregate deductible of $2
million, which is capped at $1 million per occurrence. We have separate insurance policies with respect to our marina
Properties. Those casualty policies, which were recently renewed, expire on November 1, 2022 and the property insurance
program, which we plan to renew, expires on April 1, 2022 and has a minimum deductible of $100,000. A deductible indicates
our maximum exposure, subject to policy limits and sub-limits, in the event of a loss.

We Face Risks Relating to Cybersecurity Incidents and Privacy Laws.

We rely extensively on internally and externally hosted computer systems to process transactions, manage the privacy of
customer data, and manage our business. Critical components of our systems are dependent upon third-party providers and a
significant portion of our business operations are conducted over the internet. These systems and websites are subject to system
security risks, cybersecurity breaches, outages and other risks. These could include attempts to gain unauthorized access to our
data and computer systems, or steal confidential information, including credit card information from our customers, breaches
due to employee error, malfeasance or other disruptions, including disruptions that result in our and our customers' loss of
access to our information systems. Even if we are not targeted directly, cyber attacks on other entities and institutions, including
third parties with whom we do business, may occur and such events could disrupt our normal business operations and networks
in the future. Attacks can be both individual or highly organized attempts by very sophisticated hacking organizations. We
employ a number of measures to prevent, detect and mitigate these threats. While we continue to improve our cybersecurity and
take measures to protect our business, it may not always be possible to anticipate, detect, or recognize threats to our systems, or
to implement effective preventive measures and that our financial results will not be negatively impacted by such an incident.
The extent of a particular cyber attack and the steps that we may need to take to investigate the attack also may not be
immediately clear. Additionally, with the outbreak of COVID-19, certain of our corporate and regional staff have been
regularly working remotely, further increasing our dependence on computer systems to process transactions and manage our
business, as well as the risk of a loss event due to a cybersecurity incident. A cybersecurity incident could compromise the
confidential information of our employees, customers and vendors to the extent such information exists on our systems or on
the systems of third-party providers. Any compromise of our security could result in a violation of applicable privacy and other
laws, and could result in potential liability, damage our reputation and disrupt and affect our business operations and result in
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lawsuits against us. Privacy and information security laws continue to evolve and may be inconsistent from one jurisdiction to
another. Furthermore, we may not be able to recover these expenses from our service providers, responsible parties, or
insurance carriers.

Social Media Platforms Could Cause Us to Suffer Brand Damage or Information Leakage.

Negative information about us, or our officers, employees, directors or Properties, even if untrue, could damage our
reputation. In particular, information shared on social media platforms could cause us to suffer brand damage because social
media platforms have increased the rapidity of the dissemination and greatly expanded the potential scope and scale of the
impact of negative publicity. Furthermore, current or former employees, customers or others might make negative comments
regarding us, publicly share material that reflects negatively on our reputation or disclose non-public sensitive information
relating to our business. While we have customary internal policies related to posting Company information on public
platforms, including social media sites, the continuing evolution of social media will present us with new challenges and risks.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

26



%0°001 Ly o€l @ Ad 14 o[epIopne] 1o A KeploH dulysung

%086 ST 874 43 HN 14 a[epIopne o HIN AepI[oH durgsung
%1°86 €9¢ £9¢ 09 HIN T a[epIopneT] Mo 19 AN Sjied
%1°96 119 119 €01 HN 14 a[epIopne o oy SOPE[SIoAT
%E°€6 ¥91 91 0T HN T a[epIopneT] Mo 2400 Q2118
%0°001 8C1 [4%3 16 (3] Ad 14 yoeag 1o[3e[] A mong
%0001 9LT 9LT 06 (343 HN T yoeag 10[3e[| uonejue|d Mo[ng
%9°96 965 965 9T 91¢ HN 14 uop[g Surssox) eumbo)
%0001 ZS1 6L1 ¢ BULIBIA 14 yoeag mﬂOfme BULIBIA Yyorag ﬂsog\r.wh—
%E°T6 811 8% 65 HIN 14 yoeag euolke( 2A0D) d5erLE)
%0°66 20T 20t 0€¢ HN T alne( a8e[[IA uo1oy)
%0°001 0T 11¢ € BULIEN 14 BINUAAY (0) eULEN YI'T-TH
%0001 € 9 (91 BULIBIN| 14 BINJUIAY BULIBJA BINJUIAY
Jseo) sey
epLIolg

1T/1€/T1 JO TT/1€/T1 JO se 1T/1€/TL (@ SV () SOV adL 1, faadoag aels L1D £y1adoag

se AouednanQ $IIS [eNUUY JO JO se saIg Jo Jqedopaaaq
NS [enuUy Jaquiny [ejo], Jquiny [ejo],

‘SISe(q 93RIdAR
paySom e uo pajuasaid are 1810} pueid pue joxIew Aq s[ejoiqns oFejusorad Aouednooo 911§ [enuuy pardnoso 9,001 st pajussaid aie pue syuspisal [enuue Aq pordnooo
$0)1g syuasaIdor so)Ig [enUUR JO IOqUUNU [€)0} oY) ‘san1adord euLIewW pue A 10, JoxIewr Jofew Aq paziiogeies are saniodoid asay ], ‘sexnjuaa jutof ySnoayy paumo sanrodord
Surpn[our j0u ‘1zO7 ‘1€ Iqud( JO St SIS 6991 Surureiuod sonrodoid paumo-A[[oym ¢¢ Ino 0} June[ol UONBWLIOJUl UTe1Idd (IIOJ SIS d[qe) SUIMO[[OJ YT,

"120T ‘1€
IOqUIADS(] PAPUL JBak Ay} 10 ‘s[el1Iojop Surpnjoxa ‘sonuoaal Junerado Aradoid 1101 o Jo 940 7 A[ereunxoidde 10] pajuNoddE YoBT "BUOZLIY ‘BSIJA UL PAIBIO] “4I0SAY JI0D
2 AY JUIOJMIIA PUB BPLIO[] ‘UOJUS[[H UI PAIBIO] “DA0)) AUOJO)) 9IdM ‘S[elIojap Julpn[oxa ‘sonuoadl Junerado Axadoid Aq pauruoiap se sanadord 3s98re] omy InQo

‘sjosrew yons apisino santodoid Jo suonisinboe 1opIsuos osye [ pue pajedo] a1e son1adold Ino 219y SIadIeW Jeau Jo ul suonisinboe mou
10318} O} PUAUI DA\ "SOIUSN[JUI JIOU0d [euorFor wolj orjojiiod (303 ay) oje[nsur 0y sdjoy uonesryIsIoAIp o1yder3oas jey) Jorjeq Ino s)od[JaI santadold Ino Jo uonNqLySIp
YL ‘(syuowadueiry 3uimoiiog g AON—eIeQ Areyuoweddng pue sjuswoiel§ [erouBUL] 'g WY 99S) 1GIP AQ PoIqUINOUD d1om sanaadoid oyl Jo L[] JO [B10) Y SN
967691 Jururejuod sojel§ payu() Ay ur Apueurwopald pajeso] sanuedold i+ Jo orjoptod & ur 3sa1iul dIySIoUMO U Pey 10 PauMo om ‘(707 ‘1€ Joquado( Jo sy

orjoppa0g Ky1adoag

'sojel Aouednooo Y31y pue IoAOUIN] MO] “DABY 0} SNUNUOD [[IM A3} 9AS1[2q M PUE ‘pey
aAey A[[eono)siy santadold O ‘s3ururen) A1essodou ap1aoid o} pue s1son3 pue S)USPISAI INO JO SPAOU JY) SSAIPPE pue pueisiopun 0} santadoid Ino je [ouuosiad juswaseuewr
M s3ureduwn Je[ndal Ploy 9A\ SOWOY IIAY) JOJ 9IBD 0} JSAIAUI PI)SIA B QABY OS[E ‘OI0JOIOY) PUB ‘SOWIOY JIdY) UMO SJUIPISAI INO JO ISO]A "Bdle Jurpunoins oy} pue
sowoy] J1oy) Surutejurew Surpnyour ‘sarorjod AIUNUIUIOd INO Im A[dUIos s)sang pue S)USPISAI INO JBY} AINSUS 0] PUE SANIUSWE PUL SINI[IOB] BIIR UOWIOD dU} JO OUBUJUTRL
opraoid 0y Aiqisuodsal InO ST )] "SONIANOR [BIOOS SNOLIBA PUE SWIOOI 9SI0IOX9 ‘seds [ood[iysm/eunes ‘sjmod [[eqioyseq pue pieoqapnys ‘[reqopord ‘smuus) ‘sosioo
J103 se yons sonIuAWwe [UONIPPE IO Os[e Santadord AUBJA "99TAISS JOUIUI PUB UOISIAJ[A) J[qed ‘sopI[ioey Arpune| qood Surumuims e ‘osnoyqnyd & opnjour A[[eIousd
SONI[IOB] BAIE UOUIWIOD JSAY 'S}SONS PUB SJUIPISAI INO I0J AJTUNWIIOD SUNIAUT UB 3JBIIO TR} SONIUSWER JAIIORIIR PUR SONI[IOR] BAIR Uouruod apraoid sanradorg mQ

[B1oUID)

sandoag 7 wayg

27



%0001 L6v SSTL 88T N 1d JuowdD HOSOY AY % JI0D H00119[D)
%0001 124! LLT 0¢ A 14 J[1ASy00Ig 15910, JBT JOAO]D
%6'C6 S8 S¥8 0T LTC HIN 14 Q[[iasyoorg SULIe,{ JedT 19A0[D)
[[enud)

%0001 ¥8C ¥8C 81 HIN 14 oeag wied 1SOM Auojo) yoeog wied
%S°06 8L 8L 91 8L HIN 14 [oeog OIA uddID) AT[IA
%S°06 [3:14 S8¢C 9 HIN 14 [orag OIA S91B)SH Wed OIOA
%0001 8L 091 - 9T BULIE]A 14 [oeag OIA BULIEJN [oBog OIDA
%0001 8¢l 00€ 9 0¢ Ad 14 LELEH QRN [ordg OIA-[QARLL duIysung
% — 8CI 8CI 81 HIN 14 [yoedg 010/ (8) epuiof ‘oSe[[iA AepijoH
%L'16 88¢ 88¢ o€l HIN 1d oeag 0I0A KD uosoy
%¥'06 LEY LEY 79 HN 1 yoeag OIOA uoyejuE]J 93eIIOH
%€'96 ¥9 9 441 HIN 14 yoeag 01 A Yorag 019 A I8 dpIsAnuno)
%0001 681 90¢€ 8 BULIBIA 14 Jens (9) BULIBIA] [01RMIDATY
%0001 Sle 8¢t Sl BULIBIA| 14 81ngsIo3d 1S BULIB]| 9394 1S
%0°001 161 0LT vT N 14 a3papyooy 15800 20Edg
%0001 80¢ 80¢ 8¢ HIN 1d a3pappooy $yeQ uerpuy
%0°001 YLT 97¢ — 9 BULIBIA T4 yorag BINALRY BULIBJA] (OB BISIATY
%S89 S16 16 Sl HIN 1d YoBRg BIOIARY oe wed
%0001 SIc €0¢ 4 14 A Td a3ueIQ 1o Aeg osoy
%L'L6 822 824 — 8 HIN 14 a8ue1Q 1od aZe[IA FoumpId
%T'S8 (%34 (%34 9 HN Td a8ue1Q 10g orag BUOIAR( 8 SIUI0J ISNOYIYSI]
%0°001 1€C S6T 01 BULIB]A T4 191U] 20U0g (9) eULIBRJA J0qQIRH Jo[U]
%0001 Y4 Syl S1 Ad 14 yoeag ouedwog JIed [9ABI] SPOOA\ PueySIH
%0°001 6€C LS€E ¥ BULIR]A T4 yoeag ouedwog (0) euLIBJ INOQIRH USPPIH
%0001 £33 9L [49 Ad 14 yoeag ouedwog [I'H Azoa1g
%¥’L6 8LE 8LE 59 HIN 14 suopie) yoeag wied 1d ‘SmMOpe3A oYL,
%0001 901 €€l — 4 BULIRI Td SudpIED Yyordq wied BULIBJ\ SUSPIED) YoBIg WEd
%0001 vzl 6v€ € 69 N T4 yorag puoui yuON euolke(-Aepi[oY durysung
%L 68 10€ 10€ [3% HIN Td yoeag puowi yoeag puowiQ 03e[[IA AepljoH
%0001 1LT ovL 011 A4 T4 CECURER (6] (9) 110s9Y A 2290103 O
%0001 444 ST — It BULIRN 1d 1wery BULIBJ\ [WEIJ\ YN0
%0001 9s €0¢€ 6 e Ad 1d Tweny SOPE[SI0AY IR
%588 6v€ 343 89 HIN Td QUINOQqRIN a8e[[IA poomaye]
%L 86 818 818 121 HN 1 BLEEALIA uonejueld A8 [I0D)
%0001 ss €L 1 BULIBIAL T4 rURJURT] BULIBJA| BUBJURT [INOS
%L'L6 209 209 201 HIN 14 eugjuE] KD oSeferey
%0001 06T ¥6€ S BULIE]N Td BuBIUR] BULIBJA] BUBIUE]
%t v6 €28 €28 L1 HIN Td yHOM OYe] aBeIA yHoM e
%0001 161 1€2 S BULIBIA| Td sopdng euLIRIA Jondnp
%0001 9¢1 061 6 BULIBIN 14 poomA[joH euLR]A pPoomATI0H

1Z/1€/21 JO TT/IE/T1 3O se 17/1€/21 (@ PV (@ SV adLy, fradorg ae)s falie} £y1adoag
se LouednddQ  saIS [enuuy Jo Jo se saNg Jo spqedopasq

MG [enuuy

Jquny [ejo],

Jquny [e)o],

28



%086 6¥C 6¥C 1€ HN 14 191BMIBI[ D) syeQ aue Apeys
%8566 9Ty 9Ty SS HIN 14 JoremiIes[y Andipuazog
%L'T6 (U9 (U3 cl HIN 14 I25eMIB[D) youey Aepijoy
%096 9LT 9LT ST HIN 14 1ojeMIed[ ) 14 3S90[[TH
%€ v6 901 901 4! HIN 14 JopemIed] ) UQ[I URID
%0°001 9L1 09¢ — 81 BULIRJA 1q ozeH ode) (0) euLIel InOQIRH WEd
Y% — — 891 000°1 A 14 [e10D) 2de) (p) pueTuswdojaas( [e10) ade)
%— — — $6 881 Ad 14 [e10) ade) (p) oyeT Apmbuei] ye 1050y
%0001 61T Siy w AY 14 uojuspelg AJJRUBIA] SI9MBNQ) JOIUIA
%€ 66 6T T6C 6 HIN 1d uojuapeIg IOUBIA [[TIpUI A
%0001 94 60t 149 Ad 14 Koy ourg Sy Koy] ourysung
%0001 9LT 6LE 44 Ad 14 eIpeory 10soY AY SAQOL
%0001 84T 81 80T 661 A 14 BIpRIIY HOSY AY dpIsIoAry
:(sapdeN/edwe 1) 3se0)) Jyno

%0001 191 0S¢ LT Ad 14 uapien) IJUIM UspIen) IUIM
%0001 143 1T €C Ad 14 POOMPIIM sBe[ Q1YL
%€'86 769 769 1zl HN 1 POOMPTIAN SOMIUNWWO.) POOMIIE]
%0001 14T 74 65 HN 14 pnojp) jures soyesg uo)SuIA0)
%E'L6 €8L €8L 0€1 HIN 1d opuelQ youry SIS
%066 £0¢ £0¢ 0S HIN 14 opuelIo Ao[[e A uappry
%9'66 08T 08¢ z or HIN 1d opueriQ BPLIO[] - 9FE[[IA UOqNpNy
%65'88 1454 1494 69 HN 14 e[edQ syeQ ystuedg je se[IA
%EYL 343 (343 9 HIN 14 B[B2O puegd 3eO
%888 S9¢ S9¢ 9s HIN 14 B[RO SULIB] POOMXO,]
%t'06 148! 148! 4! HIN 14 elog N SlleuIYINOS
%1°06 STT'1 STTl 062 HIN 1d 3Inqsoa] ST BPLIO[-PIA
%516 10T 10T 6T HI 1d 8ungsoo] Kuojo) poomyoeo)
%0001 €61 €61 €T HIN Td pueaye] uonoun( puefexe]
%0001 0S 0S 9 HIN 1d pueye] I0QIeH pue[aYe]
%1°86 LO1 LO1 81 HN 14 puefaye] suoanQ) 2 s3ury
%0°001 L6T L6T 19 HN 14 puefode 20BLI, UOORDY
%S 66 10T 10T 13 HIN 14 pue[ye] Kuo[o)) [IH uodeag
%0001 061 68 6S Ad 14 QOUIISSTH swyed [eordory
%0001 0ST1 €IS 9 L01 AY 1d QAUILISSIY AY 15910 poomIdyg
%86 69L 69L 8 vzl HIN 1d QoSS JHIA - 15910 POOMIOYS
%9'LL 9¢ 9¢ 33 HIN 14 pue[s] puern Hosoy pue[s] puein
%C 66 1vC 1844 6¢ HIN 14 JIed pueprniy Q0BLID [, 9pISaye ]
%0001 08¢ 0S6 0zl A 14 snsng A swi[ed uIoynos
%0°001 16T 16T s HIN 1d snsng a3e[IIA uoyaseH
%0001 STe L10T 4! 0LT Ad T4 juouL_[) Opue[IO
%3886 we we 8¢ HIN 14 juowId[ e dBBuein
%0001 8S1 1Ly 69 Ad 14 juoue[) J1SeN oye]

TZ/T€/T1 JO TT/TE/TT JO se T/1E/T1 (@ SV (1) SOV adA, yradoxg RN L1 £yaadoag
se LouednddQ  saIS [enuuy Jo Jo se SIS Jo Jrqedopaaq

MG [enuuy

Jquny [ejo],

Jquny [e)o],

29



%T'L6 vy vy 01 441 HN 14 A yueg poomAnuno) 1e sayer|
%L'6S 9 9 @ HN 14 A jueld POOMAIIUNOY) 1E SI0qTY
%0001 ST €0T [43 0S AY T4 onowed BIOD) BIIDL
%0001 18¢€ 65t 9¢8 Ad 14 BSSOpO Hosay qn) dery, % JIoD Ie[[O( I9ATIS
%€°€6 T6t 194 69 HIN Td SIOAN 110 ,] YHON SIOAIN 1 "N - 9BE[[IA [[IWpUIp
%0001 (124 (24 9 4% HIN 14 SIOAIN 10,] YHON dFejLoy YL
%0001 €91 1vC 91 Ad 14 SIOAIN 1101 YION HOSIY AY sIoydasung
%0001 Y0¥ €eL 06 Ad 14 SIOAIN MO YIHON a3e[[IA Ioduold
%0001 209 209 1483 HN 14 SIOKIA 1104 YHON sayeT ould
%6°66 968 968 6ST HA T4 SIDAIN HOJ YHON. skemire oye|
%L'v8 919 919 1zl HIN Td SIOKIA 1101 YHON SORISH BISIA PUB[S]
%9'86 1L6 1L6 6¢ £CC HIN 14 SIOAIN 1101 [ION SABISH I9aurIONG
%0001 0Ly 9IS 4 Il Ad Td SIWOYON URWYOROD) [BAOY
%C 66 l6¢ 16¢ SOl HIN 14 SIWOYON. a3e[[IA o]
%8°L6 87T 8T ve HIN Td SIOYON sojersg oye Aeg
%866 1Ly 1LY 69 HIN 14 Kayory 10d MmN JOURJA] S[IQOJN MITA I0qIeH
%Y 66 Sos So¢ 99 HIN T4 Koyory Hod MoN a3e[[IA epudIOEH
%966 SIS SIS 4 HIN 14 Kayory Hod MAN 2ae[d Anuno)
%0001 LOT SsT LT AY 14 7] 00sEq SI0MENQ) JOIUIM
%0001 9 €Lg 8T Ad 14 Koy Suorg Koy wisorg
%S'L6 £6¢ £6¢ sS HIN 14 ogre 031eT] - soulq Sutiodstyp
%0001 IL1 €6T 6T Ad 14 ogre a3e[[IA uoneoRA
%1°€6 091 091 vl HN 14 o3 316 SWOH O[IQON ET-LiSueys
%0001 801 801 ST HIN 14 ogre] 0317 - Jied osipeied
%9°66 LTt LTT T HIN 1d o3re] aSe[rIA operopig
%886 8¢ 8¢ o HN 1d ogre] sYyeQ Aeg Iseq
%66 19¢ 19¢ 0s HIN 14 ogre] 19puo A umoq
%0001 9¢T °6¢€ 8¢ A 14 uospny S[[IH uoj3urLreg
%0001 6CS €19 54 Ad 14 AeprjoH Sjred [9ARIL ABPIOH
%0001 L91 g4 Y4 Ad 14 yoeag SIOAN MO ay 3o
%0001 YLT 96¢ 8 BULIBIA 14 yoeaq SIAIN MO (9) euLIRIA 9B YSI
%0001 6C1 26T 9 LE AY 14 SIOKIN 110 yoeaq SIKIN 104
%L 66 08¢ 08¢ LL HIN 14 uojud[[g S3IRISH POOMITPIY
%¥'€9 €6 €6 ® HN 14 uoyuaf[g 2400 Au0[0)) 18 $eQ YL
%116 SOv'T SO¥'T S (379 HN 1d uoyud[|g 240D Auojo)
%0001 69¢ LLY 11 BULIBIA 14 urpaun( BULIBA [ IYIBN
%¥'86 6LE 6LE 8t HIN 14 urpaung USARH oYe]
%0°001 8 09T 1 8¢ Ad 14 TOATY [BISAID) SO[S] [e1SA1D)
%0001 91¢ 393 14 BULIBJA Td 2331100 (0) rULIR]N STE[[IA ZOHOD)
%S'¥6 181 181 61 HIN 14 1ojeMIed[ ) 93poT e AI'S
%G8°S6 9¢1 oSl 61 HN T4 191BMIBI[D) age[[IA dueT Apeys
TZ/T€/T1 JO TT/TE/TT JO se T/1E/T1 (@ SV (1) SOV adA, yradoxg RN L1 £yaadoag
se LouednddQ  saIS [enuuy Jo Jo se SIS Jo Jrqedopaaq

MG [enuuy

Jquny [ejo],

Jquny [e)o],

30



%0001 €87 €8¢ |83 HN v [SREl ALY apedse)) p1oouo)
%0001 €9 (823 LOS 6 Ad VO asnoY uogoI) sSuuidg ayy Jo oyer|
%0001 1 (343 8 991 AY v SNe[OdIN USPUIA OXe']
%0001 61 Y61 (44 HN VO 0JSOPOIN (2) poomero)
Yo - 96 9 A A0 BULIB]A (8) 11059y A seun( euLIR]A!
%0001 (x4 6L 6¢ Ad v BOOJUBI yorag apanL
%0001 6 0L1 44 AY v smo H0S3Y ESOIOPUO]
%0001 szl szl I 81 HN VO S0SQ SO REOREN
%— — 284 98 AY VO 20ye, OYE (3) (9) AayreA 2oyE],
Y%— — 66T 0€ £0v Ad VO pue[oA0ID (8) saxyerT anwaso X
%9°66 we we oy HN VO ousoxy SUOSEIS N0
Y% — — 89T Z19 AY A%0) den juerdiug (8) 1omopymousg
%0001 4 sel |14 Ad VO 9[epIoA0) I9ATY UeISSTY
%0001 981 981 0T HN VO sa10) yied Auofo)
%0001 or¢ or1¢ s HN VO d[[IAonse) 037 [9p MO
{RIWIOJI[B)) WIRYLION
eruIofIfe)
%0°S6 09L°TS L08‘€9 81 9IT'ET IMIBIAl BPLIOL] [B)O],
%1°0T 6v1 331 L HN 14 apdnny RLtlo)
%T18 €€l €€l vl HA 1 syikydoz ONUOAY [IXIS
%0001 oLl YLT w AY Td siykydoz A 9BE[[IA o) 15010
%096 626 626 L9 161 HA 14 siyikydoz HIAL SOIEIST 998 15910,
%L 0L 8IS 8IS Lyl HA 1 s[Aydoz S[IAYdaz o3 [eIsA1D)
%0001 8% 1497 L Ad 14 e[nyonep oA 9083
%0001 8¢ LY9 L11 A 14 AOTUDA JOSY AY 19y sIo[quuiey
%T 66 60€°T 60€°T 01¢ HN 14 ESUETN sarpu Aeg
%0001 128 1zs 8 HIN 14 0OL[EA Yoo1ayIea ]
%886 891 891 ¥C HIN Td sgundg uodre], ua[n uodre],
%086 86¢ 86¢ 8¢ HIA 14 eduwe], 9e[[IA 9o1p01R)
%0001 88 €9¢ 03 Ad 14 A1) sowef g pue[s] duid
%0001 L1 0€T 93 Al 14 [I'H Sutidg Hosay AY sordof,
%0°S8 09¢ 09¢ 8 HIN 1d Bjoseles INOS SPUBLUIY IS JO SPUIA\
%966 1Ly 1LY YL HN 1d ejoseIes YJON SPUBULLY )G JO SPUIAy
%0001 6T 6C 43 HN 14 MIIAIOATY poomsgury
%E'86 6T 6T 4 0 HN 14 epIon) eung HI swed [eordory
%0001 S6 90T 8L AY 14 epIon ejung MIAA JIND
%0001 10T 10T 8T HN 14 epIoD BlUNg oyer] plesowsy
%0001 SLE 8TS 08 AY Td anofIey) 1od soxe 10qIeH
%886 891 891 v HN 14 A yuelg poomAnuno) 1e syeQ
%L 66 LEL LEL ovl HIN 14 AnD ue[d poomAnuno) ye SMopeajA
1Z/1€/21 JO TT/IE/T1 3O se 17/1€/21 (@ PV (@ SV adLy, fradorg ae)s falie} £y1adoag
se LduedndQ $9JIS [enuuy Jo JO se saIg Jo Jrqedopaadq

MG [enuuy

Jquny [ejo],

Jquny [e)o],

31



%8388 08% 08¥ oy 431 HN A uondun( ayoedy BIA 99[0q
%¥'66 91 91 S [%3 HN v uondun( ayoedy g [euaq
%0001 s0¢€ 09§ 39 Ad A% uopouny ayoedy AX dpisAnuno)
%0001 €Tl €Tl L1 HIN A uonoun( ayoedy jseq ayoedy
SBUOZIY
%0°66 0ET°L LLL'EY LIL 0€0°S JOIRIA BIUIOJI[ED) [€)0 ],
%E'86 00€ 00€ 6 €11 HN VO Tew]Ag sajes oSenues
%0001 0LT 0L 43 HIN VO AdeA Suudg e[ 1opySidue]
%0001 8¢ 8¢ 134 HN v aojueg 00IqMOPEIA
%0001 0T L81 oy 0r¢ AY VO vIeqIeg BIUES 0sQ oyduEy
%0001 991 991 61 HN VO oyery wumg) v anbieg
%0001 9¢1 9¢1 81 HIN VO oyery Soje)SH sewed se|
%0001 (x4 10t S¢ Ad v 1esa(J wied sSundg wyeq
%0001 w (343 € 661 Ad VO souroreq oyuag ues
Yo — — SIT 8y Ad A%0) BURIOO (8) youey saun(g dny1oeg
%— — 6€¢€ 9 69 Al VO [I'H uesIop (8) I1H uesio
%0001 8t (143 €L AY v S0JIUdA SO SSAUIAPIA
%0001 9L TS o1 9LI Ad VO [nuep 001 O1d
%0001 0S L8T 161 AY VO 2A0D) duid-P[IM[IAP] PIIMIIAP]
%€ 8L 861 861 [44 HN v 1PWRH Aeprjoy [edoy
%E°66 o1 orl 61 HN v uofe) [ Ka[[eA oyoury
%0001 8¢T 8ST 0z HN VO uole) 19 eSO OyOuLY
%0001 ST Il S 34! AY VO osuedosaq s3undg eyuezyeQ
%0001 44 or1 ® Ad VO A1) [eIpayre) 11059y AY SiseQ s3undg wieq
%166 8€S 8¢S € 1434 HIN VO Aid [eapagre) (3) qnp) Anuno) wied a1eq
%S'86 68€ 68¢ 0€ HIN VO Ka|[eA 21ddy sotouey soT
%0001 1 1Tl €LT Ad VO uopy uokue)) pepajos
SRIWI0JI[B) WIRYINOS
%9°C6 61 6¥1 0T HN VO BI[ESIA SYeQ [ehoy
%— — 901 L Al VO Aa[eA snoog (8) youry zn1) ejueg
%0001 861 861 0€ HIN VO Zn1) ejueg Znr) ejues ezuy a(q
%0001 96¢ 96€ I €9 HN VO [ELALNRUN uprejy odurayuo)
%0001 00€ 00€ 001 HN v odsiqQ sm ues e eunger|
%0001 €TL €TL 88 HIN VO 9sof ueg () (sonadoid f) Spurmisop
%0°001 1LT 1LT 0¢ HIN VO ENJ RN SUOSeag N0, dy) Jo oSe[[IA
%0001 jxal 1Tl o€ HN v osof ueg Aopeysung
%0001 81t 81% 0S HN v asof ueg UBIEAMRH BILIOJIED
%0001 991 9p1 0z HN VO JUBGIOATY SMOPEITA [1enQ)
%— — 44| 4! AY VO Boy1oEd (8) AY odstoueL] uES
1Z/1€/21 JO TT/IE/T1 3O se 17/1€/21 (@ PV (@ SV adLy, fradorg ae)s falie} £y1adoag
se LduedndQ $9JIS [enuuy Jo JO se saIg Jo Jrqedopaadq

MG [enuuy

Jquny [ejo],

Jquny [e)o],

32



%S'86 P8LET 1TI°61 pLT LOET JONIBIA] BUOZLIY [€)O],
%0001 Lyl 9¢¢ 143 Ad v eun g Spueg 1ung
%0001 85T Sre 8T A4 VA4 Bwn g A FPIA BN
%0001 4 081 81 Al A ewmng aTE[[IA (111004
%0001 16 09C 74 A4 A4 eumg ERLALE gRER:Tg |
%0001 151 £€0¢€ 0T Ad zv ewn X ude)
%0001 1€ (134 157 A4 A4 eumg suapIen SMoe)
%0001 65T LEE € 4 Ad VA ewn g sa1y Aqery
%98 €LT €LT 8t HN A4 SInquadIM Jredisop
%0001 LLO' 108°1 Iy 66 HIN VA uoson] (0) HosaY AY 103eh0A
%L'86 S€T S€T 8T HN A4 uosong, IOUBJA] MOIAIIE]
%LL6 06€ 06€ 09 HIN VA4 aduwa], ZV SMOpPEIN 9y ],
%0001 TLL 056 08 A4 v Arp ung osipereq
%0001 yLT 68¢ 9T Ad VA4 MOT moyg U] 9IMUd A
%8°€6 01T 01c 8t HN A4 BUOPaS SMOpEYS BUOPIS

%o — STl 01 A v dwores (8) wisiA Waseq
%996 911 911 Sl HN A4 Xtuaoyd sujed Sutadsiym
%0°L6 661 661 8T HIN v X1uooyq s)yS1oY esuung
%166 991 991 T HN v XTud0yJ SAIYS }19sa(]
%086 £6T £6T LE HN VA4 X1uooyq Sjied [enua)
%696 o€l o€l 91 HN A4 XIuo0yq Iouey do121e)
%1°L6 ST S¥T 1€ HN A4 eLI00d 1SOM [0S [9p BSBD
%38°'S6 8€T 8¢€T € 6T HN VA BLI09d a3e[[IA ofjody
%0001 9€6°1 yI¥'C (433 Ad A4 BSON 10SY JI0D % AY WIOIMIAA
%0001 89T 89T Sy HN A4 eSO POOMIULIE 18 SPURIYSIH YL
%E'66 LOY LOY 4 09 HN A4 eSO SEISIA BUUOADS
%0001 €L8 SHET wl Ad zv BSON 11089y BISIA UON
%0001 18L 009°1 06 A4 A4 eSO jdg esopy
%T 66 £9¢ €9¢ 1S HIN zv BSON BIOUS[EA 9 BPUSLORH
%116 €67 €6C [%3 HN v S[epuUd[D smopeyg wied
%T 66 9€T 9€T 8T HIN VA4 S[epud[D 111 384 [0S [9p ese)
%S'L6 6€C 6€C 6T HN A4 S[epUd[D 11 3s€4 [0S [9p Bse)
%0001 LEI 1444 8LI €LT Ad VA poomuono) Ao[[eA 9pIoA
%0001 18¢€ 18€ SS HN A4 Io[puey) Ka[eA QuIysung
%0001 121 881 91 Ad VA4 OpueID BSE) ISOM SITIYOO
%0001 €S L9L LL Al A4 opueIn ese) SpUEID) BISAL]
%0001 €8 61 ¥l A4 VA4 opuEID) BSE) SPIOA ENSED
%0001 14 34! 9 AY Zv uosuog BISIA A3[[BA
%0001 18 9T Sl A4 A4 uonounf oyoedy 11059y A Y UBIPHOIN
%0001 661 67¢ €€ Ad v uopouny ayoedy AX ung udpjon

St

MG [enuuy

Jquny [ejo],

Jquny [e)o],

33



%0001 8 891 81 AY N SurpueT skejy 11059y Surpue] sAej
%0°001 6€C (43 34 091 Ad N }O2ID) UdID punoisdue) wody
%0001 99T €1¢ €8 Al N 9SnoH Hno) Ay dde) AwrwmN Sury
%0001 LYT S0 001 €61 A4 HN uoydurey yinog 11089y AImqxng,
%0001 79T |47 001 AY HN puowkey SOI0Y aulg
%0001 43! 061 (U4 Ad HN }005003u0)) yorag Apueg
%0001 611 YLT 8t Ad EIQ SIOM LELEE M A
%0001 €1 L0T 8 w Ad I uojuRIL 00 SMOIIEN
%0001 994 0SS 8S Ad JN yorag pIeydIO PIO IsIgauld
%0001 91 LET 09 18 Ad aN YHOMS[[ puod usned
%0001 9 90T 4 06 Ad I JoqIey Ieg SMOLIEN 119S9( N
%0001 €08 €08 14! HIN an I0ATY 9IPPIN SPoo A JuruIddda g/sarerss swerIp
%586 (143 6¢ 9 o HIN an s1yS1oy [onde) PooMUId |
%0001 L6 St szl (344 Ad VN a3puqimg a3puqImg
%0001 e 413 Ly Ad VIN SIUUd( YINos weyyey) plo
%T'L6 9¢ 9¢ vT HN YN PUEPO0Y WD YL
%L €6 6L 6L 61 HN VIN puepOy VIN 1S210[[TH
%0001 08 v61 ST 08 Ad VIN 19189400y poD ade) 03 Kemaren
%L 86 10¢€ 10€ 19 HN 4a yorog 110qoyay SMOPEIJA 10[owE)
%S°66 00T 00T 9% HN 4a Yorag [1oqoyay SMOPEAJA Uadsy
%6°S6 9p1 91 8¢ HN 4a 0I0GS[[TA IBLIQIOOMS
%1°86 YLE YLE 101 HN q4d OIOQS[[IA QA0D) S JOULIBIA
%0001 €6€ €6 4 L9 HN 4a SOMa] sourd Suradsiym
%0001 €6 €6 ST HN aa SIMIT Qe[ [OAINOIN
%666 €L €L 4 68T HN 4a Teog SojRIST PIOJIAIE M
%0°€6 TLe TLe vl HIN 1D WeypuIp YHoN IouBIN 9)e3oU0lS
1ISBIYLION

%L'86 $9€°€ yrr'e — 44 19BN OPRIO[0)) [BIO0],
%¢'66 1494 ey Ss HIN (0)e] uoyuioy], S[[TH Pue[poo
%T'S6 0ST 0S¢ [%3 HN 00 o[geng apue1n ojqang
%L'66 483 e 6€ HN 00 usp[on 1S9\ 90BLID, USP[OD)
Y% — 08 @ AY 00 usp[on (8) AY inog doeLIR T, USP[OD)
%0001 08 08 St HN 00 udp[oH YINOS 90BLI3, USP[OD)
%T 66 €97 €92 [43 HN 00 usp[on 90BII9 L, USP]OD
%086 9¢L 9¢L 66 HN 00 TAuaq 3e[[IA SIITH AepIIOH
%L '96 121 K41 4 HN 00 Toaudg 3TE[[IA 021D Teog
%886 ore (14 8¢ HN 00 sguLidg operojo) 0D 93e[[IA AeprjoH
%0001 LTE LTE 0S HN (0] Ppleywoorg a3e[[IA uoLreWI)
%S°66 209 209 L HN 00 piomy 0D 9BL[[IA 1S91[[IH
:0peIo[o)

St

MG [enuuy

Jquny [ejo],

Jquny [e)o],

34



%0001 9¢¢€ 9¢¢€ LT Ad ON jutod Iepa) AY Aemiorepy
%0001 10¢ L¥S 6 BULIBJN ON Hoynesg (0) euLIRIA 9SnOYIROG
%0001 y61 P61 4 8T HIN ON S[[IAdysy RILESN
%0001 €91 S0€ ye 90¢ Ad ON dUBAPY 3BT I18aI0q
%0001 0¢ 0T 81T VvIL Ad AN KD yred SUIOA®R)) puower(q
%0001 861 861 €€ BULIBJA! A J[[ASaINg (9) eULIBJA] IBd 2)BIS MO[[OH 9]ed
%0001 96 €91 143 66 Ad v Koy 9A0D) USppIH
:seayinos

%786 8E8°ST 6VETT 618 61S°S JONIRIA JSEIYLION [B10 L
%0001 19¢ ¥9¢ 801 Ad IR A2189M ¥091D) Joquu],
%606 L81 L81 I 9% HN vd yodinuep Vd - MOIA UIEJUNON
%0001 414 85¢ 0€ 98 Ad vd 9[[IASIIRYS AY uergoeeddy
%0001 111 8LI 9 €9 Ad vd unnodg unnodog
%L"96 69T 69T 9¢ HIN vd PIRYRIO JIOM VT
%0001 €51 ocy LT 148! Ad vd PUB[[OH MIN yomo Suudg
%0001 01 69T 09 201 Ad vd wdyuBN Ayuno) yoma vd
%0001 34! 0LT ¥ 124 Ad vd S[IAsHeqUT [I'H u1qoy
%0001 L9 L6T 0T 961 Ad vd uoueqa] AoysIoH
%0001 68 08¢ €l €01 Ad vd Iojseoue] W RRIID
%0001 L0T 16€ 49 Ad vd SmgsAnen doJ, punoy
%0001 S€T [S94 68 Ad vd 3mqsinon Kogg Jowwuni(g
%0°001 Syl LT€ S9 Ad vd Smqspnong jsegq nos axeT Ayjowr
%0001 66 (43 €6 A vd 3inqspnong isegq YUION 9¥eT Ao,
%0001 6 $9T 9 4 Al vd 1o ey 3mnqsApen
%876 S6S S6S (34l HIN vd J[iasSrurarg SAI0Y UQAID)
%0001 SIc §9¢C € 98 Ad vd S[[iAsuelImoyg A3[eA ung
%0°S6 61¢€ 61¢ €9 HI vd yeg 93e][IA 1BLIQUIAID
%0001 101 1S1 1S1 Ad AN Sinqsuoirep Ad[[eA u0O0IYOS 931000) e
%0001 LTT1 LLET 10 Ad AN Dse[ng yorag urUUDIgG
%866 413 (41 6L HIN AN 3[[IATOUBIA 3TE[[IA POOMUSAID
%1°S6 LETT LETT 0€ STT HIN AN 1odyjoo] SPUB[POOM S L
%0001 801 9LS SLI AY AN 981000 e adeosq 251000 o]
%0001 $8¢ 00§ S 00T Ad AN yuLo) MOSY AY e ould]y
%0001 101 86¢ ¥6 781 Ad AN p102dy A3[[eA MOpUOY
%806 SE0°T SE0°l 881 HIN N Suniym poomisa1) je a3pry duig
%0001 81¢ 6vS [43 SL Ad N uojuremg sauld BdS
%0001 or S8l (43 Ad N oqnday 1og e INWSAYD
%0001 Tss 679 L6 AY N MILA UBOQ (0) uoey oulg
%0001 ¥8¢C 10t o1 Ad N MITA UBIDO QI0yS pue e
%0001 L0T SvT 1€ Ad N MIIA B0 sure,f Yoy

St

MG [enuuy

Jquny [ejo],

Jquny [e)o],

35



%0001 1 6C 001 01¢ Ad N are|) Jureg oIE[D 1S
%0001 8¢ 9¢1 01 ST Ad N ueueyong 2Ae)) 1edg
%0001 68 68 €1 AY NI 3[SIIED) MON AY OpISaNe]
%0001 L8T 10$ T LET Ad NI aMOH AN ST UIm L
%0001 201 341 99 68C AY NI uojur) SOYe] 20YSISIOH
%0001 1€9 [qra 8 529 Ad NI dqrasareq SoYe uelpuy
%L°18 L6y L6y 24! HIN T QQUOIA S31B)SH BISIA JIOD
%€°06 919 919 a8 HN T uis[g S9)RISH LT MO[[IM
%0001 291 £ 01 1€l AY I 210pIA[g Anuno) auig
%¥'96 €19 €19 48! 091 HN T 1oyaadg saje)s oy Jueseayqd
%0001 424 48] LL 982 AY I Koqury HOsaY AY Teag 180X §,[[oU0D,0
1JNIRTA] ISOMPIJAI

%6°66 6LS8L HsTr €79°T S08°9 JOMNIRIA] }SEIYINOS [EIO ],
%7C 66 €Cs €TS S91 HIN VA J91SAYOUI M soye] Aouadoy
%0001 06 [4¥4 01 9 AY VA Smqsweripm Smqsweripm
%0001 8L9 S8Tl 18 LT Ad VA BuuRqIN uosay dure) o3edylog
%0001 SLS 16L 91 szl Ad VA Surddop, dure) jurod s,A10
%0°001 9 [X34 €98 Ad VA Aqumgy Surpue] eluISHA
Yo — — — €TS 1vS Ad VA eorRWIEf (p) yuawdojaas(g podAeg
%0001 61 T6¢ 08 8¢ Ad VA 1)890N0[D) Keg oyeadesoy)
%0001 oL e 6 0Ll Ad VA sApe[D Smquouk
%0001 €L 9p1 69 Ad VA yorag [EIU0[0) MIIA 10qIeH
%0001 661 661 4] HA VA Amuey) A[nuey) Jo sMopedy
%0001 8 6€€ 74! ST Ad NI Amgsneg Sutpue] 9oyo1y)
%0001 1¥C €39 0ve L9 AY NL PleMUSYOH 20v1], ZOYdIEN
%0001 0T €6 o1 Ad oS CESHUEP sYeQ oYL
%0001 oy €0S ¥ BULIBIA oS uojsofIey) YHoN (o) euLIBJA 95pg SIOATY
%— — €8 08 Ad oS yoeag AN (1) (0) K&1radoiq yoeag AN
%0001 Ll Ll s¢ HN oS 1o[u[ S[[UNI a8e[[IA S$YeO 1IU]
%0001 9 T61 0¢ €L Ad oy AKeld 1reg Sutpuer] eurjore)
%0001 9t 1 IS 0zt Ad ON RIS SAI0YS JEO AMYM
%0001 ST €0T 9% Ad ON A1 speaug jurod 10qier
%0001 vLI 8LT € Ad ON HodmoN ON - sould SuLadsiym
%0001 ¥69 SEL 76 Al ON HodmaN 3001 95000
%L"86 0S1 0S1 0s HN ON HodmaN sourq angog
%0001 LT sty vL AY ON S[[IASYION AN SIAN e
%0001 0T [S¥4 69 Ad ON UoRMIT uojsen) e
%0001 91 Lyy € LLOT Ad ON Jroua] UIRJUNOJA] Ud3ID)
%0001 ST 0€C L e A4 ON a3pry A[[oH A punos [resdog,
%0001 69€ 61% 11 431 AY ON Ayrurmosoy) SOy UM,

TZ/T€/T1 JO TT/TE/TT JO se T/1E/T1 (@ SV (1) SOV adA, yradoxg RN L1 £yaadoag
se LduedndQ $9JIS [enuuy Jo JO se saIg Jo Jrqedopaadq

MG [enuuy

Jquny [ejo],

Jquny [e)o],

36



%116 0L6C vIEE — €LY oyepj pue yej() ‘epeAdN [ej0],
%Z 66 121 1zl 61 HN 1n A) eTIES SUOSEDS [V
Yo— — 6v1 9z AY In ueoLy (8) 98100038
%0001 1483 483 9 HIN 1n ISOM 118 33e[[IA POOMISIM
%6°6L €6 £6T o HN AN SESOA SE'T e3o10g B[IIA
%0°001 44 L1T 11 Ad AN Se30A se] Se3oA se]
%0001 86T 8T LE HN AN seSop se] 150\ oSurwe[g
%L'L6 €97 €92 LE HN AN SEBOA SE] ruRqRD
%E°L8 66T 66T 6¢ HN AN SESOA SE'T apease)) 1op[nog
%*¥'8S £5¢ €6¢ 194 HIN AN SEBOA SE] a3e[[IA ezURUOG
%0001 493 yse L HN AN UOSIOPUSH AN - MIIA UIRIUNOI
%0001 8L1 8LIL 6C HN ait astog $1ISH MOPBIIA IS
%0001 €51 €51 ¥T HN art astog SO)eISH YeOPUBUAYS
%T'S6 1LT LT 8¢ HIN ar astog 2A010) o[dey
%0001 16 16 4! HN ar astog a[ekoy yoeod
:0yep] pue yej() ‘epeAdIN

%L'¥6 9€9°6 69v°T1 89L 9EY'y JMNACA] ISIMPIIA] [BIOL,
%0001 S79 099 6L1 BULIBJA! HO PEIYRIQIBN (o) euLIgIA JuIOg ABg
%0001 181 181 8t AY HO PeayR[qIE (0) ruLIRI U0 AR
%0001 861 LLE oy 991 Ad m S[[OQ UISUOISIAN 110S3Y PEAYMOLTY
%0001 681 8¢ 8y AY m wo[LS 1S9 9pISOeT 00UOYSIN
%0001 9LI €0¢ L1 Ad m BUWONEA A SPOOM 943 JO e]
%0001 L81 0LT (Y41 Al m Aeg uoagImg s1oquir, [mbuel]
%0001 (1147 019 oy €€l Ad m pnowA[q ooy WnowA]d
%6'¢6 re e S6 HIN IM SLITeld juesed|d $918ISH POOMISOM
%0001 St 789 S L0T Ad m UoNIN pue[aye]
%0001 9re 061 144 y1T Ad M UOI[IA Josay Surdwe) ymeyyoe[g
%0001 6€1 1414 0€ (U Ad m uone}S UOPUAT] S[IeI], uoyN X
%0001 611 (Y43 S 86 Al m JuowdL] punoSdure) e ouoISAJ[of JUOWAIL]
%8'S8 20¢ 20€ 9 66 HN M [oisug IOUB] 9Ye] MOQUIEY
%0001 4! 691 |82 601 Ad HO uoyBurwI Ay uoIBuII A
%0001 6L 611 0 341 AY HO uosIpaf e 9sIUAY
%1°89 911 911 L1 HN aN ogre red MOPEIN
%T 1L 66€ 66¢€ 9L HN aN ogreg BISIA BUSNG
%0'18 1ze 1ce 0s HN NN JUNOWosoY SPOOAN 1UNOWASOY
%v'L6 8Tt 8T 88 HN NN pIopoy SOJEISH MAIAIOATY PIOPNO0Y
%S°06 S0 S0$ 9% 0€T HN NN oug e SjIed UoLIRWI)
%L 96 LSy LSy €6 HN NI Koypep opddy s[jous| 1epo)

TZ/T€/T1 JO TT/TE/TT JO se T/1E/T1 (@ SV (1) SOV adA, yradoxg RN L1 Kaadoag
se LduedndQ $9JIS [enuuy Jo JO se saIg Jo Jrqedopaadq

MG [enuuy

Jquny [ejo],

Jquny [e)o],

37



%0001 061 £6v 04 AY X1 SIpOIdN [Inog osipereq
%0001 9 L8€ 0 80T Ad X1 SIIYoYeT e BUIPIN
%0001 661 1€ 9 411 AY pas uagurlieH spurp drdoxy,
%0001 ¥9¢ LTO'T 8 Ad XL ua3urjiey H0SOY AY durysung
%0001 L9T €95 09 AY XL udBurreH jied asipered
%0001 901 10€ 0¢ Ad X1 udSuIey poomaxe]
%0001 06 10€ 0zl 10T AY XL a[[1AuOpIOD) (9) rwOXO ], e
%0001 6Ly TTI LTI Ad X1 runo(q Swed BLOPIA
%0001 54 [4%4 (44 81¢C Ad XL snquinjo) IOATY OpEIO[0))
%0001 S9 €62 %4 (347 Ad XL 1oda3pLg Surpue' Aeg
%0°001 L8T €9 8¢ A XL owre[y sufed owey
ISEXA],
%666 968°T 90t°9 967 TLST JSOMYLION [BI0],
%0001 I viT 09 Ad VM 39010 JOA[IS AY osIpereq
%0001 1 44! o1 L1 Ad VM PEIEN yorag Suog
%0001 61 SIT vl Al VM KoumQ Teg] 1U0SA1)
%0001 €1 ¥8 L 91 Ad M A1D uea0Q LIILEET)
%0001 — 0zs 0€¢ 09¢ Ad VM HodmaN (8) puower oIy
%0001 01 9¢€l1 9 Sy AY VM 90IUOIN 11089y pIIqIopuny ],
%0001 81 99T 0¢ ST Ad VM YMOMUGALYT [HOMUIARST
%0001 |17 61¢€ 901 AY M Jauuo) v (9) 10UU0)) ]
%0001 86T 8T 0s HN VM Aep\ [eIOPO] 3TEI[T SYSOT]
%— — 081 1L Ad VM A1) 118 (8) 3D qreL
%— — 6LT €9 Ad VM 91219U0) (8) 21D Apuein
%0001 €z 09¢ 60€ AY VM SI[EYaYD SI[eyoY)
%0001 LT [§54 413 Ad VM nog UOUIBA JUNON
%0001 91 9T L I¢ AY VM aureg Aeg yong
%0001 16T 91 (%4 69 A4 0 Jouing, (0) AY LoreA odoy
%0001 81C 979 Il AY R(0) SOYI[OM dBe[[IA POOH TN
%0001 81 0LT S 6¢ Ad Ri(0) yoeag yinos 159y SIO[RYM
%0001 9% 1sT L 08 Ad R (0] opiseds apIseas
%0001 9 0T S LS Ad 40 3ouaI0[ Anar ynos
%0001 LET LET |14 HN Ri(0) MIIAIIE] (9) mof[oH [rend
%0001 LT LOY 0¢ Ad 40 ADIAIIE] M3IAITE] PUB[IO]
%686 €81 €81 34 HN 40 ouedng ABE[[IA POOA UOOTE]
%0001 €€ LO€ 0S So1 AY 40 3[EpIOA0[) A oyroeq
%0001 96T 96T 1T HN q0 Seweoe) yooiqmopeys
%0001 8t Is¢€ 911 68¢ AY R:(0) puog puog
%0001 134 8LI ST Ad od yorag [[opury (9) (epeuE)) YR SMMND
ISOMYION

TZ/T€/T1 JO TT/TE/TT JO se T/1E/T1 (@ SV (1) SOV adA, yradoxg RN L1 £yaadoag

se LduedndQ $9JIS [enuuy Jo JO se saIg Jo Jrqedopaadq

MG [enuuy

Jquny [ejo],

Jquny [e)o],

38



‘(suonisiboy - 9 910N 99) ased] punoid Junsixs ue 0) juensind Jueus) e £4q pojerado Arunwwod AY W
"120T 07 SIS [enuue dAey jou pip Ajradoig
‘Ky1odoid s1y) 9A0qe A[)oda1p pajsi] Ajunuwiwiod Judoe(pe 9y} JO S9I08 A} Ul PIPN[OUT UdQ ALY AJIUNWILIOD SIY) 10J SAIOY

3)

@

‘(sosea] ‘¢ 9oN—=eIR( Arejuowd[ddng pue sjudwolelS [RISURUL ‘] WAY] 99S) Auadord euLie]y peay1ag30 auo Suipnjour ‘osed] Jurerodo 9]qe[ooUuLRd-UOU B JOPUN SN 0} PASBI] UdIq Sey pue] @

‘Teuonesado jou st Kradoxd dtyy pue sayis ou dJe 1Y) St Junod Aradord oy ur papnjour Jou SIIJ *[Z0T PU 0ZOT Ul parmboe jasse juswdopadd )

“Tgog ur paxmboe fipdorg ()

‘Aydei3odoy pue juowdanuL ‘FUrtoz ‘Spadu AINJONNSeIJul

“ANTIqISSa00E “OPIAIPQNS 03 AYIGE 500 0} PAIIWI] JOU INq FUIPN[ouT s10j0€) AULW U0 JudFUNU0d ST Judwdo[oAd(] PadojeAdp aq [[IM sa1oe d[qedo[oAdP JeT) doUBINSSE OU 5 UED AL, “djewnrxordde ore oy ()

"010€ 1od SIS ()] UO Paseq PAJRWNSS d1oM SAIOE A} ‘sontadord urelsad 10, -ojewixordde ore soy ()
%996 8PT6L1 6LY°991 L8Y"9 799°ch SIIRIAL [TV [BI0L pUe.t)
%0001 1€0° IST01 80L 6S8°C SEXd, [e)0,
%— — 192 0€1 Ad XL ArowoSiuo (8) (9) 11059y A 0110 e
%0001 ¥8¢C 029 L 6Tl Ad X1 SHI'M 901u0y) e
%0001 0¢ 19¢ 861 304 Ad X1 Komrym Kowryp e
%0001 (454 9¢ [34 Ad X1 0JB[SO M\ AY pud s[rel]
%0001 91¢ €0y (U4 Ad XL OJB[SOM Hojwo) ueynog
%0001 691 £ee 8¢ Ad X1 0JB[SO M\ PHOM 2InsIo]
%0001 €51 06€ LE Ad XL 00B[SO M\ durgsung Anuno)
%0001 €209 SEV'T (U4 Sel Ad X1 ojueg ues AY ung N ung
%0001 L9 £€6T 11 143 Ad XL jutod (o) woxeMe], O]

17/1€/T1 JO TT/1€/T1 JO se 1T/1€/TL (@ SV () SV adLy, faadoag aels L1D £y1adoag
se LduedndQ SIS [enuuy Jo JO se sas Jo Jrqedopaadq

9IS [enuuy Jquny [ejo], Jquny [e)o],

39



Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The description of legal proceedings is incorporated herein by reference from Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data—Note 16. Commitments and Contingencies in this Form 10-K.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.
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PART II

Item S. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities.

Our shares of common stock are traded on the NYSE under the symbol ELS. As of December 31, 2021, there were 293
holders of record for 185,640,379 outstanding shares of our common stock. Additionally, there were 9,305,651 OP Units
outstanding, which are exchangeable for an equivalent number of shares of our common stock or, at our option, cash.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Total Number of Shares

Average Price Paid

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of
Publically Announced Plans

Maximum Number of
Shares that May Yet be
Purchased Under the Plans

Period Purchased (a) per Share (a) or Programs or Programs
1/1/2021-3/31/2021 45770 $ 61.50 None None
4/1/2021-6/30/2021 — 8 — None None
7/1/2021-9/30/2021 — 3 — None None
10/1/2021-12/31/2021 — 3 — None None
1/1/2021-12/31/2021 45,770 $ 61.50 None None

(a) All shares were repurchased at the open market price and represent common stock surrendered to us to satisfy income tax withholding obligations due to
the vesting of Restricted Share Grants. Certain of our executive officers and directors may from time to time adopt non-discretionary, written trading plans
that comply with Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 10b5-1, or otherwise monetize their equity-based compensation. Securities and Exchange
Commission Rule 10b5-1 provides executives with a method to monetize their equity-based compensation in an automatic and non-discretionary manner
over time.

Dividends and Distributions

We distribute regular quarterly dividends to our stockholders. In order to maintain our qualification as a REIT, we are
required, among other things, to distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the
dividends paid deduction and any net capital gain. In addition, we intend to distribute all or substantially all of our net income
so that we will generally not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our earnings.

In general, our Board of Directors makes decisions regarding the nature, frequency and amount of our dividends on a
quarterly basis. The Board considers many factors when making these decisions, including our present and future liquidity
needs, our current and projected financial condition and results of operations. As such, there can be no assurance that we will
maintain the practice of paying regular quarterly dividends to continue to qualify as a REIT. See Item 1A. Risk Factors in this
Form 10-K for a description of factors that may affect our ability to distribute dividends.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and
accompanying footnotes thereto included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. All shares of common stock (“Common
Shares”) and units of common interests in our Operating Partnership (“OP Units”) as well as per share results reflect the two-
for-one stock split that was completed on October 15, 2019.

2021 Accomplishments

We continued our strong performance in 2021, as marked by these key operational and financial accomplishments:

*  Normalized FFO per common share on a fully diluted basis was $2.53 for the year ended December 31, 2021, 17%
higher than the year ended December 31, 2020.

* Core Portfolio generated growth of 9% in income from property operations, excluding deferrals and property
management, for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020.

*  MH occupancy within our Core Portfolio increased by 323 sites during the year ended December 31, 2021, from the
year ended December 31, 2020.

*  Manufactured homeowners within our Core Portfolio increased by 785 to 65,730 as of December 31, 2021 compared
to 64,945 as of December 31, 2020.

* RV Annual occupancy within our Core RV and Thousand Trails portfolios increased by 1,180 sites during the year
ended December 31, 2021, from the year ended December 31, 2020.

e RV and MH rental income within our Core Portfolio increased by 12.9% and 4.7%, respectively, compared to
December 31, 2020.

*  Membership sales and expenses, consisting of membership upgrade sales and expenses, as well as commissions on
camping and Trails Collection passes, contributed $12.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, an increase of
$8.1 million, or 184%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020.

*  New home sales of 1,163 for the year ended December 31, 2021, which was the highest in company history.

e Acquired eleven marinas, five RV communities, a parcel of land occupied by a portion of an RV community managed
by a tenant pursuant to a ground lease, an 80% equity interest in a joint venture with six RV communities, MHVillage/
Datacomp and three land parcels adjacent to our properties with an aggregate purchase price of $715.6 million during
the year ended December 31, 2021.

* Added 1,037 expansion Sites to our Core Portfolio during the year ended December 31, 2021.

*  Originated secured debt with gross proceeds of $270.0 million with a maturity of 10 years and an interest rate of 2.4%
during the year ended December 31, 2021. We used these proceeds to repay $67.0 million of debt due to mature in
2022 at a weighted average rate of 5.1%. The remainder of the proceeds were used to repay a portion of the
outstanding balance on the line of credit.

*  Closed on an amended revolving line of credit with borrowing capacity of $500.0 million and a $300.0 million term
loan during the year ended December 31, 2021.

* Raised our annual dividend rate for 2022 to $1.64 per share of common stock, an increase of 13.1%, or $0.19, over the
current $1.45 per share of common stock for 2021.

*  Sold approximately 1.7 million shares of common stock under our ATM equity offering program with a weighted
average price of $84.48 per share for net proceeds of $138.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Overview and Outlook

We are a self-administered and self-managed real estate investment trust (“REIT”) with headquarters in Chicago, Illinois.
We are a fully integrated owner of lifestyle-oriented properties (“Properties™) consisting of property operations and home sales
and rental operations primarily within manufactured home (“MH”) and recreational vehicle (“RV”’) communities and marinas.
As of December 31, 2021, we owned or had an ownership interest in a portfolio of 444 Properties located throughout the United
States and Canada containing 169,296 individual developed areas (“Sites”). These Properties are located in 35 states and British
Columbia, with more than 110 Properties with lake, river or ocean frontage and more than 120 Properties within 10 miles of the
coastal United States.

We invest in properties in sought-after locations near retirement and vacation destinations and urban areas across the
United States with a focus on delivering an exceptional experience to our residents and guests that results in delivery of value to
stockholders. Our business model is intended to provide an opportunity for increased cash flows and appreciation in value. We
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

seek growth in earnings, Funds from Operations (“FFO”) and cash flows by enhancing the profitability and operation of our
Properties and investments. We accomplish this by attracting and retaining high quality customers to our Properties, who take
pride in our Properties and in their homes and efficiently managing our Properties by increasing occupancy, maintaining
competitive market rents and controlling expenses. We also actively pursue opportunities that fit our acquisition criteria and are
currently engaged in various stages of negotiations relating to the possible acquisition of additional properties.

We believe the demand from baby boomers for MH and RV communities will continue to be strong over the long term.
It is estimated that approximately 10,000 baby boomers are turning 65 daily through 2030. In addition, the population age 55
and older is expected to grow 17% within the next 15 years. These individuals, seeking an active lifestyle, will continue to drive
the market for second-home sales as vacation properties, investment opportunities or retirement retreats. We expect it is likely
that over the next decade, we will continue to see high levels of second-home sales and that manufactured homes and cottages
in our Properties will continue to provide a viable second-home alternative to site-built homes. We also believe the Millennial
and Generation Z demographic will contribute to our future long-term customer pipeline. After conducting a comprehensive
study of RV ownership, according to the Recreational Vehicle Industry Association (“RVIA”), data suggested that RV sales are
expected to benefit from an increase in demand from those born in the United States from 1980 to 2003, or Millennials and Gen
Z, over the coming years. We believe the demand from baby boomers and these younger generations will continue to outpace
supply for MH and RV communities. The entitlement process to develop new MH and RV communities is extremely
restrictive. As a result, there have been limited new communities developed in our target geographic markets.

We generate the majority of our revenues from customers renting our Sites or entering into right-to-use contracts, also
known as membership subscriptions, which provide them access to specific Properties for limited stays. MH Sites are generally
leased on an annual basis to residents who own or lease factory-built homes, including manufactured homes. Annual RV and
marina Sites are leased on an annual basis to customers who generally have an RV, factory-built cottage, boat or other unit
placed on the site, including those Northern properties that are open for the summer season. Seasonal RV and marina Sites are
leased to customers generally for one to six months. Transient RV and marina Sites are leased to customers on a short-term
basis. The revenue from seasonal and transient Sites is generally higher during the first and third quarters. We consider the
transient revenue stream to be our most volatile as it is subject to weather conditions and other factors affecting the marginal
RV customer's vacation and travel preferences. We also generate revenue from customers renting our marina dry storage.
Additionally, we have interests in joint venture Properties for which revenue is classified as Equity in income from
unconsolidated joint ventures on the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

Approximately one quarter of our rental agreements on MH Sites contain rent increase provisions that are directly or
indirectly connected to the published CPI statistics issued from June through September of the year prior to the increase
effective date. Approximately two-thirds of these rental agreements are subject to a CPI floor of approximately 3.0% to 5.0%.

State and local rent control regulations affect 28 wholly-owned Properties, including 15 of our 49 California Properties,
all 7 of our Delaware Properties, 1 of our 5 Massachusetts Properties, 1 of our 7 New York Properties, 1 of our 14 Washington
Properties and 3 of our 11 Oregon Properties. These rent control regulations govern rent increases and generally permit us to
increase rates by a percentage of the increase in the national, regional or local CPI, depending on the rent control ordinance.
These rate increases generally range from 60.0% to 100.0% of CPI with certain limits depending on the jurisdiction.

The following table shows the breakdown of our Sites by type (amounts are approximate):

Total Sites as of
December 31, 2021

MH Sites 73,400
RV Sites:

Annual 33,700

Seasonal 10,900

Transient 16,500
Marina Slips 6,800
Membership ® 25,100
Joint Ventures ® 2,800
Total ® 169,300

" Primarily utilized to service the approximately 125,100 members. Includes approximately 6,300 Sites rented on an annual basis.
@ Includes approximately 1,800 annual Sites and 1,000 transient Sites.
®  Total does not foot due to rounding.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Membership Sites are primarily utilized to service approximately 125,100 annual subscription members, including
23,600 free trial members added through our RV dealer program. The remaining 101,500 have purchased a Thousand Trails
Camping (“TTC”) membership, which is an annual subscription providing the member access to our Properties in one to five
geographic regions of the United States. In 2021, a TTC membership for a single geographic region required an annual payment
of $615. In addition, members are eligible to upgrade their subscriptions. A membership upgrade may offer (1) increased length
of consecutive stay by 50% (i.e., up to 21 days); (2) ability to make earlier advance reservations; (3) discounts on rental units;
(4) access to additional Properties, which may include use of Sites at non-membership RV communities, or (5) membership in
discount travel programs. Each membership upgrade requires a non-refundable upfront payment, for which we offer financing
options to eligible customers. As a customer acquisition tool, we have relationships with a network of RV dealers to provide
each new RV owner with a free one-year trial subscription to a TTC membership.

In our Home Sales and Rentals Operations business, our revenue streams include home sales, home rentals and
brokerage services and ancillary activities. We generate revenue through home sales and rental operations by selling or leasing
manufactured homes and cottages that are located in Properties owned and managed by us. We believe renting our vacant
homes represents an attractive source of occupancy and an opportunity to convert the renter to a homebuyer in the future. We
also sell and rent homes through our joint venture, ECHO Financing, LLC (the “ECHO JV”). Additionally, home sale
brokerage services are offered to our residents who may choose to sell their homes rather than relocate them when moving from
a Property. At certain Properties, we operate ancillary facilities, such as golf courses, pro shops, stores and restaurants.

In the manufactured housing industry, options for home financing, also known as chattel financing, are limited. Chattel
financing options available today include community owner-funded programs or third-party lender programs that provide
subsidized financing to customers and often require the community owner to guarantee customer defaults. Third-party lender
programs have stringent underwriting criteria, sizable down payment requirements, short term loan amortization and high
interest rates. We have a limited program under which we purchase loans made by an unaffiliated lender to homebuyers at our
Properties.

Under the existing administration, the Federal Housing Finance Agency (the “FHFA”), overseer of Fannie Mae, Freddie
Mac (the “GSEs”) and the Federal Home Loan Banks, has focused on equitable access to affordable and sustainable housing.
In 2017, the FHFA published the Underserved Markets Plans for 2018-2020 (the “GSE Plans”) under the Duty-To-Serve
(“DTS”) provisions mandated by the Federal Housing Enterprises Financial Safety and Soundness Act of 1992, as amended by
the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008. The GSEs subsequently added a 2021 Plan as a one-year extension and have
since submitted their current 2022-2024 Plans to FHFA and have received comment.

The FHFA mandate requires the GSE Plans to address leadership in developing loan products and flexible underwriting
guidelines in underserved markets to facilitate a secondary market for mortgages on manufactured homes titled as real property
or personal property, blanket loans for certain categories of manufactured housing communities, preserving the affordability of
housing for renters and homebuyers, and housing in rural markets. While the FHFA and the current GSE 2022-24 DTS Plans
may have a positive impact on the ability of our customers to obtain chattel financing, the actual impact on us, as well as the
industry, cannot be determined at this time.

In addition to net income computed in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”), we
assess and measure our overall financial and operating performance using certain Non-GAAP supplemental measures, which
include: (i) FFO, (ii) Normalized FFO, (iii) Income from property operations, (iv) Income from property operations, excluding
deferrals and property management, (v) Core Portfolio income from property operations, excluding deferrals and property
management (operating results for Properties owned and operated in both periods under comparison) and (vi) Income from
rental operations, net of depreciation. We use these measures internally to evaluate the operating performance of our portfolio
and provide a basis for comparison with other real estate companies. Definitions and reconciliations of these measures to the
most comparable GAAP measures are included below in this discussion.

COVID-19 Pandemic Update

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) a
pandemic. Since the COVID-19 pandemic began, we have taken actions to prioritize the safety and security of our employees,
residents and customers, while maintaining our high-quality standards in service to our residents and customers. We have
implemented and may continue to implement Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (“CDC”) and local public health
department guidelines and protocols for social distancing and enhanced community and office cleaning procedures. Our
Properties continue to be open subject to seasons of operations and state and local guidelines. Our property offices are open to
residents and customers and we are complying with CDC recommended protocols.

We began 2021 in an uncertain environment with the Canadian border closed and changing travel patterns throughout
our portfolio. As 2021 progressed we experienced strong demand across our business, particularly in our RV portfolio, as our
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

customers sought safe vacation and leisure activities and appreciated the opportunity to spend time outdoors. For additional
details, see Results Overview.

We attribute the solid performance of our business to the fundamentals of our business model. The property locations
and the lifestyle we offer have broad appeal to customers interested in enjoying an outdoor experience. We believe this is
particularly relevant in a COVID-19 impacted environment. We intend to continue to monitor the rapidly evolving situation and
we may take further actions that alter our business operations as may be required and that are in the best interests of our
employees, residents, customers and shareholders. The extent of the impact that COVID-19 will have on our business going
forward, including our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, is dependent on multiple factors, many of
which are unknown. For additional details, see Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Results Overview

For the year ended December 31, 2021, net income available for Common Stockholders increased $34.2 million, or
$0.18 per fully diluted Common Share, to $262.5 million, or $1.43 per fully diluted Common Share, compared to $228.3
million, or $1.25 per fully diluted Common Share, for the same period in 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2021, FFO
available for Common Stock and OP Unit holders increased $79.2 million,or $0.41 per fully diluted Common Share, to $485.6
million, or $2.52 per fully diluted Common Share, compared to $406.4 million, or $2.11 per fully diluted Common Share, for
the same period in 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2021, Normalized FFO available for Common Stock and OP Unit
holders increased $70.3 million, or $0.36 per fully diluted Common Share, to $489.0 million, or $2.53 per fully diluted
Common Share, compared to $418.7 million, or $2.17 per fully diluted Common Share, for the same period in 2020.

Our Core Portfolio could change from time-to-time depending on acquisitions, dispositions and significant transactions
or unique situations. Our Core Portfolio in 2021 and 2020 includes all Properties acquired prior to December 31, 2019 that we
have owned and operated continuously since January 1, 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2021, property operating
revenues in our Core Portfolio, excluding deferrals, increased 8.3% and property operating expenses in our Core Portfolio,
excluding deferrals and property management, increased 7.7%, from the year ended December 31, 2020, resulting in an
increase in income from property operations, excluding deferrals and property management, of 8.8%.

While we continue to focus on increasing the number of manufactured homeowners in our Core Portfolio, we also
believe renting our vacant homes represents an attractive source of occupancy and an opportunity to potentially convert the
renter to a new homebuyer in the future. We continue to expect there to be fluctuations in the sources of occupancy gains
depending on local market conditions, availability of vacant sites and success with converting renters to homeowners. Our Core
Portfolio average occupancy, including both homeowners and renters, in our MH communities was 95.2% for the year ended
December 31, 2021, compared to 95.2% for the same period in 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2021, our Core
Portfolio occupancy increased by 323 sites with an increase in homeowner occupancy of 785 sites. In addition to higher
occupancy, we have experienced rental rate increases during the year ended December 31, 2021, contributing to a growth of
4.2% in MH rental income compared to the same period in 2020.

RV rental income in our Core Portfolio for the year ended December 31, 2021, was 12.9% higher than the same period in
2020 and was driven by an increase in annual and transient revenues of 6.8% and 43.2%, respectively, for the year ended
December 31, 2021. The increases for annual and transient revenues were due to an increase in occupancy and rates.

We continue to experience strong performance in our membership base within our Thousand Trails portfolio. For the
year ended December 31, 2021, annual membership subscriptions revenue increased 9.7% over the same period in 2020. We
sold 23,923 TTC memberships during the year ended December 31, 2021, representing a 16.2% increase in sales volume
compared to the same period in 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2021, membership upgrade sales increased $14.5
million compared to the same period in 2020, driven by approximately 4,900 membership upgrade sales during the year ended
December 31, 2021, representing an increase of 44% in sales volume. In addition, we activated 26,600 TTC memberships
through our RV dealer program for the year ended December 31, 2021.
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The following table provides additional details regarding our TTC memberships for the past five years:

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
TTC Origination 50,523 44,129 41,484 37,528 31,618
TTC Sales 23,923 20,587 19,267 17,194 14,128
RV Dealer TTC Activations 26,600 23,542 22,217 20,334 17,490

Demand for our homes and communities remains strong as evidenced by factors including our high occupancy levels.
During 2021, we experienced an all-time high for new home sales with an 81% increase from 2020 with over 1,163 new home
sales during the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to 644 new home sales during the year ended December 31, 2020.
The increases in new home sales was primarily due to favorable housing trends and timing of the availability of home inventory
ready for sale.

As of December 31, 2021, we had 3,462 occupied rental homes in our Core MH communities, including 236 homes
rented through our ECHO JV. Our Core Portfolio income from rental operations, net of depreciation, was $32.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2021 and $31.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. Approximately $31.5 million and
$31.4 million of rental operations revenue related to Site rental was included in MH base rental income in our Core Portfolio for
the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

Our gross investment in real estate increased $828.7 million to $6,989.1 million as of December 31, 2021, from $6,160.4
million as of December 31, 2020, primarily due to new acquisitions as well as capital improvements during the year ended
December 31, 2021.
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Property Acquisitions/Dispositions and Joint Ventures

The following chart lists the Properties acquired or sold from January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2021 and Sites
added through expansion opportunities at our existing Properties.

Type of
Location Property Transaction Date Sites
Total Sites as of January 1, 2020 @ 156,500
Acquisition Properties:
Marina Dunes RV Park Marina, California RV October 15, 2020 96
Acorn Campground Green Creek, New Jersey RV October 16, 2020 323
Dolce Vita at Superstition Mountain Apache Junction, Arizona MH December 8, 2020 484
Leisure World RV Resort Weslaco, Texas RV December 9, 2020 333
Trails End RV Resort Weslaco, Texas RV December 9, 2020 362
Meridian RV Resort Apache Junction, Arizona RV December 14, 2020 264
Harbor Point RV Community Sneads Ferry, North Carolina RV December 16, 2020 203
Topsail Sound RV Park Holly Ridge, North Carolina RV December 17, 2020 230
Marker 1 Marina Dunedin, Florida Marina December 30, 2020 477
Okeechobee KOA Resort Okeechobee, Florida RV January 21, 2021 740
Cortez Village Marina Cortez, Florida Marina February 5, 2021 353
Fish Tale Marina Fort Myers Beach, Florida Marina February 5, 2021 296
Hi-Lift Marina Adventure, Florida Marina February 5, 2021 211
Hidden Harbour Marina Pompano Beach, Florida Marina February 5, 2021 357
Inlet Harbor Marina Ponce Inlet, Florida Marina February 5, 2021 295
Palm Harbour Marina Cape Haze, Florida Marina February 5, 2021 260
Riverwatch Marina Stuart, Florida Marina February 5, 2021 306
Boathouse Marina Beaufort, North Carolina Marina February 5, 2021 547
Dale Hollow State Park Marina Burkesville, Kentucky Marina February 5, 2021 198
Bay Point Marina Marblehead, Ohio Marina February 5, 2021 841
Rivers Edge Marina North Charleston, South Carolina Marina February 5, 2021 503
Pine Haven Cape May, New Jersey RV June 3, 2021 629
Myrtle Beach Property @ Myrtle Beach, South Carolina RV August 26, 2021 813
Voyager RV Resort ) Tucson, Arizona RV October 14, 2021 —
RVC Portfolio Multiple % November 1, 2021 988
Hope Valley Turner, Oregon RV November 18, 2021 164
Lake Conroe Montgomery, Texas RV December 15, 2021 261
Expansion Site Development:
Sites added (reconfigured) in 2020 1,202
Sites added (reconfigured) in 2021 1,037
Total Sites as of December 31, 2021 @ 169,300

(O]

Includes the marina slips.

Sites are approximate.

RV community operated by a tenant pursuant to an existing ground lease (See Note 6 - Acquisitions).

On October 14, 2021, we completed the acquisition of the remaining interest in the Voyager joint venture (see Note 6 - Acquisitions). The Voyager joint
venture sites were previously included in the Total Sites as of January 1, 2020.

2
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Markets

The following table identifies our largest markets by number of Sites and provides information regarding our Properties
(excluding eleven Properties owned through our Joint Ventures).

Percent of Total

Number of Percent of Property Operating
Major Market Total Sites Properties Total Sites Revenue
Florida 63,807 150 383 % 44.0 %
Northeast 21,349 57 12.8 % 11.4 %
Arizona 19,121 43 11.5% 9.4 %
California 13,777 49 8.3 % 12.7 %
Midwest 12,469 31 7.5 % 5.7 %
Southeast 12,541 33 7.5 % 49 %
Texas 10,251 20 6.2 % 2.8 %
Northwest 6,406 26 3.8 % 3.4 %
Colorado 3,444 10 2.1% 33 %
Other 3,314 14 2.0 % 2.4 %
Total 166,479 433 100.0 % 100.0 %

M Excludes the impact of GAAP deferrals of membership upgrade sales upfront payments and membership sales commissions as well as approximately

$19.1 million of property operating revenue not allocated to Properties, which consists primarily of membership upgrade sales.

Qualification as a REIT

Commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 1993, we have elected to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. We believe we have met the requirements and have qualified for taxation as a REIT and we plan to
continue to meet these requirements. The requirements for qualification as a REIT are highly technical and complex, as they
pertain to the ownership of our outstanding stock, the nature of our assets, the sources of our income and the amount of our
distributions to our stockholders. Examples include that at least 95% of our gross income must come from sources that are
itemized in the REIT tax laws and at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, computed without regard to our deduction for
dividends paid and our net capital gain, must be distributed to stockholders annually. If we fail to qualify as a REIT and are
unable to correct such failure, we would be subject to U.S. federal income tax at regular corporate rates. Additionally, we could
remain disqualified as a REIT for four years following the year we first failed to qualify. Even if we qualify for taxation as a
REIT, we are subject to certain foreign, state and local taxes on our income and property and U.S. federal income and excise
taxes on our undistributed income.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations include certain Non-GAAP
financial measures that in management's view of the business are meaningful as they allow investors the ability to understand
key operating details of our business both with and without regard to certain accounting conventions or items that may not
always be indicative of recurring annual cash flow of the portfolio. These Non-GAAP financial measures as determined and
presented by us may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other companies and include income from
property operations and Core Portfolio, FFO, Normalized FFO and income from rental operations, net of depreciation.

We believe investors should review Income from property operations and Core Portfolio, FFO, Normalized FFO and
Income from rental operations, net of depreciation, along with GAAP net income and cash flows from operating activities,
investing activities and financing activities, when evaluating an equity REIT's operating performance. A discussion of Income
from property operations and Core Portfolio, FFO, Normalized FFO and Income from rental operations, net of depreciation and
a reconciliation to net income, are included below.

Income from Property Operations and Core Portfolio

We use income from property operations, income from property operations, excluding deferrals and property
management and Core Portfolio income from property operations, excluding deferrals and property management, as alternative
measures to evaluate the operating results of our Properties. Income from property operations represents rental income,
membership subscriptions and upgrade sales, utility and other income less property and rental home operating and maintenance
expenses, real estate taxes, sales and marketing expenses and property management expenses. Income from property operations,
excluding deferrals and property management, represents income from property operations excluding property management
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expenses and the impact of the GAAP deferrals of membership upgrade sales upfront payments and membership sales
commissions, net. For comparative purposes, we present bad debt expense within Property operating, maintenance and real
estate taxes in the current and prior periods.

Our Core Portfolio consists of our Properties owned and operated during all of 2020 and 2021. Core Portfolio income
from property operations, excluding deferrals and property management, is useful to investors for annual comparison as it
removes the fluctuations associated with acquisitions, dispositions and significant transactions or unique situations. Our Non-
Core Portfolio includes all Properties that were not owned and operated during all of 2020 and 2021. This includes, but is not
limited to, eight properties and one marina acquired during 2020 and six properties and eleven marinas acquired during 2021.

Funds from Operations (“FFO”) and Normalized Funds from Operations (“Normalized FFO”)

We define FFO as net income, computed in accordance with GAAP, excluding gains or losses from sales of properties,
depreciation and amortization related to real estate, impairment charges and adjustments to reflect our share of FFO of
unconsolidated joint ventures. Adjustments for unconsolidated joint ventures are calculated to reflect FFO on the same basis.
We compute FFO in accordance with our interpretation of standards established by the National Association of Real Estate
Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”), which may not be comparable to FFO reported by other REITs that do not define the term in
accordance with the current NAREIT definition or that interpret the current NAREIT definition differently than we do. We
receive non-refundable upfront payments from membership upgrade contracts. In accordance with GAAP, the non-refundable
upfront payments and related commissions are deferred and amortized over the estimated membership upgrade contract term.
Although the NAREIT definition of FFO does not address the treatment of non-refundable upfront payments, we believe that it
is appropriate to adjust for the impact of the deferral activity in our calculation of FFO.

We define Normalized FFO as FFO excluding non-operating income and expense items such as gains and losses from
early debt extinguishment, including prepayment penalties and defeasance costs and other miscellaneous non-comparable items.
Normalized FFO presented herein is not necessarily comparable to Normalized FFO presented by other real estate companies
due to the fact that not all real estate companies use the same methodology for computing this amount.

We believe that FFO and Normalized FFO are helpful to investors as supplemental measures of the performance of an
equity REIT. We believe that by excluding the effect of gains or losses from sales of properties, depreciation and amortization
related to real estate and impairment charges, which are based on historical costs and which may be of limited relevance in
evaluating current performance, FFO can facilitate comparisons of operating performance between periods and among other
equity REITs. We further believe that Normalized FFO provides useful information to investors, analysts and our management
because it allows them to compare our operating performance to the operating performance of other real estate companies and
between periods on a consistent basis without having to account for differences not related to our normal operations. For
example, we believe that excluding the early extinguishment of debt and other miscellaneous non-comparable items from FFO
allows investors, analysts and our management to assess the sustainability of operating performance in future periods because
these costs do not affect the future operations of the properties. In some cases, we provide information about identified non-
cash components of FFO and Normalized FFO because it allows investors, analysts and our management to assess the impact of
those items.

Income from Rental Operations, Net of Depreciation

We use income from rental operations, net of depreciation as an alternative measure to evaluate the operating results of
our home rental program. Income from rental operations, net of depreciation represents income from rental operations less
depreciation expense on rental homes. We believe this measure is meaningful for investors as it provides a complete picture of
the home rental program operating results including the impact of depreciation which affects our home rental program
investment decisions.

Our definitions and calculations of these Non-GAAP financial and operating measures and other terms may differ from
the definitions and methodologies used by other REITs and accordingly, may not be comparable. These Non-GAAP financial
and operating measures do not represent cash generated from operating activities in accordance with GAAP, nor do they
represent cash available to pay distributions and should not be considered as an alternative to net income, determined in
accordance with GAAP, as an indication of our financial performance, or to cash flows from operating activities, determined in
accordance with GAAP, as a measure of our liquidity, nor is it indicative of funds available to fund our cash needs, including
our ability to make cash distributions.
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The following table reconciles net income available for Common Stockholders to income from property operations for
the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

Total Portfolio

(amounts in thousands) 2021 2020 2019
Computation of Income from Property Operations:
Net income available for Common Stockholders $ 262,462 $ 228268 $ 279,123
Redeemable preferred stock dividends 16 16 16
Income allocated to non-controlling interests — Common OP Units 13,522 13,132 16,783
Equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures (3,881) (5,399) (8,755)
Income before equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures 272,119 236,017 287,167
Loss/(Gain) on sale of real estate, net 59 — (52,507)
Total other expenses, net 332,192 299,351 279,633
(Gain)/Loss from home sales operations and other (8,356) 3,046 1,349
Income from property operations $ 596,014 § 538,414 $ 515,642

The following table presents a calculation of FFO available for Common Stock and OP Unitholders and Normalized FFO
available for Common Stock and OP Unitholders for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

(amounts in thousands) 2021 2020 2019
Computation of FFO and Normalized FFO:
Net income available for Common Stockholders $ 262,462 $ 228,268 $ 279,123
Income allocated to non-controlling interests — Common OP Units 13,522 13,132 16,783
Membership upgrade sales upfront payments, deferred, net 25,079 12,062 10,451
Membership sales commissions, deferred, net (5,075) (1,660) (1,219)
Depreciation and amortization 188,444 155,131 152,110
Depreciation on unconsolidated joint ventures 1,083 727 1,223
Gain on unconsolidated joint ventures — (1,229) —
Loss/(Gain) on sale of real estate, net 59 — (52,507)
FFO available for Common Stock and OP Unit holders 485,574 406,431 405,964
Early debt retirement 2,784 10,786 2,085
Transaction costs 598 — —
Insurance proceeds due to catastrophic weather event and other, net — — (6,205)
COVID-19 expenses — 1,446 —
Normalized FFO available for Common Stock and OP Unit holders $ 488956 $ 418,663 $§ 401,844
Weighted average Common Shares outstanding—Fully Diluted 192,883 192,555 191,995
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Results of Operations

This section discusses the comparison of our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2021 and December
31, 2020. For the comparison of our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 and
discussion of our operating activities, investing activities and financing activities for these years, refer to Part II, Item 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of the Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, filed with the SEC on February 23, 2021.

Income from Property Operations

The following table summarizes certain financial and statistical data for our Core Portfolio and total portfolio:

Core Portfolio Total Portfolio
% %

(amounts in thousands) 2021 2020 Variance Change 2021 2020 Variance Change
MH base rental income ) $ 599,189 $ 572,222 $ 26,967 47 % $ 603,066 $ 572,673 $ 30,393 53%
Rental home income 16,657 16,428 229 1.4 % 16,696 16,438 258 1.6 %
RV and marina base rental income 324,125 287,210 36,915 12.9 % 362,818 287,835 74,983 26.1 %
Annual membership subscriptions 58,245 53,085 5,160 9.7 % 58,251 53,085 5,166 9.7 %
Membership upgrades sales current period, gross 36,270 21,739 14,531 66.8 % 36,270 21,739 14,531 66.8 %
Utility and other income 103,193 99,459 3,734 3.8 % 108,543 99,702 8,841 89 %

Property operating revenues, excluding deferrals 1,137,679 1,050,143 87,536 83 % 1,185,644 1,051,472 134,172 12.8 %
Property operating and maintenance ('@ 380,104 354,650 25,454 72 % 401,506 355,291 46,215 13.0 %
Real estate taxes 68,528 65,912 2,616 4.0 % 72,671 66,120 6,551 9.9 %
Rental home operating and maintenance 5,667 5,932 (265) (4.5)% 5,727 5,946 (219) 3. 1%
Sales and marketing, gross 23,734 17,333 6,401 36.9 % 23,743 17,332 6,411 37.0 %

Property operating expenses, excluding

deferrals and property management 478,033 443,827 34,206 7.7 % 503,647 444,689 58,958 13.3 %
Income from property operations, excluding
deferrals and property management(3> 659,646 606,316 53,330 8.8 % 681,997 606,783 75,214 12.4 %
Property management 65,969 57,967 8,002 13.8 % 65,979 57,967 8,012 13.8 %
Income from property operations, excluding
deferrals @ 593,677 548,349 45,328 83 % 616,018 548,816 67,202 12.2 %
Membership upgrade sales upfront payments and
membership sales commission, deferred, net 20,004 10,403 9,601 92.3 % 20,004 10,402 9,602 92.3 %
Income from property operations ) $ 573,673 $ 537,946 $§ 35,727 6.6 % $ 596,014 $ 538414 $ 57,600 10.7 %

(" Rental income consists of the following total portfolio income items in this table: 1) MH base rental income, 2) Rental home income, 3) RV and marina
base rental income and 4) Utility income, which is calculated by subtracting Other income on the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive
Income from Utility and other income in this table. The difference between the sum of the total portfolio income items and Rental income on the
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income is bad debt expense, which is presented in Property operating and maintenance expense
in this table.

@ Includes bad debt expense for all periods presented.

®  See Non-GAAP Financial Measures section of the Management Discussion and Analysis for definitions and reconciliations of these Non-GAAP measures
to Net Income available for Common Shareholders.

Total portfolio income from property operations for 2021 increased $57.6 million, or 10.7%, from 2020, driven by an
increase of $35.7 million, or 6.6%, from our Core Portfolio and an increase of $21.9 million from our Non-Core Portfolio. The
increase in income from property operations from our Core Portfolio was primarily due to increases in RV and marina base
rental income, MH base rental income and Membership upgrade sales, gross. The increase in income from property operations
from our Non-Core Portfolio was attributed to income from properties acquired in the fourth quarter of 2020 and during the
year ended December 31, 2021.

Property Operating Revenues

MH base rental income in our Core Portfolio for 2021 increased $27.0 million, or 4.7%, from 2020, which reflects 4.2%
growth from rate increases and 0.5% growth from occupancy gains. The average monthly base rental income per Site in our
Core portfolio increased to approximately $724 in 2021 from approximately $695 in 2020. The average occupancy in our Core
Portfolio was 95.2% in both 2021 and 2020.
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RV and marina base rental income is comprised of the following:

Core Portfolio Total Portfolio
(amounts in thousands) 2021 2020 Variance % Change 2021 2020 Variance % Change
Annual $ 205,023 $ 191,942 $ 13,081 6.8% $ 237204 § 192,237 $§ 44,967 23.4 %
Seasonal 39,824 39,912 (88) (0.2)% 41,742 39,959 1,783 45 %
Transient 79,278 55,356 23,922 432 % 83,872 55,639 28,233 50.7 %
RV and marina base rental income $ 324,125 $ 287,210 $ 36915 129 % $ 362,818 § 287,835 § 74,983 26.1 %

RV base rental income in our Core Portfolio for 2021 increased $36.9 million, or 12.9%, from 2020 primarily due to
increases in Transient RV and marina base rental income of $23.9 million, or 43.2% and Annual RV and marina base rental
income of $13.1 million, or 6.8%. Transient RV and marina base rental income increased across all regions, primarily due to
recovery of demand following cancellations in RV reservations and site closures during the year ended December 31, 2020, as a
result of COVID-19. We continue to see positive Transient demand as our customers seek safe vacation and leisure activities
and value the opportunity to spend time outdoors. The increase in Annual RV and marina base rental income was due to growth
from rate and occupancy.

Membership upgrade sales, gross for 2021 increased $14.5 million, or 66.8%, from 2020. The increase in membership
upgrade sales was due to approximately 4,900 upgrade sales during the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to 3,400
during the year ended December 31, 2020, an increase of 44%. We also experienced a 16% increase in the average sales price
per upgrade sold during the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the same period ended December 31, 2020. The
increase in upgrade sales and average sales price was driven by an increase in customer demand, including a new upgrade
product, Adventure, introduced during the first quarter of 2021.

Utility and other income in our Core Portfolio for 2021 increased $3.7 million, or 3.8%, from 2020. The increase was
primarily due to higher utility income of $3.3 million.

Property Operating Expenses

Property operating expenses, excluding deferrals and property management, in our Core Portfolio for 2021 increased
$34.2 million, or 7.7%, from 2020, primarily due to increases in property operating and maintenance expenses of $25.5 million
and sales and marketing expenses of $6.4 million. Property operating and maintenance expenses were higher in 2021, primarily
due to increases in utility expenses of $10.9 million, property payroll expenses of $4.4 million, insurance expense of $3.1
million and repairs and maintenance expenses of $2.8 million. The increase in gross sales and marketing expenses was
primarily due to an increase in membership upgrade sales.

Home Sales and Other

The following table summarizes certain financial and statistical data for our Home Sales and Other Operations:

(amounts in thousands, except home sales volumes) 2021 2020 Variance % Change
Gross revenue from new home sales (" $ 94,160 $ 40,402 $ 53,758 133.1 %
Cost of new home sales 88,404 39,236 49,168 125.3 %
Gross profit from new home sales 5,756 1,166 4,590 393.7 %
Gross revenue from used home sales 4,297 5,293 (996) (18.8)%
Cost of used home sales 5,910 6,993 (1,083) (15.5)%
Loss from used home sales (1,613) (1,700) 87 5.1 %
Brokered resale revenue and ancillary services revenue, net 9,351 2,060 7,291 3539 %
Home selling expenses 5,138 4,572 566 12.4 %
Income (loss) from home sales and other operations $ 8,356 $ (3,046) $ 11,402 374.3 %
Home sales volumes:
New home sales @ 1,163 644 519 80.6 %
New Home Sales Volume - ECHO JV 82 51 31 60.8 %
Used home sales 432 546 (114) (20.9%
Brokered home resales 735 580 155 26.7 %

) New home sales gross revenue and costs of new home sales did not include the revenue and costs associated with our ECHO JV.
@ Total new home sales volume included home sales from our ECHO JV.
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Income from home sales and other operations was $8.4 million for 2021, an increase of $11.4 million compared to 2020.
The increase in income from home sales and other was due to an increase in ancillary services revenues, net, driven by
increased revenue from restaurants, stores and activities across the portfolio primarily as a result of closures in 2020 as a result
of COVID-19 and an increase in gross profit from new home sales as a result of an increase in the number of new homes sold.

Rental Operations

The following table summarizes certain financial and statistical data for our MH Rental Operations:

(amounts in thousands, except rental unit volumes) 2021 2020 Variance % Change
Rental operations revenue " $ 48,162 § 47874 $ 288 0.6 %
Rental home operating and maintenance 5,667 5,932 (265) 4.5)%
Income from rental operations 42,495 41,942 553 1.3 %
Depreciation on rental homes ® 10,547 10,896 (349) 3.2)%
Income from rental operations, net of depreciation $ 31,948 § 31,046 § 902 2.9 %
Gross investment in new manufactured home rental units $ 227,980 $ 232,415 § (4,435) (1.9)%
Gross investment in used manufactured home rental units $ 16,078 $ 18,252  § (2,174) (11.9%
Net investment in new manufactured home rental units $ 185,777 $ 198,687 $ (12,910) (6.5)%
Net investment in used manufactured home rental units $ 8,678 % 11,761 $ (3,083) (26.2)%
Number of occupied rentals — new, end of period 3,038 3,357 (319) 9.5)%
Number of occupied rentals—used, end of period 424 567 (143) 25.2)%

M Consists of Site rental income and home rental income. Approximately $31.5 million and $31.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and

December 31, 2020, respectively, of Site rental income is included in MH base rental income in the Core Portfolio Income from Property Operations
table. The remainder of home rental income is included in rental home income in our Core Portfolio Income from Property Operations table.

Presented in Depreciation and amortization in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

New home cost basis did not include the costs associated with our ECHO JV. Our investment in the ECHO JV was $18.1 million and $17.4 million at
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

Includes 236 and 298 homes rented through our ECHO JV in 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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Other Income and Expenses

The following table summarizes other income and expenses:

(amounts in thousands, expenses shown as negative) 2021 2020 Variance % Change
Depreciation and amortization $ (188,444) $ (155,131) $ (33,313) 21.5%
Interest income 7,016 7,154 (138) (1.9%
Income from other investments, net 4,555 4,026 529 13.1 %
General and administrative (40,717) (39,276) (1,441) 3. 1%
Other expenses (3,100) (2,567) (533) (20.8)%
Early debt retirement (2,784) (10,786) 8,002 74.2 %
Interest and related amortization (108,718) (102,771) (5,947) (5.8)%
Total other income and expenses, net $ (332,192) § (299,351) 8 (32,841) (11.0)%

Total other income and expenses, net increased $32.8 million in 2021 compared to 2020, primarily due to higher
depreciation and amortization and interest and related amortization expenses, partially offset by a decrease in early debt
retirement costs. The increase in depreciation and amortization was due to depreciation on Non-Core properties acquired in the
fourth quarter of 2020 and the year ended December 31, 2021. The increase in interest and related amortization is due to higher

debt levels in 2021 compared to 2020. The decrease in early debt retirement costs was due to lower debt repayment costs in
2021 compared to 2020.

Equity in Income of Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

Equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures decreased $1.5 million in 2021 compared to 2020, primarily due to a
decrease in income recognized from distributions from our unconsolidated joint ventures as we acquired the remaining interest
in the Voyager joint venture in the fourth quarter of 2021.
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Subsequent Events
Acquisitions

On February 15, 2022, we completed the acquisition of two RV communities located in Gunnison, Colorado and
Winterhaven, California collectively containing 632 sites for a purchase price of $15.2 million.

Unsecured Financing

On January 21, 2022, we entered into a term loan agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as the
administrative agent, pursuant to which we have entered into a $200.0 million senior unsecured term loan. The maturity date is
January 21, 2027. The term loan bears interest at a rate of Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”), plus approximately
1.30% to 1.80%, depending on leverage levels.

ATM

During January 2022, we sold approximately 0.3 million shares of our common stock under our ATM equity offering
program with a weighted average price of $86.46 per share for net proceeds of $28.0 million. On February 14, 2022, our Board
of Directors approved a new ATM equity offering program with an aggregate offering price of up to $500.0 million.

Dividend

On January 21, 2022, our Board of Directors approved setting the annual dividend rate for 2022 at $1.64 per share of
common stock, an increase of $0.19 over the current $1.45 per share of common stock for 2021. Our Board of Directors, in its
sole discretion, will determine the amount of each quarterly dividend in advance of payment.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity

Our primary demands for liquidity include payment of operating expenses, dividend distributions, debt service, including
principal and interest, capital improvements on Properties, home purchases and property acquisitions. We expect similar
demand for liquidity will continue for the short-term and long-term. Our primary sources of cash include operating cash flows,
proceeds from financings, borrowings under our unsecured Line of Credit (“LOC”) and proceeds from issuance of equity and
debt securities.

One of our stated objectives is to maintain financial flexibility. Achieving this objective allows us to take advantage of
strategic opportunities that may arise. When investing capital, we consider all potential uses, including returning capital to our
stockholders or the conditions under which we may repurchase our stock. These conditions include, but are not limited to,
market price, balance sheet flexibility, alternative opportunistic capital uses and capital requirements. We believe effective
management of our balance sheet, including maintaining various access points to raise capital, managing future debt maturities
and borrowing at competitive rates, enables us to meet this objective. Accessing long-term low-cost secured debt continues to
be our focus.

Total secured debt encumbered a total of 117 and 116 of our Properties as of December 31, 2021 and December 31,
2020, respectively, and the gross carrying value of such Properties was approximately $2,817.5 million and $2,580.9 million, as
of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

As of December 31, 2021, we have available liquidity in the form of approximately 414.4 million shares of authorized
and unissued common stock, par value $0.01 per share and 10.0 million shares of authorized and unissued preferred stock
registered for sale under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Our ATM equity offering program allows us to sell, from time-to-time, shares of our common stock, par value $0.01 per
share, having an aggregate offering price of up to $200.0 million. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we sold 1,660,290
shares of our common stock under our ATM equity program for gross cash proceeds of approximately $140.3 million at a
weighted average share price of $84.48. As of December 31, 2021, there was $59.7 million of common stock available for
issuance under our ATM equity program. On February 14, 2022, our Board of Directors approved a new ATM equity offering
program with an aggregate offering price of up to $500.0 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we closed on an amended revolving line of credit with borrowing capacity of
$500.0 million and a $300.0 million term loan (“Term Loan”). The variable interest rate on the Term Loan is LIBOR plus
1.40%. Pursuant to the Swap (as defined below), we have fixed the interest rate at 1.8% per annum. See Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data—Note 9. Borrowing Arrangements for further details.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

We also utilize interest rate swaps to add stability to our interest expense and to manage our exposure to interest rate
movements. Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable amounts from a counterparty in
exchange for making fixed-rate payments over the life of the agreements without exchange of the underlying notional amount.
The changes in the fair value of the designated derivative are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets and subsequently reclassified into earnings on the Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income in the period that the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we entered into a three-year LIBOR Swap Agreement (the “ Swap”) allowing
us to trade the variable interest rate associated with our variable rate debt for a fixed interest rate. The Swap has a notional
amount of $300.0 million of outstanding principal and fixes the underlying LIBOR rate at 0.39% per annum and matures on
March 25, 2024. For additional information regarding our interest rate swap, see Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data—Note 10. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.

We expect to meet our short-term liquidity requirements, including principal payments, capital improvements and
dividend distributions for the next twelve months, generally through available cash, net cash provided by operating activities
and our LOC. As of December 31, 2021, our LOC had a borrowing capacity of $151.0 million with the option to increase the
borrowing capacity by $200.0 million, subject to certain conditions. The LOC bears interest at a rate of LIBOR
plus 1.25% to 1.65%, requires an annual facility fee of 0.20% to 0.35% and matures on April 18, 2025.

We continue to monitor the development and adoption of an alternative index to LIBOR to manage the transition. Given
the majority of our current debt is secured and not subject to LIBOR, we do not believe the discontinuation of LIBOR will have
a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements.

We expect to meet certain long-term liquidity requirements, such as scheduled debt maturities, property acquisitions and
capital improvements, using long-term collateralized and uncollateralized borrowings including the existing LOC and the
issuance of debt securities or the issuance of equity including under our ATM equity offering program.

On January 21, 2022, we entered into a term loan agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as the
administrative agent, pursuant to which we have entered into a $200.0 million senior unsecured term loan. The maturity date is
January 21, 2027. The term loan bears interest at a rate of Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”), plus approximately
1.30% to 1.80%, depending on leverage levels.

The impact the COVID-19 pandemic will continue to have on our financial condition and cash flows is uncertain and is
dependent upon various factors including the manner in which operations will continue at our Properties, customer payment
patterns and operational decisions we have made and may make in the future in response to guidance from public authorities
and/or for the health and safety of our employees, residents and guests.

The following table summarizes our cash flows activity:

For the years ended December 31,

(amounts in thousands) 2021 2020 2019

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 595,052 $ 466,537 $ 443,520
Net cash used in investing activities (914,455) (450,379) (352,089)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 418,741 (20,958) (131,545)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and restricted cash $ 99,338 $ (4,800) § (40,114)
Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $128.5 million to $595.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2021, from $466.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The overall increase in net cash provided by operating
activities was primarily due to an increase in income from property operations of $57.6 million in 2021 compared to 2020, an
increase in other assets, net and accounts payable and other liabilities of $46.5 million, higher deferred membership revenue of
$14.0 million and an increase in rents and other customer payments received in advance and security deposits of $12.6 million.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities increased $464.1 million to $914.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021,
from $450.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The increase in net cash used in investing activities was primarily
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

due to increased spending on real estate acquisitions of $298.8 million, increased in capital improvement spending of $73.2
million and increased spending on business acquisitions of $41.8 million.

Capital improvements

The following table summarizes capital improvements:

For the years ended December 31,

(amounts in thousands) 2021 2020 2019

Asset preservation " $ 43618 $ 35409 $ 31,181
Improvements and renovations @ 26,387 24,580 20,978
Property upgrades and development ©’ 120,209 93,139 59,324
New and used home investments ® ©® 96,395 59,615 141,644
Total property improvements 287,109 212,743 253,127
Corporate 3,181 4,339 4,866
Total capital improvements $ 290,290 $ 217,082 § 257,993

(O]
2
3)

Includes upkeep of property infrastructure including utilities and streets and replacement of community equipment and vehicles.

Includes enhancements to amenities such as buildings, common areas, swimming pools and replacement of furniture and site amenities.

Includes $3.2 million of restoration and improvement capital expenditures related to Hurricane Hanna for the year ended December 31, 2020. Includes
$2.5 million of restoration and improvement capital expenditures related to Hurricane Irma for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Excludes new home investments associated with our ECHO JV.

Net proceeds from new and used home sale activities are reflected within Operating Activities.

)
)

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $418.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to cash
used by financing activities of $21.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The increase in net cash provided by
financing activities was primarily due to an increases in net term loan proceeds of $300.0 million and increased proceeds from
the issuance of common stock of $140.3 million.

Contractual Obligations

As of December 31, 2021, we were subject to certain contractual payment obligations'” as described in the following

table:

(amounts in thousands) Total 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 Thereafter
Long Term Borrowings $3,302,745 $ 133,565 $ 150,901 $ 70,184 $ 496,633 $ 362,451 $2,089,011
Interest Expense 880,098 100,651 93,756 88,975 83,887 76,570 436,259
LOC Maintenance Fee 3,345 1,014 1,014 1,017 300 — —
Ground Leases ¥ 8,473 1,638 626 632 637 615 4,325
Office and Other Leases 28,809 3,744 3,523 3,097 2,763 2,543 13,139
Total Contractual Obligations $4,223,470 $ 240,612 $ 249,820 $ 163,905 $ 584,220 $ 442,179 $2,542,734
Weighted average interest rates - Long Term -
Borrowings 352 % 347 % 342 % 338 % 335% 3.49 % 497 %

(1)

We do not include insurance, property taxes and cancellable contracts in the contractual obligations table.
2

Balances exclude note premiums of $0.3 million and unamortized deferred financing costs of $28.9 million. Balances represent debt maturing and
scheduled periodic payments as well as our LOC balance of $349.0 million outstanding as of December 31, 2021, on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Amounts include interest expected to be incurred on our secured and unsecured debt based on obligations outstanding as of December 31, 2021.

Amounts represent minimum future rental payments for land under non-cancelable operating leases at certain of our Properties expiring at various years
through 2054. We operate and manage Westwinds and Nicholson Plaza located in San Jose, California pursuant to ground leases that expire on August
31, 2022 and do not contain extension options. Minimum future rental payments for these Properties for 2022 is approximately $1.0 million.

3)
“)

We believe that we will be able to refinance our maturing debt obligations on a secured or unsecured basis; however, to
the extent we are unable to refinance our debt as it matures, we believe that we will be able to repay such maturing debt through
available cash as well as operating cash flows, asset sales and/or the proceeds from equity issuances. With respect to any
refinancing of maturing debt, our future cash flow requirements could be impacted by significant changes in interest rates or
other debt terms, including required amortization payments. As of December 31, 2021, approximately 22.0% of our outstanding
debt is fully amortizing.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Westwinds

The Operating Partnership operates and manages Westwinds, a 720 site mobilehome community, and Nicholson Plaza,
an adjacent shopping center, both located in San Jose, California pursuant to ground leases that expire on August 31, 2022 and
do not contain extension options. Westwinds provides affordable, rent-controlled homes to numerous residents, including
families with children and residents over 65 years of age. For the year ended December 31, 2021, Westwinds and Nicholson
Plaza generated approximately $6.0 million of net operating income.

The master lessor of these ground leases, The Nicholson Family Partnership (together with its predecessor in interest, the
“Nicholsons”), has expressed a desire to redevelop Westwinds, and in a written communication, they claimed that we were
obligated to deliver the property free and clear of any and all subtenancies upon the expiration of the ground leases on August
31, 2022. In connection with any redevelopment, the City of San Jose’s conversion ordinance requires, among other things, that
the landowner provide relocation, rental and purchase assistance to the impacted residents. We believe the Nicholsons are
unlawfully attempting to impose those obligations upon the Operating Partnership.

Westwinds opened in the 1970s and was developed by the original ground lessee with assistance from the Nicholsons. In
1997, the Operating Partnership acquired the leasehold interest in the ground leases. In addition to rent based on the operations
of Westwinds, the Nicholsons receive a percentage of gross revenues from the sale of new or used mobile homes in Westwinds.

The Operating Partnership has entered into subtenancy agreements with the mobilehome residents of Westwinds.
Because the ground leases with the Nicholsons have an expiration date of August 31, 2022, and no further right of extension,
the Operating Partnership has not entered into any subtenancy agreements that extend beyond August 31, 2022. However, the
mobilehome residents’ occupancy rights continue by operation of California state and San Jose municipal law beyond the
expiration date of the ground leases. Notwithstanding this, the Nicholsons have made what we believe to be an unlawful
demand that the Operating Partnership deliver the property free and clear of any subtenancies upon the expiration of the ground
leases by August 31, 2022. We believe the Nicholsons’ demand (i) violates California state and San Jose municipal law because
the Nicholsons are demanding that the Operating Partnership remove all residents without just cause and (ii) conflicts with the
terms and conditions of the ground leases, which contain no express or implied requirement that the Operating Partnership
deliver the property free and clear of all subtenancies at the mobile home park and require, instead, that the Operating
Partnership continuously operate the mobilehome park during the lease term.

On December 30, 2019, the Operating Partnership, together with certain interested parties, filed a complaint in California
Superior Court for Santa Clara County, seeking declaratory relief pursuant to which it requested that the Court determine,
among other things, that the Operating Partnership has no obligation to deliver the property free and clear of the mobilehome
residents upon the expiration of the ground leases. The Operating Partnership and the interested parties filed an amended
complaint on January 29, 2020.

The Nicholsons filed a demand for arbitration on January 28, 2020, which they subsequently amended, pursuant to which
they request (i) a declaration that the Operating Partnership, as the “owner and manager” of Westwinds, is “required by the
Ground Leases, and State and local law to deliver the Property free of any encumbrances or third-party claims at the expiration
of the lease terms,” (ii) that the Operating Partnership anticipatorily breached the ground leases by publicly repudiating any
such obligation and (iii) that the Operating Partnership is required to indemnify the Nicholsons with respect to the claims
brought by the interested parties in the Superior Court proceeding.

On February 3, 2020, the Nicholsons filed a motion in California Superior Court to compel arbitration and to stay the
Superior Court litigation, which motion was heard on June 25, 2020. On July 29, 2020, the Superior Court issued a final order
denying the Nicholsons' motion to compel arbitration. The Nicholsons filed a notice of appeal on August 7, 2020, which appeal
was heard on February 1, 2022. On February 4, 2022, the California Court of Appeal affirmed the Superior Court’s order
denying the Nicholsons' motion to compel arbitration. The arbitration is stayed pursuant to an agreement between MHC and the
Nicholsons.

Following the filing of our lawsuit, the City of San Jose took steps to accelerate the passage of a general plan amendment
previously under review by the City to change the designation for Westwinds from its current general plan designation of Urban
Residential (which would allow for higher density redevelopment), to a newly created designation of Mobile Home Park. The
Nicholsons expressed opposition to this change in designation. However, on March 10, 2020, following significant pressure
from residents and advocacy groups, the City Council approved this new designation for all 58 mobilehome communities in the
City of San Jose, including Westwinds. In addition to requirements imposed by California state and San Jose municipal law, the
change in designation requires, among other things, a further amendment to the general plan to a different land use designation
by the City Council prior to any change in use.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP, which requires us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the related
disclosures. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

For additional information regarding our significant accounting policies, see Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data—Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We review our Properties for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
of the Property may not be recoverable. The economic performance and value of our real estate investments could be adversely
impacted by many factors including factors outside of our control. We consider impairment indicators including, but not limited
to, the following:

*  national, regional and/or local economic conditions;

+  competition from MH and RV communities and other housing options;

»  changes in laws and governmental regulations and the related costs of compliance;
* changes in market rental rates or occupancy; and

*  physical damage or environmental indicators.

Any adverse changes in these factors could cause an impairment in our assets, including our investment in real estate and
development projects in progress.

If an impairment indicator exists related to a long-lived asset, the expected future undiscounted cash flows are compared
against the carrying amount of that asset. Forecasting cash flows requires us to make estimates and assumptions on various
inputs including, but not limited to, rental revenue and expense growth rates, occupancy, levels of capital expenditure and
capitalization rates. If the sum of the estimated undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an
impairment loss is recorded for the carrying amount in excess of the estimated fair value.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off balance sheet arrangements that are reasonably likely to have a material effect on our financial
condition, results of operations, liquidity or capital resources.

Inflation

Substantially all of the leases at our MH communities allow for monthly or annual rent increases which provide us with
the ability to increase rent, where justified by the market. Such types of leases generally minimize our risks of inflation. In
addition, rental rates for our annual RV and marina Sites are established on an annual basis. Our membership subscriptions
generally provide for an annual dues increase, but dues may be frozen under the terms of certain contracts if the customer is
over 61 years old. Currently, 20.0% of our dues are frozen.

Some of our costs, including operating and administrative expenses, interest expense and construction costs are subject
to inflation. These expenses include but are not limited to property-related contracted services, utilities, repairs and maintenance
and insurance and general and administrative costs, including compensation costs.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our primary market risk exposure is interest rate changes at the time we need to obtain new or refinance existing long-
term debt that is used to maintain liquidity and fund our operations. Our interest rate risk management objectives are to limit the
impact of increasing interest rates on earnings and cash flows. To achieve our objectives, we borrow primarily at fixed rates and
in some cases variable rates. With regard to variable rate financing, we assess interest rate cash flow risk by identifying and
monitoring changes in interest rate exposure that may adversely impact future cash flows and by evaluating hedging
opportunities.
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The fair value of our long-term debt obligations is affected by changes in market interest rates, however our scheduled
maturities are well laddered from 2022 to 2041, which minimizes the market risk until the debt matures. As of December 31,
2021, we had $73.8 million of secured debt maturing in 2022. In addition, 22.0% of our outstanding debt is fully amortizing,
further reducing the risk related to increased interest rates.

For each increase in interest rates of 1.0% (or 100 basis points), the fair value of the total outstanding debt would
decrease by approximately $319.7 million. For each decrease in interest rates of 1.0% (or 100 basis points), the fair value of the
total outstanding debt would increase by approximately $354.7 million. Our secured debt has fixed interest rates so interest
expense and cash flows would not be affected by fluctuations in interest rates. The variable rate on our unsecured term loan is
fixed through the utilization of an interest rate swap so interest expense and cash flows would not be affected by fluctuations in
interest rates. Our line of credit bears interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 1.25% to 1.65%.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

In addition to historical information, this report includes certain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. When used, words such as “anticipate,” “expect,” “believe,” “project,”
“intend,” “may be” and “will be” and similar words or phrases, or the negative thereof, unless the context requires otherwise,
are intended to identify forward-looking statements and may include without limitation, information regarding our expectations,
goals or intentions regarding the future and the expected effect of our acquisitions. These forward-looking statements are
subject to numerous assumptions, risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to:

*  our ability to control costs and real estate market conditions, our ability to retain customers, the actual use of Sites by
customers and our success in acquiring new customers at our Properties (including those that we may acquire);

+ our ability to maintain historical or increase future rental rates and occupancy with respect to properties currently
owned or that we may acquire;

*  our ability to attract and retain customers entering, renewing and upgrading membership subscriptions;

e our assumptions about rental and home sales markets;

+  our ability to manage counterparty risk;

*  our ability to renew our insurance policies at existing rates and on consistent terms;

* in the age-qualified Properties, home sales results could be impacted by the ability of potential homebuyers to sell their
existing residences as well as by financial, credit and capital markets volatility;

* results from home sales and occupancy will continue to be impacted by local economic conditions, including an
adequate supply of homes at reasonable costs, lack of affordable manufactured home financing and competition from
alternative housing options including site-built single-family housing;

« impact of government intervention to stabilize site-built single-family housing and not manufactured housing;

» effective integration of recent acquisitions and our estimates regarding the future performance of recent acquisitions;

+ the completion of future transactions in their entirety, if any, and timing and effective integration with respect thereto;

» unanticipated costs or unforeseen liabilities associated with recent acquisitions;

*  our ability to obtain financing or refinance existing debt on favorable terms or at all;

¢ the effect of inflation and interest rates;

» the effect from any breach of our, or any of our vendors', data management systems;

« the dilutive effects of issuing additional securities;

* the outcome of pending or future lawsuits or actions brought by or against us, including those disclosed in our filings
with the Securities and Exchange Commission; and

+  other risks indicated from time to time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

9

In addition, these forward-looking statements are subject to risks related to the COVID-19 pandemic, many of which are
unknown, including the duration of the pandemic, the extent of the adverse health impact on the general population and on our
residents, customers and employees in particular, its impact on the employment rate and the economy, the extent and impact of
governmental responses and the impact of operational changes we have implemented and may implement in response to the
pandemic.

These forward-looking statements are based on management's present expectations and beliefs about future events. As
with any projection or forecast, these statements are inherently susceptible to uncertainty and changes in circumstances. We are
under no obligation to, and expressly disclaim any obligation to, update or alter our forward-looking statements whether as a
result of such changes, new information, subsequent events or otherwise.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule on page F-1 of this Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) and Chief Financial
Officer (principal financial officer), maintains a system of disclosure controls and procedures, designed to provide reasonable
assurance that information we are required to disclose in the reports that we file under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange
Commission rules and forms. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that we will detect or uncover failures to disclose material information
otherwise required to be set forth in our periodic reports.

Our management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2021. Based on that evaluation as of the end of the
period covered by this annual report, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective to give reasonable assurances to the timely collection, evaluation and our disclosure of
information that would potentially be subject to disclosure under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder as of December 31, 2021.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no material changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the year ended December 31,
2021.

Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control over financial
reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Based on management's assessment, we maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2021. In making this assessment, management used the criteria established by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQ”) in “Internal Control-Integrated Framework” (2013
framework).

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, has been audited by our
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in its report on Page F-4.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III
Items 10 and 11. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance, and Executive Compensation

The information required by Items 10 and 11 will be contained in the Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A for the 2022
Annual Meeting and is therefore incorporated by reference, and thus Items 10 and 11 have been omitted in accordance with
General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table presents securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans as of December 31,

2021:
Number of Securities
Number of securities to Remaining Available for
be Issued upon Exercise Weighted- Future Issuance under
of Outstanding Options, average Exercise Price Equity Compensation Plans
Warrants and Rights of Outstanding Options, (excluding securities
Plan Category (a) Warrants and Rights reflected in column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 73,775 $ 52.52 5,350,503
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders N/A N/A 711,049
Total 73,775 $ 52.52 6,061,552

(O]
2

Represents shares of common stock under our Equity Incentive Plan effective May 13, 2014 (the “2014 Plan”).

Represents shares of common stock under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan effective July 1997, as amended and restated in May 2016. Under the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, eligible employees may make contributions which are used to purchase shares of common stock at a purchase price equal
to 85% of the lesser of the closing price of a share of common stock on the first or last trading day of the purchase period. Purchases of common stock
under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan are made on the first business day of the next month after the close of the purchase period. Under NYSE rules
then in effect, stockholder approval was not required for the Employee Stock Purchase Plan because it is a broad-based plan available generally to all
employees.

The information required by Item 403 of Regulation S-K “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management” required by Item 12 will be contained in the Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A for the 2022 Annual Meeting and
is therefore incorporated by reference, and thus has been omitted in accordance with General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K.

Items 13 and 14. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence, and Principal
Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by Item 13 and 14 will be contained in the Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A for the 2022
Annual Meeting and is therefore incorporated by reference, and thus Items 13 and 14 have been omitted in accordance with
General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statements Schedules

1.

3.

Financial Statements

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule on page F-1 of this Form 10-K.

Financial Statement Schedule

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule on page F-1 of this Form 10-K.

Exhibits:

In reviewing the agreements included as exhibits to this Form 10-K, please remember they are included to provide you
with information regarding their terms and are not intended to provide any other factual or disclosure information about us or
the other parties to the agreements. The agreements may contain representations and warranties by each of the parties to the
applicable agreement. These representations and warranties have been made solely for the benefit of the other parties to the
applicable agreement and:

should not in all instances be treated as categorical statements of fact, but rather as a way of allocating the risk to one
of the parties if those statements prove to be inaccurate;

have been qualified by disclosures that were made to the other party in connection with the negotiation of the
applicable agreement, which disclosures are not necessarily reflected in the agreement;

may apply standards of materiality in a way that is different from what may be viewed as material to you or other
investors; and

were made only as of the date of the applicable agreement or such other date or dates as may be specified in the
agreement and are subject to more recent developments.

Accordingly, these representations and warranties may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the date they were
made or at any other time. Additional information about us may be found elsewhere in this Form 10-K and our other public
filings, which are available without charge through the SEC's website at http:/www.sec.gov.
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10.6™

10.7™

Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc., effective May 15, 2007
Articles of Amendment of Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc., effective November 26, 2013

Atrticles of Amendment of Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc., effective May 2, 2019

Form of Articles Supplementary for Preferred Stock

Articles of Amendment of Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc., effective May 4, 2020

Third Amended and Restated Bylaws, effective as of October 26, 2021

Form of Specimen Stock Certificate Evidencing the Common Stock of Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc., par value
$0.01 per share

Description of the Registrant's Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934

Second Amended and Restated MHC Operating Limited Partnership Agreement of Limited Partnership, dated
March 15, 1996

Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership for MHC Operating Limited
Partnership, dated February 27, 2004

Second Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership for MHC Operating
Limited Partnership effective as of December 31, 2013

Third Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership for MHC Operating
Limited Partnership effective as of December 31, 2018

Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan effective May 13, 2014 (the "Plan")

Amended and Restated Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc. 1997 Non-Qualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan,
effective May 10, 2016

Form of Indemnification Agreement
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Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of April 19, 2021, by and among MHC Operating
Limited Partnership, as Borrower, Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc., as Parent, Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as Administrative Agent, and each of the Lenders set forth therein

Third Amended and Restated Guaranty dated as of April 19, 2021 by Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc. in favor of
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association

Form of Equity Distribution Agreement, dated July 30, 2020, by and among Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.,
MHC Operating Limited Partnership and each of the Sales Agents

Form of Amendment no. 1 to each of the Equity Distribution Agreements, dated April 29, 2021
Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for the Plan

Form of Option Award Agreement for the Plan

Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc. Business Ethics and Conduct Policy, dated October 27, 2020
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant To Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant To Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
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101.DEF"  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

104

Cover Page Interactive Data File included as Exhibit 101 (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

The following documents are incorporated by reference.

(a)
(b)
(©
(d
©]
(®
(@
(h)
(@
0
(k)
[0}

(m)
(n)
(0)
()
@
@)

Included as an exhibit to our Report on Form 8-K dated May 22, 2007

Included as an exhibit to our Report on Form 8-K dated November 26, 2013

Included as an exhibit to our Report on Form 8-K dated May 2, 2019

Included as an exhibit to our Report on Form 8-K dated February 19, 2020

Included as an exhibit to our Report on Form 8-K dated April 28, 2020

Included as an exhibit to our Report on Form 8-K dated October 26, 2021

Included as an exhibit to our Report on Form S-3 Registration Statement dated May 6, 2009, file No. 333-159014
Included as an exhibit to our Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020

Included as an exhibit to our Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1996

Included as an exhibit to our Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005

Included as an exhibit to our Report on Form 8-K dated January 2, 2014

Included as Appendix B to our Definitive Proxy Statement dated March 24, 2014, relating to Annual Meeting of
Stockholders held on May 13, 2014

Included as an exhibit to our Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2016

Included as an exhibit to our Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006

Included as an exhibit to our Report on Form 8-K dated April 19, 2021

Form of Agreement included as an exhibit to our Report on Form 8-K dated July 30, 2020

Included as an exhibit to our Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2021

Included as an exhibit to our Report on Form 8-K dated May 13, 2014

*  Filed herewith
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

EQUITY LIFESTYLE PROPERTIES, INC.,
a Maryland corporation

Date: February 22, 2022 By: /s/ MARGUERITE NADER
Marguerite Nader
President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 22, 2022 By: /s/ PAUL SEAVEY

Paul Seavey

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: February 22, 2022 By: /s/ VALERIE HENRY

Valerie Henry

Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.—Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by
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Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

Paul Seavey

/s/ VALERIE HENRY Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer February 22, 2022
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Valerie Henry

/s/ SAMUEL ZELL Chairman of the Board February 22, 2022
Samuel Zell
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Thomas Heneghan
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Andrew Berkenfield
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/s/ CONSTANCE FREEDMAN  Director February 22, 2022

Constance Freedman

/s/ SCOTT PEPPET Director February 22, 2022
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/s/ SHELI ROSENBERG Director February 22,2022
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc. (the Company) as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, changes in equity and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021 and the related notes and financial statement
schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31,
2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(2013 framework) and our report dated February 22, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or
complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, taken as a whole and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate
opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Description of
the Matter

How We
Addressed the
Matter in Our
Audit

Valuation of Investment in Real Estate

At December 31, 2021, the Company’s net consolidated investment in real estate totaled $4.9
billion. As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s investment
in real estate is reviewed for impairment quarterly or whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate a possible impairment. If an impairment indicator exists related to an investment in real
estate that is held and used, the expected future undiscounted cash flows are compared against the
carrying amount of that asset. If the sum of the estimated undiscounted cash flows is less than the
carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recorded for the excess, if any, of the carrying
amount of the asset over its estimated fair value.

Auditing the Company’s evaluation of investment in real estate for impairment was complex and
highly subjective. The determination of the undiscounted cash flows for properties where
impairment indicators have been identified are sensitive to significant assumptions such as rental
revenue and expense growth rates, and capitalization rates used to estimate the property’s residual
value, all of which can be affected by expectations about future market conditions, customer
demand, and competition, as well as the Company’s intent to hold and operate the property over the
term assumed in the analysis.

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of
controls related to the Company’s process for evaluating investment in real estate for impairment,
including controls over management’s review of the significant assumptions described above.

To test the Company’s process for evaluating investment in real estate for impairment, we
performed audit procedures that included, among others, assessing the methodologies, evaluating
the significant assumptions discussed above and testing the completeness and accuracy of the
underlying data used by the Company in its analysis. We compared the significant assumptions used
by the Company to historical operational data of the particular property, current market rates, real
estate industry publications, current industry trends and other relevant sources. We also compared
the projected net operating income to historical actual results. As part of our evaluation, we assessed
the historical accuracy of the Company’s estimates and performed sensitivity analyses of certain
assumptions to evaluate the changes in the undiscounted cash flows of certain properties that would
result from changes in the assumptions used by management.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1996.

Chicago, Illinois
February 22, 2022
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.’s (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, the Company maintained,
in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated
statements of income and comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2021 and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 and our report
dated February 22, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Report of
Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Chicago, Illinois
February 22, 2022
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Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data (adjusted for stock split))

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Assets
Investment in real estate:
Land $ 2,019,787 $ 1,676,636
Land improvements 3,912,062 3,543,479
Buildings and other depreciable property 1,057,215 940,311
6,989,064 6,160,426
Accumulated depreciation (2,103,774) (1,924,585)
Net investment in real estate 4,885,290 4,235,841
Cash and restricted cash 123,398 24,060
Notes receivable, net 39,955 35,844
Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures 70,312 19,726
Deferred commission expense 47,349 42,472
Other assets, net 141,567 61,026
Total Assets $ 5,307,871 $ 4,418,969
Liabilities and Equity
Liabilities:
Mortgage notes payable, net $ 2,627,783 $ 2,444.930
Term loan, net 297,436 —
Unsecured line of credit 349,000 222,000
Accounts payable and other liabilities 172,285 129,666
Deferred membership revenue 176,439 150,692
Accrued interest payable 9,293 8,336
Rents and other customer payments received in advance and security deposits 118,696 92,587
Distributions payable 70,768 66,003
Total Liabilities 3,821,700 3,114,214
Equity:
Stockholders' Equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31,
2021 and December 31, 2020; none issued and outstanding. — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 600,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31,
2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively; 185,640,379 and 182,230,631 shares
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020,
respectively. 1,913 1,813
Paid-in capital 1,593,362 1,411,397
Distributions in excess of accumulated earnings (183,689) (179,523)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 3,524 —
Total Stockholders’ Equity 1,415,110 1,233,687
Non-controlling interests — Common OP Units 71,061 71,068
Total Equity 1,486,171 1,304,755
Total Liabilities and Equity $ 5,307,871 $ 4,418,969

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
(amounts in thousands, except per share data (adjusted for stock split))

Revenues:
Rental income
Annual membership subscriptions
Membership upgrade sales current period, gross
Membership upgrade sales upfront payments, deferred, net
Other income
Gross revenues from home sales
Brokered resale and ancillary services revenues, net
Interest income
Income from other investments, net
Total revenues
Expenses:
Property operating and maintenance
Real estate taxes
Sales and marketing, gross
Membership sales commissions, deferred, net
Property management
Depreciation and amortization
Cost of home sales
Home selling expenses
General and administrative
Other expenses
Early debt retirement
Interest and related amortization
Total expenses
Gain (Loss) on sale of real estate, net
Income before equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures
Equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures

Consolidated net income

Income allocated to non-controlling interests — Common OP Units
Redeemable perpetual preferred stock dividends
Net income available for Common Stockholders

Consolidated net income

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Adjustment for fair market value of swap

Consolidated comprehensive income
Comprehensive income allocated to non-controlling interests — Common OP Units
Redeemable perpetual preferred stock dividends

Comprehensive income attributable to Common Stockholders

Years Ended December 31,

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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2021 2020 2019
1,032,575 $ 923,743 $ 879,635
58,251 53,085 51,015
36,270 21,739 19,111
(25,079) (12,062) (10,451)
50,298 46,008 43,063
98,457 45,695 34,655
9,351 2,060 3,493
7,016 7,154 7,207
4,555 4,026 9,528
1,271,694 1,091,448 1,037,256
398,983 354,340 333,520
72,671 66,120 62,338
23,743 17,332 15,583
(5,075) (1,660) (1,219)
65,979 57,967 56,509
188,444 155,131 152,110
94,314 46,229 35,096
5,138 4,572 4,401
40,717 39,276 35,679
3,100 2,567 2,865
2,784 10,786 1,491
108,718 102,771 104,223
999,516 855,431 802,596
(59) — 52,507
272,119 236,017 287,167
3,881 5,399 8,755
276,000 241,416 295,922
(13,522) (13,132) (16,783)
(16) (16) (16)
262,462 $ 228268 $ 279,123
276,000 $ 241416 $ 295922
3,524 380 (2,679)
279,524 241,796 293,243
(13,692) (13,154) (16,633)
(16) (16) (16)
265816 $ 228,626 $ 276,594



Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
(amounts in thousands, except per share data (adjusted for stock split))

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Earnings per Common Share — Basic $ 143 $ 126 $ 1.54
Earnings per Common Share — Fully Diluted $ 143 § 1.25 $ 1.54
Weighted average Common Shares outstanding — Basic 182,917 181,828 180,805
Weighted average Common Shares outstanding — Fully Diluted 192,883 192,555 191,995

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes In Equity
(amounts in thousands; adjusted for stock split)

Non-
Redeemable  Distributions ~ Accumulated  Controlling
Perpetual in Excess of Other Interests —
Common Paid-in Preferred Accumulated  Comprehensive ~ Common Total
Stock Capital Stock Earnings Income (Loss) OP Units Equity
Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 1,792 $1,328495 § — $ (211,034) $ 2,299 $ 71,792 $1,193,344
Exchange of Common OP Units for Common Stock 10 6,539 — — — (6,549) —
Issuance of Common Stock through exercise of
options — 53 — — — — 53
Issuance of Common Stock through employee stock
purchase plan — 2,429 — — — — 2,429
Issuance of Common Stock 10 59,309 — — — — 59,319
Compensation expenses related to restricted stock
and stock options — 10,481 — — — — 10,481
Repurchase of Common Stock or Common OP
Units — (53) — — — — (53)
Adjustment for Common OP Unitsholders in the
Operating Partnership — (3,210) — — — 3,210 —
Adjustment for fair market value of swap — — — — (2,679) — (2,679)
Consolidated net income — — 16 279,123 — 16,783 295,922
Distributions — — (16) (222,407) — (13,158)  (235,581)
Other — (1,347) — — — — (1,347)
Balance as of December 31, 2019 1,812 1,402,696 — (154,318) (380) 72,078 1,321,888
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
(ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit
Losses (Topic 326)) — — — (3,875) — — (3,875)
Exchange of Common OP Units for Common Stock 1 81 — — — (82) —
Issuance of Common Stock through employee stock
purchase plan — 2,026 — — — — 2,026
Compensation expenses related to restricted stock
and stock options — 11,527 — — — — 11,527
Repurchase of Common Stock or Common OP
Units — (3,962) — — — — (3,962)
Adjustment for fair market value of swap — (300) — — — 300 —
Adjustment for fair market value of swap — — — — 380 — 380
Consolidated net income — — 16 228,268 — 13,132 241,416
Distributions — — (16) (249,598) — (14,360)  (263,974)
Other — (671) — — — — (671)
Balance as of December 31, 2020 1,813 1,411,397 — (179,523) — 71,068 1,304,755
Exchange of Common OP Units for Common Stock 16 10,820 — — — (10,836) —
Issuance of OP Units — — — — — 34,005 34,005
Issuance of Common Stock through employee stock - 2224 - o - - 2224
purchase plan
Issuance of Common Stock 84 140,170 — — — — 140,254
Compensation expenses related to restricted stock o 10,855 o o o o 10,855
and stock options
Repurchase of Common Stock or Common OP Units — (2,814) — — — (2,814)
Adjustment for Common OP Unitholders in the
Operating Partnership o 22,961 o o o (22,961) o
Adjustment for fair market value of swap — — — — 3,524 — 3,524
Consolidated net income — — 16 262,462 — 13,522 276,000
Distributions — — (16) (266,628) — (13,737) (280,381)
Other — (2,251) — — — — (2,251)
Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 1,913 $1,593,362 $ — $ (183,689) $ 3,524 $§ 71,061 $1,486,171

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(amounts in thousands)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

Consolidated net income

Adjustments to reconcile consolidated net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Loss/(Gain) on sale of real estate, net

Early debt retirement

Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of loan costs

Debt premium amortization

Equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures

Distributions of income from unconsolidated joint ventures

Proceeds from insurance claims, net
Compensation expense related to incentive plans

Revenue recognized from membership upgrade sales upfront payments
Commission expense recognized related to membership sales

Long-term incentive plan compensation
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Notes receivable, net

Deferred commission expense

Other assets, net

Accounts payable and other liabilities

Deferred membership revenue

Rents and other customer payments received in advance and security deposits

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Real estate acquisitions, net
Business acquisitions
Proceeds from disposition of properties, net
Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated joint ventures
Proceeds from insurance claims
Capital improvements
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Proceeds from stock options and employee stock purchase plan
Gross proceeds from the issuance of common stock
Distributions:
Common Stockholders
Common OP Unitholders
Preferred Stockholders
Share based award tax withholding payments
Principal payments and mortgage debt repayment
Mortgage notes payable financing proceeds
Term loan proceeds
Term loan repayment
Line of Credit repayment
Line of Credit proceeds
Debt issuance and defeasance costs
Other
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and restricted cash
Cash and restricted cash, beginning of year
Cash and restricted cash, end of year

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
$ 276000 $ 241416 $ 295922
59 — (52,507)
2,784 10,786 1,491
191,432 157,760 153,980
4,671 3,473 3,479
(325) (394) (483)
(3,881) (5,399) (8,755)
52 95 5,133
(875) (1,697) (3,530)
12,694 11,527 10,481
(11,191) (9,675) (8,660)
3,779 3,673 3,667
— 1,531 (2,843)
(4,191) (1,166) (2,836)
(8,657) (4,995) (4,508)
53,913 34,048 11,621
30,009 3,386 15,578
36,935 22,954 19,655
11,844 (786) 6,635
595,052 466,537 443,520
(537,896) (239,067) (185,411)
(41,769) — —
W) — 77,746
(49,695) — (983)
3,154 5,648 6,352
2,048 122 8,200
(290,290) (217,082) (257,993)
(914,455) (450,379) (352,089)
2,224 2,027 2,482
140,254 — 59,319
(261,748) (242,948) (216,098)
(13,953) (13,983) (13,104)
(16) (16) (16)
(2,814) (3,962) (53)
(128,738) (468,278) (121,028)
270,016 662,309 —
600,000 — —
(300,000) — —
(432,500) (390,500) (155,500)
559,500 452,500 315,500
(11,233) (17,434) (1,700)
(2,251) (673) (1,347)
418,741 (20,958) (131,545)
99,338 (4,800) (40,114)
24,060 28,860 68,974
$ 123398 § 24,060 $ 28,860

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(amounts in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Supplemental information:
Cash paid for interest $ 104,137  § 100,686 $ 102,027
Net investment in real estate — reclassification of rental homes $ 81,062 $ 38,845 § 28,260
Other assets, net — reclassification of rental homes $ (81,062) $ (38,845) $ (28,260)
Real estate acquisitions:
Investment in real estate $  (631,541) $  (248,100) $  (249,197)
Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures — — 35,789
Other assets, net (4,443) (153) (1,646)
Debt assumed 39,986 6,873 19,212
Accrued Expenses and accounts payables 9,833 174 7,593
Rents and other customer payments received in advance and security deposits 14,265 2,139 2,838
OP Units issued 34,004 — —
Real estate acquisitions, net $ (537.896) $§  (239.067) $ (185.411)
Business acquisitions:
Intangibles $ (33,250) $ — S —
Goodwill (9,586) — —
Other assets, net (933) — —
Accrued Expenses and accounts payables 2,000 — —
Acquisition of business, net S___(41769) § 8
Real estate dispositions:
Investment in real estate $ 52 % — S 35,572
Notes receivable, net — — 295
Other assets, net — — 97
Mortgage notes payable, net — — (11,175)
Other liabilities — — 450
(Loss)/Gain on sale of real estate, net (59) — 52,507
Real estate dispositions, net $ (G — 3 77,746

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1—Organization

Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc. (“ELS”), a Maryland corporation, together with MHC Operating Limited Partnership
(the “Operating Partnership”) and its other consolidated subsidiaries (the “Subsidiaries™), are referred to herein as “we,” “us,”
and “our.” We are a fully integrated owner of lifestyle-oriented properties (“Properties”) consisting of property operations and
home sales and rental operations primarily within manufactured home (“MH”) and recreational vehicle (“RV”’) communities
and marinas. We provide our customers the opportunity to place manufactured homes and cottages, RVs and/or boats on our
Properties either on a long-term or short-term basis. Our customers may lease individual developed areas (“Sites”) or enter into
right-to-use contracts, also known as membership subscriptions, which provide them access to specific Properties for limited

stays.

Commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 1993, we have elected to be taxed as a real estate investment
trust (“REIT”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We believe we have qualified for taxation as a REIT. To maintain our
qualification as a REIT, we must meet certain requirements, which are highly technical and complex. If we fail to qualify as a
REIT, we could be subject to U.S. federal income tax at regular corporate rates. Additionally, we could remain disqualified as a
REIT for four years following the year we first failed to qualify. Even as a REIT, we are subject to certain foreign, state and
local taxes on our income and property and U.S. federal income and excise taxes on our undistributed income.

Our Properties are owned primarily by the Operating Partnership and managed internally by affiliates of the Operating
Partnership. We are the general partner of the Operating Partnership and own 95.2% as of December 31, 2021. We contributed
the proceeds from our various equity offerings, including our initial public offering, to the Operating Partnership. In exchange
for these contributions, we received units of common interests in the partnership (“OP Units”) equal to the number of shares of
common stock issued in such equity offerings. The limited partners of the Operating Partnership (the “Common OP
Unitholders”) receive an allocation of net income that is based on their respective ownership percentage in the Operating
Partnership that is presented on the consolidated financial statements as Non-controlling interests—Common OP Units. As of
December 31, 2021, the Non-controlling interests—Common OP Units were 9,305,651, which are exchangeable for an
equivalent number of shares of our common stock or, at our option, cash. The issuance of additional shares of common stock or
OP Units would change the respective ownership of the Operating Partnership for the Common OP Unitholders.

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Since certain activities, if performed by us,
may not be qualifying REIT activities under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), we have formed
taxable REIT subsidiaries (each, a “TRS”). Our primary TRS is Realty Systems, Inc. (“RSI”’) which, along with owning several
properties, is engaged in the business of purchasing, selling and leasing factory-built homes located in Properties owned and
managed by us. RSI also offers home sale brokerage services to our residents who may choose to sell their homes rather than
relocate them when moving from a Property. Subsidiaries of RSI also operate ancillary activities at certain Properties, such as
golf courses, pro shops, stores and restaurants.
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Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements present the results of operations, financial position and cash flows of ELS, its
majority-owned and controlled subsidiaries and variable interest entities (“VIEs”) in which ELS is the primary beneficiary.
Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

The Operating Partnership meets the criteria as a VIE, where we are the general partner and controlling owner of
approximately 95.2%. The limited partners do not have substantive kick-out or participating rights. Our sole significant asset is
our investment in the Operating Partnership, and consequently, substantially all of our assets and liabilities represent those
assets and liabilities of the Operating Partnership. Additionally, we have the power to direct the Operating Partnership's
activities and the obligation to absorb its losses or the right to receive its benefits. Accordingly, we are the primary beneficiary
and we have continued to consolidate the Operating Partnership.

Equity method of accounting is applied to entities in which ELS does not have a controlling interest or for VIEs in which
ELS is not considered the primary beneficiary, but with respect to which it can exercise significant influence over the
operations and major decisions. Our exposure to losses associated with unconsolidated joint ventures is primarily limited to the
carrying value of these investments. Accordingly, distributions from a joint venture in excess of our carrying value are
recognized in earnings.

On October 15, 2019, we effected a two-for-one-stock split of our common stock. Pursuant to the anti-dilution provision
in the Operating Partnership's Agreement of Limited Partnership, the stock split also effected a two-for-one unit split of the
outstanding OP Units. All shares of common stock and OP Units and per share data in the consolidated financial statements and
accompanying footnotes, for all periods presented, have been adjusted to reflect the stock split.

(b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates. All property and site counts
and acreage amounts are unaudited.

(c) Investment in Real Estate

Investment in real estate is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Direct and indirect costs related to real estate
improvement projects are capitalized, including salaries and related benefits of employees who are directly responsible for and
spend their time on the execution and supervision of such projects. Land improvements consist primarily of improvements such
as grading, landscaping and infrastructure items, such as streets, sidewalks or water mains. Improvements to buildings and other
depreciable property include clubhouses, laundry facilities, maintenance storage facilities, rental units and furniture, fixtures
and equipment.

For development and expansion projects, we capitalize direct project costs, such as construction, architectural and legal,
as well as, indirect project costs such as interest, real estate taxes and salaries and related benefits of employees who are directly
involved in the project. Capitalization of these costs begins when the activities and related expenditures commence and cease
when the project, or a portion of the project, is substantially complete and ready for its intended use.

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis based on the estimated useful lives of the associated real estate assets.

Useful Lives
(in years)
Land and Building Improvements 10-30
Manufactured Homes 10-25
Furniture, Fixture and Equipment 5
In-place leases Expected term
Above and below-market leases Applicable lease term
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Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Long-lived assets to be held and used, including our investment in real estate, are evaluated for impairment indicators
quarterly or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate a possible impairment. Our judgments regarding the
existence of impairment indicators are based on factors such as operational performance, market conditions, environmental and
legal factors. Future events could occur which would cause us to conclude that impairment indicators exist and an impairment
loss is warranted.

If an impairment indicator exists related to a long-lived asset that is held and used, the expected future undiscounted cash
flows are compared against the carrying amount of that asset. Forecasting cash flows requires us to make estimates and
assumptions on various inputs including, but not limited to, rental revenue and expense growth rates, occupancy, levels of
capital expenditure and capitalization rates. If the sum of the estimated undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying amount
of the asset, an impairment loss is recorded for the carrying amount in excess of the estimated fair value, if any, of the asset. For
the periods presented, no impairment losses were recorded.

(d) Acquisitions

On January 1, 2018, we adopted (“ASU 2017-01") Business Combinations: Clarifying the Definition of a Business
(Topic 805) on a prospective basis. We apply a screen test to evaluate if substantially all the fair value of the acquired property
is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets to determine whether a transaction is
accounted for as an asset acquisition or business combination. As most of our real estate acquisitions are concentrated in either
a single or a group of similar identifiable assets, our real estate transactions are generally accounted for as asset acquisitions,
which permits the capitalization of transaction costs to the basis of the acquired property.

In estimating the fair values for purposes of allocating the purchase price, we utilize a number of sources, including
independent appraisals or internal valuations that may be available in connection with the acquisition or financing of the
respective Property and other market data. We also consider information obtained about each Property as a result of our due
diligence, marketing and leasing activities in estimating the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed.

The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of each class of asset acquired and liability
assumed:

Land — Market approach based on similar, but not identical, transactions in the market. Adjustments to comparable sales
based on both quantitative and qualitative data.

Depreciable property — Cost approach based on market comparable data to replace adjusted for local variations, inflation
and other factors.

Manufactured homes — Sales comparison approach based on market prices for similar homes adjusted for differences in
age or size.

In-place leases — In-place leases are determined via a combination of estimates of market rental rates and expense
reimbursement levels as well as an estimate of the length of time required to replace each lease.

Above-market assets/below-market liabilities — Income approach based on discounted cash flows comparing contractual
cash flows to be paid pursuant to the leases and our estimate of fair market lease rates over the remaining non-cancelable
lease terms. For below-market leases, we also consider remaining initial lease terms plus any renewal periods.

Notes receivable — Income approach based on discounted cash flows comparing contractual cash flows at a market rate
adjusted based on particular notes' or note holders' down payment, credit score and delinquency status.

Mortgage notes payable — Income approach based on discounted cash flows comparing contractual cash flows to cash
flows of similar debt discounted based on market rates.

(e) Intangibles and Goodwill

We record acquired intangible assets at their estimated fair value separate and apart from goodwill. We amortize
identified intangible assets and liabilities that are determined to have finite lives over the period the assets and liabilities are
expected to contribute directly or indirectly to the future cash flows of the Property or business acquired. Intangible assets
subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying
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Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an intangible asset is not
recoverable and its carrying amount exceeds its estimated fair value.

The excess of the cost of an acquired entity over the net of the amounts assigned to assets acquired (including identified
intangible assets) and liabilities assumed in a business combination is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill is not amortized but is
tested for impairment at a level of reporting referred to as a reporting unit on an annual basis, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the gross carrying amount of identified intangible assets and goodwill was $55.4
million and $12.5 million, respectively, which is reported as a component of other assets, net on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, this amount was comprised of $38.0 million and $4.7 million, respectively of
identified intangible assets and $17.4 million of goodwill. Accumulated amortization of identified intangibles assets was $3.3
million and $3.2 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The estimated annual aggregated amortization
expense to be recognized over each of the next five years is $3.2 million. The weighted average remaining useful life is
approximately 15 years.

(f) Assets Held for Sale

In determining whether to classify a real estate asset held for sale, we consider whether: (i) management has committed
to a plan to sell the asset; (ii) the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition, subject only to terms that are
usual and customary; (iii) we have initiated a program to locate a buyer; (iv) we believe that the sale of the real estate asset is
probable within one year; (v) we are actively marketing the investment property for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation
to its current value and (vi) actions required for us to complete the plan indicate that it is unlikely that any significant changes
will be made. If all of the above criteria are met, we classify the real estate asset as held for sale. When all of the above criteria
are met, we discontinue depreciation or amortization of the asset, measure it at the lower of its carrying amount or its fair value
less estimated cost to sell and present it separately as assets held for sale, net on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. We also
present the liabilities related to assets held for sale, if any, separately on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. In connection with
the held for sale evaluation, if the disposal represents a strategic shift that has, or will have, a major effect on the consolidation
financial statement, then the transaction is presented as discontinued operations.

(g) Restricted Cash

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, restricted cash consists of $29.3 million and $24.1 million, respectively, primarily
related to cash reserved for customer deposits and escrows for insurance and real estate taxes.

(h) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We disclose the estimated fair value of our financial instruments according to a fair value hierarchy. The valuation
hierarchy is based on the transparency of the lowest level of input that is significant to the valuation of an asset or a liability as
of the measurement date. The three levels are defined as follows:

Level 1 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active
markets.

Level 2 - Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets and
inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the
financial instrument.

Level 3 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.

The carrying values of cash and restricted cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate their fair market
values due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The carrying value of the notes receivable approximates the fair market
value as the interest rates are generally comparable to current market rates. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to notes
receivable are limited due to the size of the receivable and geographic diversity of the underlying Properties.

The fair market value of mortgage notes payable, the term loan and interest rate derivative are measured with Level 2
inputs using quoted prices and observable inputs from similar liabilities as disclosed in Note 9. Borrowing Arrangements and
Note 10, Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.
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Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

We also utilize Level 2 and Level 3 inputs as part of our determination of the purchase price allocation for our
acquisitions as disclosed in Note 6. Acquisitions.

(i) Deferred Financing Costs, Net

Deferred financing costs are being amortized over the terms of the respective loans on a straight-line basis. Unamortized
deferred financing costs are written-off when debt is retired before the maturity date. Deferred financing costs, net were $28.9
million and $27.9 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

(i) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Our allowance for doubtful accounts is comprised of our reserves for receivable from tenants, receivable for annual
membership subscriptions, Contracts Receivable and Chattel Loans (See Note 8. Notes Receivable, Net for definition of these
terms). The allowance reflects our best estimate of collectibility risks on outstanding receivables. Our allowance for doubtful
accounts was as follows:

December 31,

(amounts in thousands): 2021 2020 2019
Balance, beginning of year $ 14,460 $ 6,586 $ 5,230
Ehange in aqcountin% )principle (ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit

osses (Topic 326)) — 3,875 —
Provision for losses 8,669 7,287 3,929
Write-offs (2,080) (3,288) (2,573)
Balance, end of year $ 21,049 § 14,460 § 6,586

M See Note 2. (0) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for more detail.

(k) Revenue Recognition

Our revenue streams are predominantly derived from customers renting our Sites or entering into membership
subscriptions. Our MH Sites and annual RV and marina Sites are leased on an annual basis. Seasonal RV and marina Sites are
leased to customers generally for one to six months. Transient RV and marina Sites are leased to customers on a short-term
basis. Leases with our customers are accounted for as operating leases. Rental income is accounted for in accordance with the
Accounting Standard Codification (ASC) 842, Leases, and is recognized over the term of the respective lease or the length of a
customer's stay. We do not separate expenses reimbursed by our customers (“utility recoveries”) from the associated rental
revenue as we meet the practical expedient criteria to combine these lease and non-lease components. We assessed the criteria
and concluded that the timing and pattern of transfer for rental revenue and the associated utility recoveries are the same and as
our leases qualify as operating leases, we account for and present rental revenue and utility recoveries as a single component
under Rental income in our Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

A membership subscription gives the customer the right to a set schedule of usage at a specified group of Properties.
Payments are deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the one-year period in which access to Sites at certain
Properties are provided. Membership upgrades grant certain additional access rights to the customer and require non-refundable
upfront payments. The non-refundable upfront payments are recognized on a straight-line basis over 20 years, which is our
estimated membership upgrade contract term. Income from home sales is recognized when the earnings process is complete.
The earnings process is complete when the home has been delivered, the purchaser has accepted the home and title has
transferred. Sales from membership subscriptions, upgrades and home sales are accounted for in accordance with ASC 606,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

() Stock Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense for restricted stock awards with service conditions is measured based on the grant
date fair value and recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the individual grants.

Stock-based compensation expense for restricted stock awards with performance conditions is measured based on the
grant date fair value and recognized on a straight-line basis over the performance period of the individual grants, when
achieving the performance targets is considered probable. We estimate and revisit the probability of achieving the performance
targets periodically by updating our forecasts throughout the performance period as necessary.
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Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

We also issue stock options by estimating the grant date fair value using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and
recognizing over the vesting period for options that are expected to vest. We estimate forfeitures at the time of grant based on
historical experience, updated for changes in facts and circumstances, as appropriate, and in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. The expected volatility assumption is calculated based on our historical volatility, which
is calculated over a period of time commensurate with the expected term of the options being valued. The risk-free interest rate
assumption is based upon the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. The dividend yield assumption is based on
our expectation of dividend payouts.

(m) Non-Controlling Interests

The OP Units are exchangeable for shares of common stock on a one-for-one basis at the option of the Common OP
Unitholders, which we may, in our discretion, cause the Operating Partnership to settle in cash. The exchange is treated as a
capital transaction, which results in an allocation between stockholders' equity and non-controlling interests to account for the
change in the respective percentage ownership of the underlying equity of the Operating Partnership.

Net income is allocated to Common OP Unitholders based on their respective ownership percentage of the Operating
Partnership. Such ownership percentage is calculated by dividing the number of OP Units held by the Common OP Unitholders
by the total OP Units held by the Common OP Unitholders and the shares of common stock held by the common stockholders.
Issuance of additional shares of common stock or OP Units would change the percentage ownership of both the Non-controlling
interests — Common OP Units and the common stockholders.

(n) Income Taxes

Due to our structure as a REIT, the results of operations contain no provision for U.S. federal income taxes for the REIT.
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the REIT had a federal net operating loss carryforward of approximately $50.9 million and
$74.1 million, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company utilized approximately $23.2 million of the
net operating loss carryforward to offset its tax and distribution requirements. The REIT is entitled to utilize the net operating
loss carryforward only to the extent that the REIT taxable income exceeds our deduction for dividends paid. Due to the
uncertainty regarding the use of the REIT net operating loss carryforward, no net tax asset has been recorded as of December
31,2021 and 2020.

In addition, we own certain TRSs, which are subject to federal and state income taxes at regular corporate tax rates.
Overall, the TRSs have federal net operating loss carryforwards. Due to the uncertainty regarding the realization of these
deferred tax assets, we have maintained a full valuation allowance as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

The REIT remains subject to certain foreign, state and local income, excise or franchise taxes; however, they are not
material to our operating results or financial position. We do not have unrecognized tax benefit items.

We, or one of our Subsidiaries, file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various U.S. state jurisdictions and
Canada. With few exceptions, we are no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local, or non-U.S. income tax examinations by
tax authorities for years before 2017.

As of December 31, 2021, net investment in real estate and notes receivable had a U.S. federal tax basis of
approximately $4.6 billion (unaudited) and $46.2 million (unaudited), respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, our tax treatment of common stock distributions, as adjusted
for the stock split, was as follows (unaudited):

2021 2020 2019
Tax status of common stock distributions deemed paid during the year:
Ordinary income $ 1.538 § 1234 § 1.241
Long-term capital gains — 0.006
Non-dividend distributions — 0.057 —
Distributions declared per common stock outstanding $ 1.538  § 1.297 §$ 1.241

The quarterly dividend paid on January 8, 2021 is a split-year distribution with $0.087801 (unaudited) per share of
common stock considered a distribution made in 2021 for federal income tax purposes. The quarterly distribution paid on
January 14, 2022 of $0.3625 (unaudited) per share of common stock will be allocable to 2021 for federal tax purposes.
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Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(o) Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

On January 1, 2020, we adopted FASB (“ASU 2016-13”) Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326) using the
modified retrospective approach. ASU 2016-13 requires entities to measure all expected credit losses for financial assets held at
the reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Entities should
use forward-looking information to better form their credit loss estimates.

We are exposed to credit losses primarily through sales of annual membership subscriptions and membership upgrades
and home sales. We have developed an allowance for credit losses, which represents an estimate of expected losses over the
remaining contractual life of our receivables. The estimate is a result of our ongoing assessments and evaluations of
collectability including historical loss experience, current market conditions and future expectations in forecasting credit losses
in each of our receivable portfolios. We recognized a cumulative-effect adjustment of $3.9 million, which decreased opening
retained earnings as of January 1, 2020.

The cumulative-effect adjustment resulting from the adoption of ASU 2016-13 as of January 1, 2020, was as follows:

Balance at Adjustment due
Balance Sheet December 31, to ASU 2016-13 Balance at Balance at
Balance net of allowance Location 2019 Adoption January 1, 2020 December 31, 2021
(amounts in thousands)
Annual membership subscriptions Other assets, net $ 2,394 § (1,361) $ 1,033  §$ 2,054
Membership upgrades Notes receivable, net $ 25236  $ 2,514) $ 22,722 $ 30,949
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Note 3—Leases

Lessor

Rental income derived from customers renting our Sites is accounted for in accordance with ASC 842, Leases, and is
recognized over the term of the respective operating lease or the length of a customer's stay. MH Sites are generally leased on
an annual basis to residents who own or lease factory-built homes, including manufactured homes. Annual RV and marina Sites
are leased on an annual basis to customers who generally have an RV, factory-built cottage, boat or other unit placed on the site,
including those Northern properties that are open for the summer season. Seasonal RV and marina Sites are leased to customers
generally for one to six months. Transient RV and marina Sites are leased to customers on a short-term basis. In addition,
customers may lease homes that are located in our communities.

The leases entered into between the customer and us for a rental of a Site are renewable upon the consent of both parties
or, in some instances, as provided by statute. Long-term leases that are non-cancelable by the tenants are in effect at certain
Properties. Rental rate increases at these Properties are primarily a function of increases in the Consumer Price Index, taking
into consideration certain conditions. Additionally, periodic market rate adjustments are made as deemed appropriate. In
addition, certain state statutes allow entry into long-term agreements that effectively modify lease terms related to rent amounts
and increases over the term of the agreements. The following table presents future minimum rents expected to be received
under long-term non-cancelable tenant leases, as well as those leases that are subject to long-term agreements governing rent
payments and increases:

(amounts in thousands) As of December 31, 2021
2022 $ 137,371
2023 139,090
2024 75,422
2025 23,245
2026 21,314
Thereafter 66,190
Total $ 462,632

Lessee

We lease land under non-cancelable operating leases at 14 Properties expiring at various dates between 2022 and 2054.
The majority of the leases have terms requiring fixed payments plus additional rents based on a percentage of gross revenues at
those Properties. We also have other operating leases, primarily office space expiring at various dates through 2032. For the
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, total operating lease payments were $10.4 million, $9.9 million and $9.3
million, respectively.

The following table presents the operating lease payments for the year ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

Years Ended December 31,
(amounts in thousands) 2021 2020 2019

Fixed lease cost:
Ground leases $ 5906 $ 5912 $ 5,727
Office and other leases 3,529 3,243 2,869

Variable lease cost:

Ground leases 871 652 639
Office and other leases 50 111 72
Total lease cost $ 10,356  § 9,918 $ 9,307
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Note 3—Leases (continued)

The following table summarizes our minimum future rental payments, excluding variable costs, which are discounted by
our incremental borrowing rate to calculate the lease liability for our operating leases as of December 31, 2021:

Office and Other

(amounts in thousands) Ground Leases Leases Total

2022@ $ 1,638 § 3,744 $ 5,382
2023 626 3,523 4,149
2024 632 3,097 3,729
2025 637 2,763 3,400
2026 615 2,543 3,158
Thereafter 4,325 13,139 17,464
Total undiscounted rental payments 8,473 28,809 37,282
Less imputed interest (1,901) 4,717) (6,618)
Total lease liabilities $ 6,572 $ 24,092 § 30,664

@ The leases of our four Westwinds Properties expire on August 31, 2022 and do not contain extension options. See Note 16. Commitments and

Contingencies for more details on the Westwinds leases.

ROU assets and lease liabilities from our operating leases, included within Other assets, net and Accounts payable and
other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, were $30.3 million and $30.7 million, respectively, as of December 31,
2021. The weighted average remaining lease term for our operating leases was seven years and the weighted average
incremental borrowing rate was 3.8% at December 31, 2021.

ROU assets and lease liabilities from our operating leases, included within Other assets, net and Accounts payable and
other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, were $15.7 million and $16.4 million, respectively, as of December 31,
2020. The weighted average remaining lease term for our operating leases was eight years and the weighted average
incremental borrowing rate was 4.0% at December 31, 2020.

Note 4—Earnings Per Common Share

Basic and fully diluted earnings per share are based on the weighted average shares outstanding during each year. The
following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share of common stock (Common Share), as
adjusted for the stock split, for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

Years Ended December 31,

(amounts in thousands, except per share data) 2021 2020 2019
Numerators:
Net income available to Common Stockholders—Basic $ 262,462 $ 228,268 $ 279,123
Amounts allocated to dilutive securities 13,522 13,132 16,783
Net income available to Common Stockholders—Fully Diluted $ 275,984 $ 241,400 $ 295,906
Denominator:
Weighted average Common Shares outstanding—Basic 182,917 181,828 180,805
Effect of dilutive securities:
Exchange of Common OP Units for Common Shares 9,739 10,484 10,934
Stock options and restricted stock 227 243 256
Weighted average Common Shares outstanding—Fully Diluted 192,883 192,555 191,995
Earnings per Common Share—Basic: $ 143 $ 126§ 1.54
Earnings per Common Share—Fully Diluted: $ 143 $ 125 $ 1.54
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Note 5—Common Stock and Other Equity Related Transactions

Increase in Authorized Shares

On April 28, 2020, our stockholders approved an amendment to our charter to increase the number of shares of common
stock that we are authorized to issue from 400,000,000 to 600,000,000 shares.

Two-for-One Common Stock and OP Units Split

On October 15, 2019, a two-for-one stock split of our common stock, effected by and in the form of a stock dividend,
was paid to stockholders of record as of October 1, 2019. In connection with our stock split, the OP Units of our Operating
Partnership were also split on a two-for-one basis.

Equity Offering Program

On July 30, 2020, we entered into our current at-the-market (“ATM”) equity offering program with certain sales agents,
pursuant to which we may sell, from time-to-time, shares of our Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share, having an aggregate
offering price of up to $200.0 million. As of December 31, 2021, we have $59.7 million of common stock available for
issuance.

The following table presents the shares that were issued under our ATM equity offering programs, as adjusted for the
stock split, during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

Years Ended December 31,
(amounts in thousands, except share data) 2021 2020 2019
Shares of common stock sold 1,660,290 — 1,010,472
Weighted average price $ 84.48 $ — 3 58.71
Total gross proceeds $ 140,254 $ — 59,319
Commissions paid to sales agents $ 1,816 $ — 3 771

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On May 10, 2016, we amended and restated the 1997 Non-Qualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). Pursuant
to the ESPP, certain of our employees and directors may each annually acquire up to $250,000 of our common stock. The
common stock may be purchased monthly at a price equal to 85% of the lesser of: (a) the closing price for a share of common
stock on the last day of the offering period and (b) the closing price for a share of common stock on the first day of the offering
period. Shares of common stock issued through the ESPP for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were 32,145,
31,385 and 40,934, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, 711,049 shares remained available to be sold under the ESPP,
subject to adjustment by our Board of Directors.

Exchanges

Subject to certain limitations, Common OP Unitholders can request an exchange of any or all of their OP Units for shares
of common stock at any time. Upon receipt of such a request, we may, in lieu of issuing shares of common stock, cause the
Operating Partnership to pay cash.

Common Stock Activity and Distributions

The following table presents the changes in our outstanding common stock (excluding OP Units of 9,305,651,
10,479,194 and 10,491,222 outstanding at December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively), as adjusted for the stock split:
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Note 5—Common Stock and Other Equity Related Transactions (continued)

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Shares outstanding at January 1, 182,230,631 182,089,595 179,842,036
Common stock issued through the ATM Equity Offering Program and its predecessor 1,660,290 — 1,010,472
Common stock issued through exchange of OP Units 1,601,266 12,028 997,750
Common stock issued through exercise of options — — 5,600
Common stock issued through restricted stock grants 162,955 151,104 193,262
Common stock forfeitures — — —
Common stock issued through ESPP and Dividend Reinvestment Plan 32,778 32,099 41,589
Common stock repurchased and retired (47,541) (54,195) (1,114)
Shares outstanding at December 31, 185,640,379 182,230,631 182,089,595

During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, we repurchased shares of common stock representing
common stock surrendered to satisfy income tax withholding obligations primarily due to the vesting of restricted stock grants

at a weighted average price of $61.50, $73.12 and $47.48 per share, respectively.

As of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, ELS' percentage ownership of the Operating Partnership was approximately
95.2%, 94.6% and 94.6%, respectively. The remaining approximately 4.8%, 5.4% and 5.4% as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and

2019, respectively, was owned by the Common OP Unitholders.

The following regular quarterly distributions have been declared and paid to common stockholders and Common OP

Unitholders since January 1, 2019:

Distribution Amount Per Share For the Quarter Ended Stockholder Record Date
$0.3063 March 31, 2019 March 29, 2019
$0.3063 June 30, 2019 June 28,2019
$0.3063 September 30, 2019 September 27, 2019
$0.3063 December 31, 2019 December 27, 2019
$0.3425 March 31, 2020 March 27, 2020
$0.3425 June 30, 2020 June 26, 2020
$0.3425 September 30, 2020 September 25, 2020
$0.3425 December 31, 2020 December 24, 2020
$0.3625 March 31, 2021 March 26, 2021
$0.3625 June 30, 2021 June 25, 2021
$0.3625 September 30, 2021 September 24, 2021
$0.3625 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2021
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Note 6—Acquisitions

2021

Investment in Real Estate

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we acquired four RV communities, including Okeechobee KOA Resort,
located in Okeechobee, Florida, Pine Haven, located in Cape May, New Jersey, Hope Valley located in Turner, Oregon and
Lake Conroe located in Montgomery, Texas and a portfolio of eleven marinas located in Florida, North Carolina, South
Carolina, Kentucky and Ohio, containing 5,961 Sites for a combined purchase price of $398.0 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we also completed the acquisition of our joint venture partner’s 50% interest
in Voyager RV Resort for total consideration of $77.0 million, including mortgage debt assumption of $40.0 million (see Note
7. Investment in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures). As part of the acquisition, we issued 427,723 Operating Partnership units (see
Note 5. Common Stock and Other Equity Related Transactions).

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we acquired a parcel of land located in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina for
$110.8 million. The parcel of land is occupied by a portion of an RV community and contains 813 sites. The RV community,
including the ELS parcel, is managed by a tenant pursuant to an existing ground lease. We also acquired three land parcels
adjacent to three of our properties for a combined purchase price of $37.5 million.

Acquisitions of Business

In December 2021, we completed the acquisition of MHVillage/Datacomp for a purchase price of $43.0 million.
MHVillage is the premier online marketplace dedicated to manufactured home buying and selling. Datacomp provides
independent, market-based valuations for manufactured homes in land lease communities.

All acquisitions were accounted for as asset acquisitions except MHVillage/Datacomp which was accounted for as a
business combination.

2020

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we acquired one MH community, seven RV communities and one marina for
a combined purchase price of $209.2 million, including:

+ Dolce Vita at Superstition Mountain, an MH community located in Apache Junction, Arizona,
e Meridian RV Resort, an RV community located in Apache Junction, Arizona,

e Marina Dunes RV Park, an RV community located in Marina, California,

¢ Marker 1 Marina, a marina located in Dunedin, Florida,

*  Acorn Campground, an RV community located in Green Creek, New Jersey,

«  Topsail Sound, an RV community located in Holly Ridge, North Carolina,

*  Harbor Point, an RV community located in Sneads Ferry, North Carolina and

e Leisure World and Trails End, two RV communities located in Weslaco, Texas.

These properties contain 2,772 Sites. We also completed the acquisition of three development assets, including The
Resort at Tranquility Lake, located in Cape Coral, Florida, Bayport, located in Jamaica, Virginia and a development property
adjacent to our Voyager joint venture, located in Tuscon, Arizona, for a combined purchase price of $23.7 million. We also
acquired additional assets, including nine land parcels, for a combined purchase price of $15.2 million. All acquisitions were
accounted for as asset acquisitions. As a result of these acquisitions, we assumed approximately $6.9 million of mortgage debt.
The remaining purchase price was funded through new debt financing, our unsecured Line of Credit (“LOC”) and available
cash.

2019
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we acquired four RV communities, including White Oak Shores, located in
Stella, North Carolina, Round Top and Drummer Boy, located in Gettysburg, Pennsylvania and Lake of the Woods, located in

Wautoma, Wisconsin for a combined purchase price of $58.3 million. These properties contain 1,614 Sites. As a result of these
acquisitions, we assumed approximately $18.6 million of mortgage debt, excluding mortgage premiums of $0.6 million. The
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Note 6—Acquisitions (continued)

remaining purchase price was funded with available cash. We also completed the acquisition of the remaining interest in our
joint venture investment of eleven marinas in Florida for a purchase price of approximately $49.0 million. As part of the
acquisition, we also funded the repayment of the joint venture's non-transferable debt of approximately $72.0 million. The
transaction was funded with proceeds from the LOC. In addition, the gross carrying value of the joint venture investment of
$35.8 million was included in the total fair value of $162.2 million that was allocated to the real estate assets. We also acquired
additional assets, including three land parcels, for a combined purchase price of $28.1 million. All acquisitions were accounted
for as asset acquisitions.

Fair Value

We engaged third-party valuation firms to assist with our purchase price allocation when necessary. The following table
summarizes the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019,
which we determined using Level-3 inputs for land and buildings and other depreciable property and Level-2 inputs for the
others:

Years Ended December 31,

(amounts in thousands) 2021 2020 2019
Assets acquired
Land $ 343,614 $ 150,909 $ 116,575
Buildings and other depreciable property 265,182 87,749 125,721
Intangible 33,250 — —
In-place leases ® 22,135 6,821 5,519
Goodwill 9,586 — —
Manufactured homes © 610 2,621 1,382
Net investment in real estate $ 674377 $ 248,100 $ 249,197
Other assets 5,376 153 1,646
Total assets acquired $ 679,753 $§ 248253 § 250,843
Liabilities assumed
Mortgage notes payable $ 39,986 $ 6,873 § 19,212
Below-market lease liability ® 8,169 — —
Other liabilities 17,929 2,313 10,431
Total liabilities assumed $ 66,084 $ 9,186 $ 29,643
Net assets acquired $ 613,669 $ 239,067 § 221,200
(a) Manufactured homes and in-place leases are included in buildings and other depreciable property on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
(b) Below-market lease liability is included in accounts payable and other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Note 7—Investment in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

On November 1, 2021, we contributed approximately $49.2 million to acquire an 80% interest in RVC Outdoor
Destinations (“RVC”). RVC owns a portfolio of six operating RV communities located in Arkansas, California, Colorado,
Georgia, Florida and Tennessee. We use the equity method of accounting as we have the ability to exercise significant influence
over operating and financial policies of RVC but do not have the ability to control major decisions of the entity.

The following table summarizes our investment in unconsolidated joint ventures (investment amounts in thousands with
the number of Properties shown parenthetically for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively):

Investment as of December 31, Income/(Loss) for Years Ended December 31,
Number Economic

Investment Location of Sites Interest ® 2021 2020 2021 2020 2019
Meadows Various (2,2) 1,077 50 % $ — 3 — 2,010 $ 1,879 $ 1,400
Lakeshore Florida (3,3) 721 ® 2,638 2,281 568 1,405 263
Voyager Arizona (1,1) — 50% © 141 83 556 1,616 2,951
Loggerhead Florida — —% @ — — — — 3,501
ECHO JV Various — 50 % 18,136 17,362 773 499 640
RVC Various 1,019 80 % 49,397 — (26) — —

2,817 $ 70,312 § 19,726 $ 3,881 § 5399 $ 8,755

(a) The percentages shown approximate our economic interest as of December 31, 2021. Our legal ownership interest may differ.

(b) Includes two joint ventures in which we own a 65% interest in each and the Crosswinds joint venture in which we own a 49% interest.

(c) Voyager joint venture primarily consists of a 50% interest in Voyager RV Resort and 33% interest in the utility plant servicing this Property. On October
14,2021, we completed the acquisition of the remaining interest in the Voyager joint venture (see Note 6. Acquisitions).

(d) On September 10, 2019, we completed the acquisition of the remaining interest in the Loggerhead joint venture (see Note 6. Acquisitions). Loggerhead
sites represent marina slip count.

We recognized $3.9 million, $5.4 million and $8.8 million (net of $1.1 million, $0.7 million and $1.2 million of
depreciation expense, respectively) of equity in income from unconsolidated joint ventures for the years ended December 31,
2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. We received approximately $3.2 million, $5.7 million and $11.5 million in distributions
from joint ventures for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Approximately $2.9 million, $4.8
million and $3.5 million of the distributions made to us exceeded our investment basis in joint ventures, and as such, were
recorded as income from unconsolidated joint ventures for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 respectively.

Note 8—Notes Receivable, Net

Notes receivable generally are presented at their outstanding unpaid principal balances, net of any allowances and
unamortized discounts or premiums. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance. Discounts or premiums are
amortized to income using the interest method.

We provide financing for non-refundable upfront payments required for membership upgrades (“Contracts Receivable”).
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, Contracts Receivable, net of allowance, was $30.9 million and $25.4 million, respectively.
Contracts Receivable, as of December 31, 2021, had an average stated interest rate of 16.2% per annum, a weighted average
term remaining of 4.3 years and require monthly payments of principal and interest.

In certain cases, we purchase loans made by an unaffiliated lender to finance the sales of homes to our customers at our
Properties (referred to as “Chattel Loans”). These loans are secured by the underlying homes sold and require monthly principal
and interest payments. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had $9.0 million and $10.4 million of Chattel Loans,
respectively. As of December 31, 2021, the Chattel Loans receivable had an average stated interest rate of approximately 7.5%
per annum and had a weighted average term remaining of approximately 12 years.
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Note 9—Borrowing Arrangements
Mortgage Notes Payable

Our mortgage notes payable is classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2021 and 2020. The
following table presents the fair value of our mortgage notes payable:

As of December 31, 2021 As of December 31, 2020
(amounts in thousands) Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value
Mortgage notes payable, excluding deferred financing costs $ 2,743,527 $ 2,654,086 $ 2,537,137  $ 2,472,876

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had outstanding mortgage indebtedness on Properties of approximately $2,627.8
million and $2,444.9 million, respectively, net of deferred financing costs. The weighted average interest rate on our
outstanding mortgage indebtedness, including the impact of premium/discount amortization and loan cost amortization on
mortgage indebtedness, as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, was approximately 3.8% and 4.1% per annum,
respectively. The debt bears interest at stated rates ranging from 2.4% to 8.9% per annum and matures on various dates ranging
from 2022 to 2041. The debt encumbered a total of 117 and 116 of our Properties as of December 31, 2021 and December 31,
2020, respectively and the gross carrying value of such Properties was approximately $2,817.5 million and $2,580.9 million, as
of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

2021 Activity

During the quarter ended March 31, 2021, we entered into a $270.0 million secured financing transaction maturing in 10
years and bearing a fixed interest rate of 2.4% per annum. The loan is secured by two RV communities and one MH
community. The net proceeds from the transaction were used to repay $67.0 million of principal on two mortgage loans that
were due to mature in 2022, incurring $1.9 million of prepayment penalties, as well as to repay a portion of the outstanding
balance on our line of credit. These mortgage loans had a weighted average interest rate of 5.1% per annum and were secured
by two RV communities.

2020 Activity

We entered into two secured credit facilities with Fannie Mae, for total gross proceeds of $662.3 million. The average
maturity for these credit facilities is 12 years and has a weighted average interest rate of 2.6%. The facilities were secured by 18
MH and four RV communities.

We also repaid $48.1 million of principal on three mortgage loans that were due to mature in 2020 and $166.8 million of
principal on secured loans that were due to mature in 2021. The secured loans had a weighted average interest rate of
approximately 5.1% per annum and were secured by 21 MH and three RV communities. As part of the repayment of the loans,
we incurred early debt retirement costs of $9.0 million.

2019 Activity

We defeased mortgage debt of $11.2 million in conjunction with the disposition of the five all-age MH communities as
disclosed in Note 6. Acquisitions. These loans had a weighted average interest rate of 5.0% per annum. We also assumed
mortgage debt of $18.6 million, excluding mortgage note premium of $0.6 million, in connection with the acquisitions that
were closed during the year ended December 31, 2019. These loans carry a weighted average interest rate of 5.4% per annum
and mature between 2022 and 2024.

We also repaid $66.8 million of principal on four mortgage loans that were due to mature in 2020, incurring $1.4 million
of prepayment penalties. These mortgage loans had a weighted average interest rate of 6.9% per annum and were secured by
three MH and one RV communities.
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Third Amended and Restated Unsecured Credit Facility

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we entered into a Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Third
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement”) by and among us, MHC Operating Limited Partnership, Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as Administrative Agent (the “Administrative Agent”) and the other lenders named therein, pursuant to
which we have access to a $500.0 million unsecured line of credit (the “LOC”) and a $300.0 million senior unsecured term loan
(the “Term Loan”). We have the option to increase the borrowing capacity by $200.0 million, subject to certain conditions. The
LOC maturity date was extended to April 18, 2025 and this term can be extended two times for additional six month
increments, subject to certain conditions. The LOC bears interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 1.25% to 1.65% and requires an
annual facility fee of 0.20% to 0.35%. The Term Loan matures on April 17, 2026 and has an interest rate of LIBOR plus 1.40%
to 1.95% per annum. For both the LOC and Term Loan, the spread over LIBOR is variable based on leverage throughout the
respective loan terms.

The Term Loan proceeds were used to repay the $300.0 million senior unsecured term loan agreement entered into
during the first quarter of 2021.

Unsecured Debt

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we paid off and borrowed amounts on our LOC, leaving a balance of
$349.0 million outstanding as of December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2021, our LOC has a remaining borrowing capacity
of $151.0 million with the option to increase the borrowing capacity by $200.0 million, subject to certain conditions. The LOC
had a $222.0 million outstanding balance as of December 31, 2020.

Future Maturities of Debt

The following table presents the aggregate scheduled payments of principal on long-term borrowings for each of the next
five years and thereafter as of December 31, 2021:

(amounts in thousands) Amount

2022 $ 133,565
2023 150,901
2024 70,184
2025 496,633
2026 362,451
Thereafter 2,089,011
Net unamortized premiums 341
Unamortized deferred financing costs (28,867)
Total $ 3,274,219

As of December 31, 2021, we were in compliance in all material respects with the covenants in our borrowing
arrangements.

Note 10—Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
Cash Flow Hedges of Interest Rate Risk

We record all derivatives at fair value. Our objective in utilizing interest rate derivatives is to add stability to our interest
expense and to manage our exposure to interest rate movements. To accomplish this objective, we primarily use interest rate
swaps as part of our interest rate risk management strategy. Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the
receipt of variable amounts from a counterparty in our exchange for making fixed-rate payments over the life of the agreements
without exchange of the underlying notional amount.
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The changes in the fair value of the designated derivative that qualify as a cash flow hedge are recorded in Accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and subsequently reclassified into earnings on the
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income in the period that the hedged forecasted transaction affects
earnings.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we entered into a three-year LIBOR Swap Agreement (the “Swap”) allowing
us to trade the variable interest rate associated with our variable rate debt for a fixed interest rate. The 2021 Swap has a notional
amount of $300.0 million of outstanding principal with a fixed interest rate of 0.39% per annum and matures on March 25,
2024. Based on the leverage as of December 31, 2021, our spread over LIBOR was 1.40% resulting in an estimated all-in
interest rate of 1.79% per annum.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, in connection with the repayment of our $200.0 million unsecured term loan
(See Note 9. Borrowing Arrangements for additional information), we terminated the interest rate swap that was scheduled to
mature on November 1, 2020. As a result of the interest rate swap termination, we incurred an early termination fee of
$0.9 million, which was recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

Our derivative financial instrument is classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. The following table presents the
fair value of our derivative financial instrument:

As of December 31,
(amounts in thousands) Balance Sheet Location 2021 2020
Interest Rate Swap Other assets, net $ 3,524 $ —

The table below presents the effect of our derivative financial instrument on the Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income:

Derivatives in Cash Flow Amount of (gain)/loss recognized Location of (gain)/ loss Amount of (gain)/loss reclassified from
Hedeine Relationshi in OCI on derivative reclassified from accumulated OCI into income
ging P for the year ended December 31, accumulated OCI into income for the year ended December 31,
(amounts in thousands) 2021 2020 2019 (amounts in thousands) 2021 2020 2019
Interest Rate Swap $ 2777 $ 1,561 §$ 1,847 Interest Expense $ 746 S 1,941 $ (832)
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Note 11—Deferred Revenue of Membership Upgrade Sales and Deferred Commission Expense

The components of the change in deferred revenue entry of membership subscriptions and deferred commission expense
were as follows:

As of

(amounts in thousands) 2021 2020

Deferred revenue - upfront payments from membership upgrade sales as of December 31, $ 138,878 § 126,814

Membership upgrade sales current period, gross 36,270 21,739

Revenue recognized from membership upgrade sales upfront payments (11,191) (9,675)
Net increase in deferred revenue - upfront payments from membership grade sales 25,079 12,064

Deferred revenue - upfront payments from membership upgrade sales as of December 31, @ $ 163,957 § 138,878

Deferred commission expense as of December 31 $ 42471 $ 41,149

Deferred commission expense 8,657 4,995

Commission expense recognized (3,779) (3,673)
Net increase in deferred commission expense 4,878 1,322

Deferred commission expense as of December 31, $ 47349 $ 42,471

(a) Included in Deferred membership revenue on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Note 12—Transactions with Related Parties

We lease office space from Two North Riverside Plaza Joint Venture Limited Partnership, an entity affiliated
with Samuel Zell, Chairman of our Board of Directors. Payments made in accordance with the lease agreement to this entity
amounted to approximately $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, $1.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2020 and $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Note 13—Equity Incentive Awards

Our 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”) was adopted by the Board of Directors on March 11, 2014 and
approved by our stockholders on May 13, 2014. Pursuant to the 2014 Plan, our officers, directors, employees and consultants
may be awarded restricted stock, options, including non-qualified stock options and incentive stock options and other forms of
equity awards subject to conditions and restrictions determined by the Compensation, Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee of our Board of Directors (the “Compensation Committee™).

Equity awards under the 2014 Plan are made by the Compensation Committee, who determines the individuals eligible
to receive awards, the types of awards and the terms, conditions and restrictions applicable to any award. Grants to directors are
determined by the Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2021, 5,350,503 shares remained available for future grants.

Restricted stock and options under the 2014 Plan have a maximum contractual term of ten years from the date of grant
and have an exercise price not less than the fair value of the stock on the grant date. Individual grants could have different
vesting periods but generally no longer than three and a half years. All restricted stock awards have non-forfeitable rights to
dividend payments even if the underlying stock does not entirely vest.

Grants Issued

During the quarter ended March 31, 2021, 104,734 shares of restricted stock were awarded to certain members of our
management team. Of these shares, 50% are time-based awards, vesting in equal installments over a three-year period on
January 31, 2022, January 27, 2023 and January 26, 2024, respectively and have a grant date fair value of $3.3 million. The
remaining 50% are performance-based awards vesting in equal installments on January 31, 2022, January 27, 2023 and January
26, 2024, respectively, upon meeting performance conditions as established by the Compensation Committee in the year of the
vesting period. They are valued using the closing price at the grant date when all the key terms and conditions are known to all
parties. The 17,454 shares of restricted stock subject to 2021 performance goals have a grant date fair value of $1.1 million.
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During the quarter ended June 30, 2021, we awarded to certain members of our Board of Directors 58,192 shares of
restricted stock at a fair value of approximately $4.0 million and options to purchase 16,185 shares of common stock with an
exercise price of $68.74. These are time-based awards subject to various vesting dates between October 27, 2021 and April 27,
2023.

Stock-based compensation expense, reported in General and administrative expense on the Consolidated Statements of
Income and Comprehensive Income, for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $10.9 million, $11.5 million
and $10.5 million, respectively.

Restricted Stock
A summary of our restricted stock activities and related information, as adjusted for stock split, is as follows:

Weighted Average Grant Date

Number of Shares Fair Value Per Share
Balance at December 31, 2018 299,702 $42.78
Shares granted 193,262 $55.51
Shares vested (74,222) $43.72
Balance at December 31, 2019 418,742 $48.32
Shares granted 151,104 $56.07
Shares vested (221,055) $47.74
Balance at December 31, 2020 348,791 $53.06
Shares granted 162,955 $50.42
Shares vested (196,839) $60.91
Balance at December 31, 2021 314,907 $53.98

Compensation expense to be recognized subsequent to December 31, 2021, for restricted stock granted during or prior to
2021 that have not yet vested was $11.6 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average term of 1.8 years.

Stock Options

The fair value of stock options granted was estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes-Merton model. The
following table includes the assumptions made in the valuation, as adjusted for stock split:

2021 2020
Dividend Yield 2.1% 2.1%
Risk-free interest rate 1.0% 0.3%
Expected Life 5.6 years 5.6 years
Expected Volatility 26.1% 49.2%
Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value Per Share $18.04 $29.58

There were 16,185 stock options granted during 2021. No options were forfeited or expired for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. A summary of our stock option activity and related information, as adjusted for stock split,
is as follows:
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Weighted Average
Shares Subject To Weighted Average Outstanding Contractual Average Intrinsic Value
Options Exercise Price Per Share Life (in years) (in millions)
Balance at December 31, 2018 47,100 $36.95 73 $0.5
Options exercised (5,600) $9.43 $0.2
Balance at December 31, 2019 41,500 $40.65 7.3 $1.2
Options issued 16,090 $66.81
Balance at December 31, 2020 57,590 $47.96 7.2 $0.9
Options issued 16,185 $68.74
Balance at December 31, 2021 73,775 $52.52 6.9 $2.6
Exercisable at December 31, 2021 57,450 $48.08 6.3 $2.3

Note 14—Long-Term Cash Incentive Plan
2019 LTIP

On February 11, 2019, the Compensation Committee approved a Long-Term Cash Incentive Plan Award (the “2019
LTIP”) to provide a long-term cash bonus opportunity to certain members of our management. The 2019 LTIP was approved by
the Compensation Committee pursuant to the authority set forth in the Long-Term Cash Incentive Plan approved by our Board
of Directors on May 15, 2007. The total cumulative payment for all participants (the “Eligible Payment”) is based upon certain
performance conditions being met over a three-year period ending December 31, 2021.

The Compensation Committee has responsibility for administering the 2019 LTIP and may use its reasonable discretion
to adjust the performance criteria or the Eligible Payment to take into account the impact of any major or unforeseen transaction
or event. Our named executive officers are not participants in the 2019 LTIP. The Eligible Payment will be paid, at the
discretion of the Compensation Committee, in cash upon completion of our annual audit for the 2021 fiscal year and upon
satisfaction of the vesting conditions as outlined in the 2019 LTIP. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, we
accrued compensation expense of approximately $1.6 million, $1.5 million and $1.5 million, respectively.

Note 15—Savings Plan

We maintain a qualified retirement plan under which eligible employees may defer compensation for income tax
purposes under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “401K Plan”). The 401K Plan permits eligible employees and
those of any Subsidiary to defer up to 60.0% of their compensation on a pre-tax basis subject to certain limits. In addition, we
match 100.0% of their contribution up to the first 3.0% and then 50.0% of the next 2.0% for a maximum potential match of
4.0%. Both employee's and our matching contributions vest immediately.

Our contribution to the 401K Plan was approximately $2.0 million, $2.9 million and $1.9 million for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The increase from the year ended December 31, 2019 to the year ended
December 31, 2020, primarily relates to the correction of an operational error in prior years approved by the IRS pursuant to its
Voluntary Correction Program.

Note 16—Commitments and Contingencies

We are involved in various legal and regulatory proceedings (“Proceedings”) arising in the ordinary course of business.
The Proceedings include, but are not limited to, legal claims made by employees, vendors and customers, and notices, consent
decrees, information requests, additional permit requirements and other similar enforcement actions by governmental agencies
relating to our utility infrastructure, including water and wastewater treatment plants and other waste treatment facilities and
electrical systems. Additionally, in the ordinary course of business, our operations are subject to audit by various taxing
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authorities. Management believes these Proceedings taken together do not represent a material liability. In addition, to the
extent any such Proceedings or audits relate to newly acquired Properties, we consider any potential indemnification obligations
of sellers in our favor.

The Operating Partnership operates and manages Westwinds, a 720 site mobilehome community, and Nicholson Plaza,
an adjacent shopping center, both located in San Jose, California pursuant to ground leases that expire on August 31, 2022 and
do not contain extension options. The master lessor of these ground leases, The Nicholson Family Partnership (the
“Nicholsons”), has expressed a desire to redevelop Westwinds, and in a written communication, they claimed that we were
obligated to deliver the property free and clear of any and all subtenancies upon the expiration of the ground leases on August
31, 2022. In connection with any redevelopment, the City of San Jose’s conversion ordinance requires, among other things, that
the landowner provide relocation, rental and purchase assistance to the impacted residents.

We believe the Nicholsons’ demand is unlawful, and on December 30, 2019, the Operating Partnership, together with
certain interested parties, filed a complaint in California Superior Court for Santa Clara County, seeking declaratory relief
pursuant to which it requested that the Court determine, among other things, that the Operating Partnership has no obligation to
deliver the property free and clear of the mobilehome residents upon the expiration of the ground leases. The Operating
Partnership and the interested parties filed an amended complaint on January 29, 2020. The Nicholsons filed a demand for
arbitration on January 28, 2020, which they subsequently amended, pursuant to which they request (i) a declaration that the
Operating Partnership, as the “owner and manager” of Westwinds, is “required by the Ground Leases, and State and local law
to deliver the Property free of any encumbrances or third-party claims at the expiration of the lease terms,” (ii) that the
Operating Partnership anticipatorily breached the ground leases by publicly repudiating any such obligation and (iii) that the
Operating Partnership is required to indemnify the Nicholsons with respect to the claims brought by the interested parties in the
Superior Court proceeding.

On February 3, 2020, the Nicholsons filed a motion in California Superior Court to compel arbitration and to stay the
Superior Court litigation, which motion was heard on June 25, 2020. On July 29, 2020, the Superior Court issued a final order
denying the Nicholsons' motion to compel arbitration. The Nicholsons filed a notice of appeal on August 7, 2020. On February
4, 2022, the California Court of Appeal affirmed the Superior Court’s order denying the Nicholsons' motion to compel
arbitration. The arbitration is stayed pursuant to an agreement between MHC and the Nicholsons. We intend to continue to
vigorously defend our interests in this matter. As of December 31, 2021, we have not made an accrual, as we are unable to
predict the outcome of this matter or reasonably estimate any possible loss.
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Note 17—Reportable Segments

Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate financial information is available that is
evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”). The CODM evaluates and assesses performance on a
monthly basis. Segment operating performance is measured on Net Operating Income (“NOI”). NOI is defined as total
operating revenues less total operating expenses. Segments are assessed before interest income and depreciation and
amortization.

We have identified two reportable segments: (i) Property Operations and (ii) Home Sales and Rentals Operations. The
Property Operations segment owns and operates land lease Properties and the Home Sales and Rentals Operations segment
purchases, sells and leases homes at the Properties. The distribution of the Properties throughout the United States reflects our
belief that geographic diversification helps insulate the total portfolio from regional economic influences.

All revenues are from external customers and there is no customer who contributed 10% or more of our total revenues
during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

The following tables summarize our segment financial information for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and

2019:
Year Ended December 31, 2021
Home Sales
Property and Rentals

(amounts in thousands) Operations Operations Consolidated
Operations revenues $ 1,143,606 $ 116,517 $ 1,260,123
Operations expenses (550,574) (105,179) (655,753)

Income from segment operations 593,032 11,338 604,370
Interest income 5,068 1,918 6,986
Depreciation and amortization (177,897) (10,547) (188,444)
Gain on sale of real estate, net (59) — (59)

Income (loss) from operations $ 420,144 § 2,709 § 422,853
Reconciliation to consolidated net income:
Corporate interest income 30
Income from other investments, net 4,555
General and administrative (40,717)
Other expenses (3,100)
Interest and related amortization (108,718)
Equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures 3,881
Early debt retirement (2,784)

Consolidated net income $ 276,000

Total assets $ 5,056,991 $ 250,880 $ 5,307,871

Capital improvements $ 193,895 $ 96,395 §$ 290,290
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(amounts in thousands)
Operations revenues
Operations expenses

Income from segment operations
Interest income
Depreciation and amortization

Income (loss) from operations
Reconciliation to consolidated net income:
Corporate interest income
Income from other investments, net
General and administrative
Other expenses
Interest and related amortization
Equity in income of unconsolidated joint venture
Early debt retirement

Consolidated net income

Total assets

Capital Improvements

(amounts in thousands)
Operations revenues
Operations expenses

Income from segment operations
Interest income
Depreciation and amortization
Gain on sale of real estate, net

Income (loss) from operations
Reconciliation to consolidated net income:
Corporate interest income
Income from other investments, net
General and administrative
Other expenses
Interest and related amortization
Equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures
Early debt retirement

Consolidated net income

Total assets

Capital Improvements

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Home Sales
Property and Rentals
Operations Operations Consolidated
$ 1,017,249 $ 63,019 $ 1,080,268
(488,153) (56,747) (544,900)
529,096 6,272 535,368
4,385 2,754 7,139
(144,235) (10,896) (155,131)
$ 389,246 $ (1,870) $ 387,376
15
4,026
(39,276)
(2,567)
(102,771)
5,399
(10,786)
S 241416
4,160,216 $ 258,753 § 4,418,969
157,467 $ 59,615 $ 217,082
Year Ended December 31, 2019
Home Sales
Property and Rentals
Operations Operations Consolidated
$ 969,560 § 50,961 $ 1,020,521
(461,128) (45,100) (506,228)
508,432 5,861 514,293
3,856 3,324 7,180
(141,472) (10,638) (152,110)
52,507 — 52,507
$ 423323 $ (1,453) $ 421,870
27
9,528
(35,679)
(2,865)
(104,223)
8,755
(1,491)
S 250
3,878,770  $ 272,505 $ 4,151,275
$ 116,349 $ 141,644 $ 257,993
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Note 17—Reportable Segments (continued)

The following table summarizes our financial information for the Property Operations segment for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

Years Ended December 31,

(amounts in thousands) 2021 2020 2019
Revenues:
Rental income $ 1,015,879 $ 907,305 $ 864,701
Annual membership subscriptions 58,251 53,085 51,015
Membership upgrade sales current period, gross 36,270 21,739 19,111
Membership upgrade sales upfront payments, deferred, net (25,079) (12,062) (10,451)
Other income 50,298 46,008 43,063
Ancillary services revenues, net 7,987 1,174 2,121
Total property operations revenues 1,143,606 1,017,249 969,560
Expenses:
Property operating and maintenance 393,256 348,394 327,917
Real estate taxes 72,671 66,120 62,338
Sales and marketing, gross 23,743 17,332 15,583
Membership sales commissions, deferred, net (5,075) (1,660) (1,219)
Property management 65,979 57,967 56,509
Total property operations expenses 550,574 488,153 461,128
Income from property operations segment $ 593,032 $ 529,096 $ 508,432

The following table summarizes our financial information for the Home Sales and Rentals Operations segment for the
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

Years Ended December 31,

(amounts in thousands) 2021 2020 2019
Revenues:
Rental income ) $ 16,696 $ 16,438 $ 14,934
Gross revenue from home sales 98,457 45,695 34,655
Brokered resale revenues, net 1,364 886 1,372
Total revenues 116,517 63,019 50,961
Expenses:
Cost of home sales 94,314 46,229 35,096
Home selling expenses 5,138 4,572 4,401
Rental home operating and maintenance 5,727 5,946 5,603
Total expenses 105,179 56,747 45,100
Income from home sales and rentals operations segment $ 11,338 $ 6,272 § 5,861

(M Rental income within Home Sales and Rentals Operations does not include base rent related to the rental home Sites. Base rent is included within property
operations.

Note 18—Subsequent Events
Equity Incentive Awards

On February 9, 2022, the Compensation Committee approved the 2022 Restricted Stock Award Program for certain
members of our management team pursuant to the authority set forth in the 2014 Plan. As a result, we awarded 79,078 shares of
restricted stock. Of these shares, 50% are time-based awards, vesting in equal installments over a three-year period on January
27,2023, January 26, 2024 and January 31, 2025, respectively, and have a grant date fair value of $3.0 million. The remaining
50% are performance-based awards vesting in equal installments on January 27, 2023, January 26, 2024 and January 31, 2025,
respectively, upon meeting performance conditions to be established by the Compensation Committee in the year of the vesting
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Note 18—Subsequent Events (continued)

period. They are valued using the closing price at the grant date when all the key terms and conditions are known to all parties.
The 13,178 shares of restricted stock subject to 2022 performance goals have a grant date fair value of $1.0 million.

Acquisitions

On February 15, 2022, we completed the acquisition of two RV communities located in Gunnison, Colorado and
Winterhaven, California collectively containing 632 sites for a purchase price of $15.2 million.

Unsecured Financing

On January 21, 2022, we entered into a term loan agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as the
administrative agent, pursuant to which we have entered into a $200.0 million senior unsecured term loan. The maturity date is
January 21, 2027. The term loan bears interest at a rate of Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”), plus approximately
1.30% to 1.80%, depending on leverage levels.

ATM

During January 2022, we sold approximately 0.3 million shares of our common stock under our ATM equity offering
program with a weighted average price of $86.46 per share for net proceeds of $28.0 million. On February 14, 2022, our Board
of Directors approved a new ATM equity offering program with an aggregate offering price of up to $500.0 million.

Dividend

On January 21, 2022, our Board of Directors approved setting the annual dividend rate for 2022 at $1.64 per share of
common stock, an increase of $0.19 over the current $1.45 per share of common stock for 2021. Our Board of Directors, in its
sole discretion, will determine the amount of each quarterly dividend in advance of payment.
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Schedule 11T
Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.
Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

The following table presents the changes in gross investment in real estate:

(amounts in thousands) 2021 2020 2019

Balance, beginning of year $ 6,160,426 $ 5,743,049 $ 5,273,477
Acquisitions 635,984 248,253 250,843
Improvements 290,290 217,082 257,993
Dispositions and other (97,636) (47,958) (39,264)

Balance, end of year 3 6,989,064 § 6,160,426 $ 5,743,049

The following table presents the changes in accumulated depreciation related to investment in real estate:

(amounts in thousands) 2021 2020 2019

Balance, beginning of year $ 1,924,585 $ 1,776,224  $ 1,631,388
Depreciation and amortization 191,345 157,673 153,893
Dispositions and other (12,156) 9,312) (9,557)

Balance, end of year $ 2,103,774 § 1,924,585 $ 1,776,224
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Corporate Data

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Samuel Zell

Chairman of the Board of Directors,
Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.
Chairman, Equity Group Investments

Thomas Heneghan

Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors,
Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.

Chief Executive Officer, Equity International

Andrew Berkenfield
Partner and Chief Executive Officer,
Duncan Channon

Derrick Burks
Retired Partner, Ernst & Young LLP

Philip Calian
Founder and Managing Partner,
Kingsbury Partners, LLC

David Contis
Principal of Agora Advisors, Inc.

Constance Freedman
Founder and Managing Partner,
Moderne Ventures

Marguerite Nader
President and Chief Executive Officer,
Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.

Scott Peppet
President and Senior Managing Director,
Chai Trust

Sheli Rosenberg
Retired Vice Chairman,
Equity Group Investments

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Marguerite Nader
President and Chief Executive Officer

Paul Seavey
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Patrick Waite
Executive Vice President and
Chief Operating Officer

Roger Maynard
Executive Vice President — Investments

David Eldersveld
Executive Vice President, Chief Legal Officer
and Corporate Secretary

CORPORATE OFFICE

Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.
Two North Riverside Plaza
Chicago, lllinois 60606

Phone: 312.279.1400

Fax: 312.279.1710
www.EquityLifestyleProperties.com

TRANSFER AGENT

American Stock Transfer and Trust Company, LLC
Attn: Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.

6201 15th Avenue

Brooklyn, NY 11219

Toll Free: 800.830.9942

Email address: info@astfinancial.com
www.astfinancial.com

CORPORATE COUNSEL

Morrison & Foerster LLP
New York, New York

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young LLP
Chicago, lllinois

FORM 10-K AVAILABILITY

Requests for ELS’ Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2021 filed with the Securities and Ex-
change Commission (“SEC”), which will be provided
without charge, and any other investor inquiries from
individuals and institutional investors, should be
directed to:

Investor Relations Department

Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc.

Two North Riverside Plaza

Chicago, lllinois 60606

Phone: 800.247.5279
investor_relations@equitylifestyle.com

The SEC also maintains a website that contains
reports, proxy information and statements, and
other information regarding registrants that file
electronically with the SEC. The website address is:
http://www.sec.gov. ELS files electronically.

ELS’ common stock is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange (“NYSE”) and is traded under the ticker
symbol “ELS.” ELS submitted a Section 303A.12(a)
CEO Certification to the NYSE last year. ELS has
filed with the SEC the CEO/CFO certifications
required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act as an exhibit to its most recently filed Form 10-K.
For additional information about ELS please contact
ELS’ Investor Relations Department.

STOCKHOLDERS

There were approximately 293 holders of record of
ELS’ common stock as of December 31, 2021.

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN

ELS offers a Dividend Reinvestment Plan (“Plan”).
For an information packet, including the Plan
prospectus and enrollment form, please call the
Plan Administrator, American Stock Transfer and
Trust Company, at 800.830.9942.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

The performance graph below compares total stockholders’ return on ELS’ Common Stock since

December 31, 2016 with the Standard and Poor’s (“S&P

”) 500 Stock Index and the index of equity

REITs prepared by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”). The Common
Stock price performance graph assumes that an investment of $100 was made on December 31, 2016
in ELS’ Common Stock and in each of the two indexes, and further assumes the reinvestment of all
dividends. The FTSE NAREIT All Equity REITs index is a free-float adjusted, market capitalization-weighted
index of U.S. Equity REITs. Constituents of the index include all tax-qualified REITs with more than 50
percent of total assets in qualifying real estate assets other than mortgages secured by real property.
Common Stock price performance presented for the period from December 31, 2016 through
December 31, 2021 is not necessarily indicative of future results.

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return
Assumes Initial Investment of $100
December 2021
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FTSE NAREIT All Equity REITs Index

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Equity LifeStyle Properties, Inc. Return % 26.38 11.73 47.77 -7.89 41.01
Cum $ 100.00  126.38 141.21  208.67 192.20 271.02

S&P 500 Index Return % 21.83 -4.38 31.49 18.40 28.71
Cum $ 100.00  121.83 116.49 15317 18135  233.41

FTSE NAREIT All Equity REITs Index  Return % 8.67 -4.04 28.66 -512 41.30
Cum $ 100.00  108.67 104.27 134.16 127.29 179.86
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